# HEPATITIS C VIRUS INFECTION CAUSES APOPTOSIS AND PYROPTOSIS IN BOTH INFECTED AND BYSTANDER CELLS

By Hassan Kofahi

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate studies in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy / Immunology and Infectious Diseases / Faculty of Medicine

Memorial University

## May 2017

St. John's Newfoundland and Labrador

#### Abstract

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection is a global health challenge affecting 3% of the world's population. Chronically infected individuals are at high risk of developing progressive liver diseases including cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Apoptosis and pyroptosis are two forms of programmed cell death (PCD) that can cause different pathological outcomes. Studying the induction of these forms of PCD by HCV will help in understanding the development of liver complications and might be useful in designing new treatment. We used a tissue culture adapted strain of HCV (JFH1<sub>T</sub>) to study the effect of infection on the induction of these two forms of PCD in infected and bystander cells. We found that HCV infection reduces the proliferation rate and induces PCD in the infected cell population. Further analysis revealed that two forms of PCD are induced: apoptosis and pyroptosis, as we were able to detect the activation of both caspase-3 and caspase-1 and we confirmed their role in the induction of PCD. NLRP3 inflammasome activation was found to play a role in the induction of pyroptosis. By performing a co-culture assay containing Huh-7.5 cells and HCV-non-permissive cell lines, we were able to detect the induction of both bystander apoptosis and bystander pyroptosis in the non-permissive cells. Bystander apoptosis, but not bystander pyroptosis, was found to require cell-cell contact between the infected and the bystander cell. In summary, we demonstrated that HCV infection can cause apoptosis and pyroptosis, and both of these forms of PCD can be induced in uninfected bystander cells.

#### Acknowledgments

Firstly, I would like to acknowledge the professors, staff, post-docs and students in the Immunology and Infectious Diseases program in the Faculty of medicine at MUN for their help, support and being good friends during these six years. I was honored to be part of two excellent teams during my study, the Russell and Grant labs teams. Both of them gave me support and encouragement, and made me feel as part of those two wonderful families. Special thanks to the two special friends; Ali Atoom and Nathan Taylor. The time I spent with them was always full of laughs and will be remembered for the rest of my life.

I would like to thank the members of my supervisory committee Dr. Ken Hirasawa and Dr. Mani Larijani for their insightful comments and suggestions and for providing me with new insights into my research from different perspectives.

My sincere gratitude to my supervisors and mentors Dr. Rod Russell and Dr. Mike Grant. I was very lucky to have them both as my supervisors and I am grateful for all the help and support they provided me and for sharing with me all of their knowledge and experiences in science, research and life. The knowledge and experiences I gained from them will definitely have a great positive impact on my future career. Their guidance regarding my project and even regarding everyday-life issues and their support every time I needed it will be remembered and are deeply appreciated. I could not have imagined having better supervisors and mentors for my PhD. I could not reach this step in my education without the support of my family. I am deeply grateful for my wife Rola for her encouragement, support, and understanding. Thank you for quitting the job you always loved for the sake of staying with me and supporting me. This sacrifice and your love was the reason why I was able to go through all the difficulties of this long journey successfully. I am also deeply grateful to my mother, her sacrifices and love made me the person I am today. Calling her every Saturday morning gave me strength to work hard in the next week. I would also like to thank my sisters and brothers for all the support and love.

Finally, I would like to dedicate this work to the person who had the greatest impact on my life but he passed away while I was doing this PhD. This person is my father Mohammed Kofahi who gave me everything I needed to succeed in my education starting from my early childhood and until I completed almost half of my PhD. And even after he left this world, his memory was one of the main things that pushed me to work harder towards achieving my goals. He always wanted me to become a successful university professor and finishing this PhD gave me the training I need to achieve this. I love you my dad and I will always do my best to make you proud of me.

To My Father

Mohammed Kofahi

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract ii
Acknowledgmentsiii
Table of Contentsv
List of figuresix
List of abbreviationsx
Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1 Overview1
1.2 Hepatitis C Virus
1.2.1 Classification and diversity
1.2.2 Virus Structure, Genome and proteins5
1.2.3 Life cycle
1.3 Studying hepatitis C virus14
1.3.1 Cell culture models
1.3.2 Animal Models19
1.4 HCV immunology22
1.4.1 Innate immune responses against HCV22
1.4.2 Adaptive immune responses against HCV27

	1.5 Programmed cell death	28
	1.5.1 Apoptosis.	29
	1.5.2 Pyroptosis	37
	1.5.3 Other forms of cell death.	42
	1.6 HCV and apoptosis	44
	1.7 HCV pathogenesis and the possible role of programmed cell death	54
	1.8 Project design and research questions.	58
	1.9 Objectives	60
С	hapter 2: Materials and methods	61
	2.1 Cell culture.	61
	2.2 Plasmid preparation and viral RNA transfection.	62
	2.3 Generation of the virus stock, Infection and titer determination	62
	2.4 Immunostaining for indirect immunofluorescence.	63
	2.5 MTT (3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide) assay	64
	2.6 CFSE (Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester) assay.	65
	2.7 Propidium iodide (PI) staining and cell cycle analysis.	65
	2.8 DNA laddering assay.	66
	2.9 SDS-PAGE and western blotting.	67
	2.10 Immunostaining for flow cytometry.	68

2.11 Caspase and NLRP3 inhibitors
2.12 Measurement of active caspase-1
2.13 Double staining with PI and anti-HCV core
2.14 Co-culture assay
2.15 Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) assay71
2.16 Statistical analysis71
Chapter 3: Results - HCV infection induces apoptosis73
3.1 HCV infection reduced the viability of the Huh-7.5 cells73
3.2 HCV infection caused a reduction in the proliferation rate of the infected cells76
3.3 HCV infection induced caspase-dependent, DNA fragmentation-inducing
programmed cell death79
3.4 HCV infection induced apoptosis
3.5 HCV infection induced the activation of caspase-8, the initiator of the extrinsic
pathway90
Chapter 4: Results - HCV infection induces a contact dependent bystander apoptosis93
4.1 HCV infection induced programmed cell death in both core-positive and core-
negative cell populations93
4.2 HCV infection induced bystander apoptosis96
4.3 The induction of bystander apoptosis required cell-cell contact between the infected
and the bystander cells

Chapter 5: Results - HCV infection induces pyroptosis and bystander pyroptosis105
5.1 HCV infection caused cell lysis
5.2 HCV infection induced pyroptosis107
5.3 HCV infection induced pyroptosis through the activation of NLRP3
inflammasomes110
5.4 HCV infection induced pyroptosis in neighbouring uninfected cells (bystander
pyroptosis)112
5.5 The induction of bystander pyroptosis did not require the cell-cell contact between
the infected and the bystander cells115
Chapter 6: Discussion118
Future directions:
References140

# List of figures

Figure 1.1 HCV life cycle
Figure 1.2 The intrinsic and the extrinsic apoptotic pathways
Figure 1.3 The proposed mechanisms for the role of apoptosis and pyroptosis in the
development of progressive liver diseases
Figure 2.1 Schematic representation of the co-culture method for detecting bystander cell
death72
Figure 3.1 HCV infection reduced the total viability of the infected cell population75
Figure 3.2 HCV infection caused a reduction in the proliferation rate78
Figure 3.3 HCV infection induced a caspase-dependent, DNA fragmenting PCD83
Figure 3.4 HCV infection induced apoptosis
Figure 3.5 HCV infection induced the activation of caspase-8
Figure 4.1 HCV infection induced DNA fragmenting PCD in neighbouring uninfected
cells
Figure 4.2 HCV infection induced bystander apoptosis
Figure 4.3 Bystander apoptosis required cell-cell contact to be induced104
Figure 5.1 HCV infection increased the LDH activity in the supernatant106
Figure 5.2 HCV infection induced pyroptosis
Figure 5.3 HCV induced pyroptosis through NLRP3 inflammasome activation
Figure 5.4 HCV infection induced bystander pyroptosis114

Figure 5.5 Cell-cell contact was not required for HCV-induced bystander pyroptosis117
Figure 6.1 Proposed model for the induction of multiple forms of PCD in response to
HCV infection

## List of abbreviations

AP-1	Activator protein-1
APAF-1	Apoptotic protease activating factor-1
ASC	Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD
BAD	Bcl-2-associated death promoter
BAK	Bcl-2 homologous antagonist killer
BAX	Bcl-2-associated protein X
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
Bcl-2X <sub>L</sub>	Bcl-2 like protein X
BID	BH3 interacting-domain death agonist
BIM	bcl-2 interacting mediator of cell death

BIN-1	Bridging integrator 1
bp	base pair
CAD	Caspase-activated DNase
CARD	Caspase activation and recruitment domain
Caspase	Cysteinyl aspartate specific protease
c-FLIP	Cellular FLICE inhibitory protein
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester
СНОР	CCAAT-enhancer-binding protein
	homologous protein
cLD	Cytosolic lipid droplet
CLDN-1	Claudin-1
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
Сур А	Cyclophilin A
Cyt C	Cytochrome C
DAMP	Danger associated molecular pattern
DAA	Direct acting antiviral
DD	Death domain

DED	Death effector domain
DENV	Dengue Virus
DFF	DNA fragmentation factor
DMV	Double membranous vesicle
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DR	Death receptor
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EMT	Epithelial-mesenchymal transition
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
FADD	Fas-Associated protein with death domain
FLICE	Caspase-8/FADD-like IL-1β-converting
	enzyme
FFU	Focus forming unit
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
НСС	Hepatocellular Carcinoma
HCV	Hepatitis C Virus
HCVcc	HCV cell culture

HCVpp	HCV pseudo particles
HIN200	Hematopoietic interferon-inducible nuclear
	antigens with 200 amino acid repeats
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
HMGB1	High-mobility group box 1
HPgV	Human Pigivirus
HSC	Hepatic stellate cells
hTAF	human TBP-associated factor
HtrA2	High-temperature requirement A2
ICAD	Inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
IRES	Internal ribosomal entry site
ISG	IFN-stimulated gene
JAK	Janus kinase
KC	Kupffer cell
kDa	Kilodalton

LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
LDLR	Low-density lipoprotein receptor
LPS	Lipopolysaccharides
LRR	Leucine rich repeat
LVP	Lipo-viro-particle
MAM	Mitochondria-associated membrane
MAVS	Mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein
MCL-1	Myeloid cell leukemia-1
MEK-1	Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/ extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) kinase 1
MLV	Murine leukemia virus
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
MOMP	Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization
MTT	3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide

NANB	Non-A, Non-B hepatitis
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NK	Natural killer
NLR	Nod-like receptor
NPHV	Non-primate hepacivirus
OCLN	Occludin
ORF	Open reading frame
PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular pattern
PARP	Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCD	Programmed cell death
РНН	Primary human hepatocytes
PI	Propidiuim iodide
p.i.	Post infection
PKR	Protein kinase R
PRR	Pathogen recognition receptors

PS	Phosphatidyl serine
PUMA	P53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis
PYD	Pyrin domain
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible gene I
RIPK	Receptor interacting protein kinases
RLR	RIG-I-like receptor
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT/PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain
	reaction
SD	Standard deviation
SCID	Severe combined immunodeficiency
SR-BI	Scavenger receptor class B type I
ssRNA	Single stranded RNA
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of
	transcription
SVR	Sustained virological response

TLR	Toll-like receptor
TMD	Trasmembrane domain
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TRADD	Tumor necrosis factor receptor type 1-
	associated death domain
TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing
	IFN-β
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand
TUDCA	Tauroursodeoxycholic acid
uPA	Urokinase plasminogen activator
UPR	Unfolded protein response
UTR	Untranslated regions
VLDL	Very low density lipoprotein
WNV	West Nile Virus

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

## 1.1 Overview.

Hepatitis C is a blood-borne disease that is estimated to have originated and started to spread globally more than a 100 years ago [1]. The first use of the term "hepatitis C" goes back to 1974 when it was suggested to describe a post-transfusion hepatitis that could not be classified as either hepatitis B or hepatitis A, both of which were well-known at the time [2]. In later studies, the form of hepatitis that was non-reactive for hepatitis B and hepatitis A was referred to as "Non-A, Non-B hepatitis" (NANB) [3]. Subsequent studies confirmed that the agent responsible for the NANB hepatitis could be transmitted to chimpanzees by transfusion [4,5]. Despite these early findings, the actual virus that causes NANB hepatitis remained a mystery for more than a decade until it was discovered in 1989 and a specific assay for detecting viral antibodies was developed [6,7]. The newly discovered virus was referred to as Hepatitis C virus (HCV).

Hepatitis C is one of the major health challenges in the modern world. It is estimated that 185 million are infected worldwide, which constitutes about 3% of the world's population [8]. High prevalence of HCV infection is found in central and East Asia and North Africa/Middle East with more than 3.5% of that population infected. Lower prevalence is found in the industrialized world including North America [8]. The highest prevalence of HCV infection in the world is found in Egypt with 14.7% of population testing positive for HCV antibodies [9]. Here in Canada, it is estimated that 252,000 are infected with HCV as of 2013 (approximately 1% of the population) with a significant

variation among provinces from as low as 0.13% in Newfoundland and Labrador to as high as 3.9% in the Yukon [10,11]. More than half of these cases were found among former or current drug users, 20% of the cases are infected immigrants and 11% got the infection by contaminated blood products [12].

Acute HCV infection progresses to chronicity in 75%-85% of cases, and the remaining cases spontaneously clear the infection [13]. It is estimated that 5-20% of chronically infected individuals develop cirrhosis in a period of 20-30 years and 1-5% of the chronically infected develop hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) [14].

Historically, HCV infection was treated with a combination of pegylated interferon- $\alpha$  (IFN- $\alpha$ ) and ribavarin. However, the rates of the sustained virological response (SVR) associated with this treatment were low (50% or less) [15]. Furthermore, treatment with IFN results in many side effects that range from relatively mild, such as fever and fatigue, to more severe or even life threatening complications (reviewed in [16]). Fortunately, enormous progress was achieved in the past few years in developing new HCV treatments. Nowadays, a group of direct-acting antiviral agents (DAA) are available. These drugs show very high efficacy (SVR rate of 90-99%) and high tolerability. The currently available drugs are divided into three major categories: protease inhibitors (e.g. Simeprevir), NS5A inhibitors (e.g. Daclatasvir), and polymerase inhibitors (e.g. Sofosbuvir). The use of different regimens including single or combinations of these DAAs is replacing IFN-based treatments.

Despite these advancements in the field, many challenges remain to be overcome in order to effectively cure or control HCV infection and its complications globally. These challenges include but are not limited to, the high cost of the treatment (approximately \$60,000-\$100,000 in North America), the emergence of DAA resistant mutations, and the fact that curing HCV infection reduces but does not eliminate the risk of development of HCC in these patients [17,18]. As such, research on the many aspects of HCV biology are still required, particularly in terms of pathogenesis and virus-host interactions.

#### **1.2 Hepatitis C Virus.**

#### 1.2.1 Classification and diversity.

HCV is a member of the *hepacivirus* genus that is part of the *Flaviviridae* family. The *Flaviridae* family contains four genera: *pestivirus*, *flavivirus*, *pegivirus*, and *Hepacivirus*. Pestiviruses are particularly important for the livestock agricultural industry, because they can cause serious diseases in cattle and pigs [19]. In contrast, flaviviruses are known to cause many human diseases. Some of the well-known human pathogens within this group are West Nile Virus (WNV), Dengue Virus (DENV) and yellow fever virus. Most of the flaviviruses transmit between arthropods and vertebrates. Human pathogens within this family transmit from either a mosquito (e.g. WNV) or a tick (e.g. tick-borne encephalitis virus) to humans [19]. The genus *pegivirus* was recently described [20,21]. This new genus contains Human Pegivirus (HPgV) (formerly known as hepatitis G virus/GB virus-C). This is the most closely related human virus to HCV and it causes a persistent infection in human lymphocytes and NK cells [22-24]. Unlike HCV, HPgV seems to cause relatively mild pathogenicity with clinically important effect only observed in

patients who are co-infected with HIV. In these individuals HPgV infection affects the HIV prognosis significantly [25].

Until recently, HCV was the only known member of the genus *hepacivirus*. However, development of deep sequencing technologies enabled the identification of a large number of hepaciviruses capable of infecting various species of animals [26]. The first non-primate hepacivirus (NPHV) was discovered in dogs [27]. However, in subsequent studies this virus was found to infect mainly horses [28]. More hepaciviruses were reported in later studies and the host range of hepaciviruses has expanded to include: dogs, horses, bats, cows, rodents, humans and non-human primates [29]. Cross-species transmission of hepaciviruses between horses and dogs has been reported before, which has raised the question as to whether HCV has a zoonotic origin [29].

HCV strains are classified into seven genotypes (1-7) and 67 subtypes based on phylogenetic analysis of genome sequences from available HCV sequences [30,31]. Strains that belong to the same genotype have 65-70% sequence identity at the nucleotide level, whereas subtypes have at least 85% sequence identity at the nucleotide level [30]. Genotype 1 is the most common worldwide (46% of all infections) and it is the most prevalent genotype in many regions of the world including North America. The second most prevalent genotype is genotype 3 (22%) and it dominates in South Asia and some parts of Scandinavia. Followed by Genotype 2 (13%), which dominates in West Africa, and Genotype 4 (13%), which dominates in Central and North Africa, including Egypt. Genotypes 5 and 6 have relatively low prevalence (2% and 1%, respectively). Genotype 5 dominates in South Africa and most of the cases of Genotype 6 are found in South East Asia [32,33]. Only one case of genotype 7 has been reported globally. This case was identified here in Canada where a virus was isolated from an immigrant who came from Central Africa [34,35].

The final level of diversity for HCV occurs within the body of a single infected individual during the course of chronic infection and is termed the quasispecies. The quasispecies is a population of related but genetically distinct variants of virus within the host [36,37]. These variants are generated during genome replication because the viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase lacks proofreading ability. These variants are continuously selected on the bases of their fitness and by the pressure exerted on them by the immune system [38]. These variants are clustered around a few sequences of highest fitness that are known as master sequences [39,40].

#### 1.2.2 Virus Structure, Genome and proteins.

HCV virions are spherical and 30-65nm in diameter [41-44]. The density of circulating HCV particles varies widely and ranges between 1.06 and 1.25g/ml. The density was found to inversely correlate with the infectivity, with higher infectivity observed for lower density particles [45]. This can be attributed to the association of HCV particles with the lipoproteins in the plasma of infected individual. The virion is composed of a capsid, which is an icosahedral shell made of multiple copies of the same protein, which coat and protect the genome [46]. The capsid and the genome together comprise what is termed the nucleocapsid. HCV is an enveloped virus, i.e. it covers its nucleocapsid with a host cell-derived lipid bilayer, in which the viral envelope glycoproteins are anchored and exposed on the surface.

HCV is a positive-sense single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) virus. The genome of HCV is 9.6kb in length and contains a 3000 amino acid open reading frame (ORF) flanked by 5' and 3' untranslated regions (UTRs). The 5' UTR folds and forms a secondary structure that serves as an internal ribosomal entry site (IRES) and allows the binding of ribosomes and the initiation of translation of the ORF in the absence of a 5' cap [47]. The 3' UTR does not have a poly-A tail. Instead, it is composed of a variable region, a poly (U/UC) tract and a conserved region (also termed 3'X region) that contains 3 stem-loop structure [48-50]. The conserved region and the poly (U/UC) tract of the 3' UTR was found to play a crucial role in RNA replication [51-53]. Poly-A tails are known to stimulate the translation of the capped messenger RNAs [54]. It is not clear whether the 3' UTR plays a similar role in IRES-dependent translation as similar and apposing roles were reported by different groups [55-57]. Finally, the poly (U/UC) tract acts as a pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP) that is recognized by the innate immunity [58,59].

During and after translation, the polyprotein is cleaved by viral and host proteases into 10 proteins: three structural proteins (core, E1, and E2) and seven non-structural proteins (p7, NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A and NS5B). The structural proteins and p7 are cleaved by host signal peptidases [60]. Following the cleavage of the signal peptides between the core and E1 proteins, the C-terminus of core is further processed by signal peptide peptidase to cleave the hydrophobic region and release the core protein from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) allowing it to traffic to cytosolic lipid droplets (cLDs) [61]. The non-structural proteins are cleaved by the activity of two viral proteases. The NS2/NS3 junction is cleaved by the cysteine protease activity of NS2, which requires the N-terminus of NS3 as a cofactor [62]. The remaining cleavages downstream of NS3 (NS3-4A, NS4A-4B, NS4B-5A and NS5A-5B junctions) are all carried out by NS3 and its cofactor NS4A, which has chemotrypsin-like serine protease activity [63].

Core protein is a highly basic protein and the main component of the nucleocapsid. Core is a dimeric protein that is composed of two domains. The N-terminal domain (D1) contains a large number of positively charged amino acids and is responsible for RNA binding [64]. The C-terminal domain is formed by two amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helices and it is important for the association of the core protein to cLDs, an important step in the assembly of the nucleocapsid [65,66]. Besides its main function in nucleocapsid formation, the core protein was reported to have a variety of other roles in the HCV life cycle. In HCV core gene transgenic mouse models, core protein was reported to induce oxidative stress and liver steatosis, which can contribute to the development of HCC [67,68]. Core was also reported to cause insulin resistance that might lead to the development of type 2 diabetes [69,70]. Finally, core protein has been reported to have both pro-apoptotic and/or anti-apoptotic effects. The details of these contradicting results will be discussed in more detail in section 1.6.

E1 and E2 are transmembrane glycoproteins that form the viral envelope. Both of these glycoproteins are composed of two domains: an N-terminal ectodomain and a conserved C-terminal transmembrane domain (TMD) that anchors these glycoproteins into the ER membrane [71,72]. During the post-translational modification of E1 and E2, they are heavily glycosylated. This glycosylation is important for many functions, i.e, it helps in properly folding the protein, and facilitates escape from the adaptive immune

responses [73]. E1 and E2 form a stable noncovalent heterodimeric complex that lies on the surface of the virion [74]. The main function of the E1 and E2 glycoproteins is to form a complex that is able to interact with the cellular receptors on the surface of target cells and mediate fusion with the cell membrane, which results in the entry of the virion into its target cell [75-77]. The cellular receptors for HCV will be discussed in section 1.2.3. E2 has been better characterized than E1, and it was found to be responsible for cell receptor binding, and it is the target of neutralizing antibodies [78]. The exact functions of E1 are poorly understood; however, E1 has been reported to be important for the fusion of viral and cellular membranes [79,80].

The p7 protein is a small protein that is composed of two trans-membrane domains connected by a short conserved loop [81,82]. p7 is not necessary for RNA replication but is essential for the infectivity of HCV and the production of infectious virus particles [83,84]. p7 homo-oligomerizes in artificial membranes to form hexa- or hepata-oligomers that can act as ion channels, which led to the classification of p7 as a member of the viroporin family of proteins [85-87]. In a recent study conducted in the Russell lab, p7 was shown to protect E2 from premature degradation during virus production [88].

NS2 is a 24kDa protein that is composed of two domains: the N-terminal membranebinding domain, which contains three transmembrane segments, and a C-terminal globular cytosolic domain, which dimerizes to form the active site of the cysteine protease [89,90]. Besides its protease activity, NS2 is believed to play an important role in orchestrating the assembly of the new virions. This is achieved by interacting with and bringing together E1-E2 and p7, as well as NS3, which is part of the replicase complex [91-94]. It was also shown that an interaction between NS2 and NS3-4A is essential for recruiting the core protein from cLDs to the site of assembly [95].

The NS3 protein contains two functional domains, a protease and a helicase domain [96]. It forms a heterodimer with NS4A that catalyzes the cleavage of most of the nonstructural proteins, as described above. The protease activity of NS3-4A is also important for suppressing the innate immune response to HCV. NS3-4A blocks the retinoic acidinducible gene I (RIG-I) signaling pathway by cleaving the Mitochondrial antiviralsignaling protein (MAVS), which abolishes IFN- $\beta$  expression [97-99]. TIR-domaincontaining adapter-inducing IFN- $\beta$  (TRIF) is a second adaptor protein that is also a victim of cleavage by NS3-4A resulting in blocking toll-like receptor (TLR)-3 signaling [100]. The role of NS3-4A in evading innate immune responses will be discussed further in section 1.4.1. The helicase domain of NS3 is important for hydrolyzing ATP and the resultant energy is used to unwind the viral RNA [101-103].

NS4B is a membrane integral protein that is composed of two N-terminal amphipathic helices, a highly hydrophobic central core domain that contains four putative transmembrane segments, and a highly conserved C-terminal domain [104,105]. Expression of NS4B and the oligomerization of the NS4B molecules were found to cause rearrangement of ER membranes [106,107]. These results led to the belief that NS4B is solely responsible for the formation of the membranous web, the membranous structure in which replication takes place. However, more recent studies have shown that the expression of another non-structural protein (NS5A) is necessary for the formation of the double membrane vesicles (DMV), which are a constituent of the membranous web, while only single membrane vesicles result from the expression of NS4B alone [108]. As such, it is now widely accepted that the formation of the membranous web requires the expression of multiple non-structural proteins.

NS5A is a proline-rich phosphoprotein that is essential for RNA replication and virus assembly [109,110]. It was found to be capable of binding the 3' end of the positive and negative strands of HCV RNA [111,112]. NS5A is comprised of an amphipathic helix at its N-terminus that is responsible for its interaction with the membranes, as well as three functional domains (DI, DII, and DIII) [113,114]. The structure of the first domain (DI) is well characterized, and it contains a motif that is capable of coordinating a zinc atom, which is essential for NS5A function within the replicase complex [114]. The structure of the other two domains is still not fully elucidated [115]. Nevertheless, there is strong evidence that the assembly function of NS5A is carried out mainly by DIII [116-118]. As discussed above, NS5A is the main viral protein that is able to induce the formation of DMVs [108]. NS5A was reported to achieve this by interacting with Phosphatidylinositol-4-kinase IIIa (PI4KIIIa), which activates a pathway that ultimately results in cholesterol enrichment of the membranous web [119]. Furthermore, NS5A was found to interact with cyclophilin A (Cyp A) and this interaction is believed to be essential for HCV replication [120]. Inhibiting the interaction between NS5A and Cyp A pharmacologically was found to block *de novo* formation of DMVs [121].

NS5B is an RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) that catalyses the replication of the HCV RNA. This replication takes place by first using the HCV genome to synthesize a complementary negative strand, which is subsequently used as a template for the synthesis of additional positive strands. NS5B lacks proofreading ability and therefore is associated with a very high mutation rate of approximately 10<sup>-4</sup> substitutions per site [122]. This lack of proofreading activity, in combination with the high rate of virus production, generates the viral quasispecies (discussed above), which contributes to virus persistence and helps establish chronic infection despite the presence of strong adaptive immune responses [123]. The NS5B protein is anchored through its C-terminus to ER-derived membranes [124]. The crystal structure of the NS5B catalytic domain has been reported by several groups and was found to contain several features that are shared by other known RdRps including a GDD motif in the active site, and fingers, palm and thumb sub-domains [125-127].

#### 1.2.3 Life cycle.

The target cells for HCV are the hepatocytes. Nevertheless, the ability of the virus to cause extrahepatic infections in immune cells and central nervous system cells has been reported by some groups [128-132]. The target cells are determined largely by E2 and E1, and their ability to interact with receptors on the surface of susceptible cells. The low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor was believed to be a good candidate for the initial attachment of the virus to its target cells due to the fact that HCV circulates in the blood of infected patients as a lipo-viro-particle (LVP), in which the virus is associated with the host LDL or very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) [133,134]. However, it was reported later that this receptor is not essential for infectious particle entry and it leads, at least in some cases, to non-productive entry that results in the degradation of the virus particle [135].

To date, four receptors for HCV have been identified. The most important among them is CD81, which is a member of the tetraspanin family, a family of cell surface proteins with four transmembrane domains and two extracellular loops [136]. CD81 is expressed on the surface of hepatocytes, as well as many other cell types, and can bind to E2 [137]. Scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) is an additional receptor for HCV that can also bind E2 and is necessary for HCV entry [138]. Later, two more receptors were found to be necessary for HCV entry, these are the tight junction components claudin-1 (CLDN-1) and occludin (OCLN) [139,140]. Interestingly, it was recently reported that the VLDL receptor may also serve as an HCV receptor, as it can mediate entry of HCV independent from the canonical CD81 pathway [141].

HCV entry starts with the interaction of the circulating lipoprotein-associated virus particles with surface receptors glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), SR-BI, CD81 and then, upon relocalization to tight junctions, with CLDN-1 (Fig. 1.1) [142]. The exact role of OCLN is not known but it also believed to work at late steps of entry [143]. Next, HCV is internalized by clatherin-dependent endocytosis, which internalizes the virus particle into an endosome [144]. The low pH inside the endosome stimulates the next step of the virus life cycle, which is fusion between the viral and endosomal membranes (Fig. 1.1) [77,145,146]. The exact mechanism for the fusion process is not fully known. However, according to the published data describing the structure of E2, it is unlikely that E2 is involved in the fusion process because it lacks any structural hallmarks of fusion proteins [137,147]. This fact, and the available computational analysis model for E1, has led to the suggestion that E1 alone or in combination with E2 is responsible for the fusion process

[79,80,148]. However, the available structural data for E1 contradicts this suggestion, but it is too limited to exclude the role of E1 in this process [149]. Membrane fusion results in the release of the nucleocapsid into the cytosol followed by uncoating, which releases the viral genome into the cytosol. Uncoating is the least understood step in HCV life cycle.

Upon uncoating, the viral RNA is directly translated into the viral polyprotein that in turn is processed to generate the ten mature viral proteins (Fig. 1.1). Then, the nonstructural proteins (mainly NS4B and NS5A) alter the ER membranes to form the membranous web. Inside the membranous web, membrane-associated replication complexes form and the process of RNA replication takes place.

Virus assembly is a very complex and poorly understood process. This process requires three different components: the core protein, envelope glycoproteins (E1 and E2) and the viral RNA. cLDs play a crucial role in assembly as newly synthesised core proteins are recruited to their surface [150,151]. It is assumed that sequesteration of core protein on the surface of cLDs prevents core from competing with the replicase proteins for the viral RNA [152]. NS5A is also recruited to the cLD and interacts with the core protein by the function of its DIII [116]. This interaction is crucial for virus particle production [153]. In infected cells, a large number of cLD are found in a close proximity to the membranes of the membranous web, and this is believed to create a suitable microenvironment for assembly [151].

Besides core protein and NS5A, many other viral proteins have been reported to play a role in the assembly process. As mentioned previously, NS2 plays a central role in the process. The NS3 helicase domain and the linker region are also important for the assembly, but it is not known whether the enzymatic activity of the helicase domain is required [154,155]. NS4B and NS5B have been also reported to contribute in the virus assembly [156,157]. According to the available complex data, it is hypothesized that the viral RNA is shuttled from the replicase site to the assembly space between the cLD and the ER membrane by NS3 and NS5A. Core proteins travel from the cLD membrane to the ER membrane, which contains E1 and E2 proteins. Then, core protein, in combination with the RNA, build the nucleocapsid while budding into the ER lumen [152,158]. Accumulating evidence suggests that the assembly process is tightly linked to the VLDL pathway [159-161]. Newly formed virions are then transported via the secretory pathway to the Golgi apparatus, were E1 and E2 undergo further modifications, before the virus particle is released through budding from the cell membrane (Fig. 1.1) [162,163].

## 1.3 Studying hepatitis C virus.

## 1.3.1 Cell culture models.

After its discovery in 1989, the ability to study HCV was hampered by the lack of effective cell culture systems in which the virus could undergo its entire life cycle. Early studies reported success in infection of immortalized cell lines and primary hepatocytes from



Figure 1.1 HCV life cycle.

1. HCV entry is mediated by the interaction of the LVP with a group of receptors including GAGs, CD81, SR-BI, CLDN-1 and OCLN. 2. HCV particles are then internalized by clatherin-dependent endocytosis followed by the the fusion between the viral and endosomal membranes and the uncoating of the viral RNA. 3. HCV RNA is then translated directly into the polyprotein, which is cleaved to generate the ten viral proteins. 4. The non-structural proteins modify ER membranes to form the membranous web where viral RNA replication and the assembly of the new virions occurs. 5, 6. Progeny virions are transported via the secretory pathway to the Golgi apparatus and are released at the cell membrane.

human and chimpanzee by direct inoculation of serum from HCV infected patients [164-170]. However, the replication reported by these studies was poor, variable, and hard to reproduce. Furthermore, viral proteins could not be detected using available assays, and viral RNA was only detectable by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT/PCR) [171,172]. This prompted the researcher community to design alternative systems to study certain parts of the HCV life cycle or even simply one or more viral proteins independently.

The first breakthrough in this field was the development of the subgenomic replicon system by Lohmann *et al.* in 1999 [83]. This replicon system was generated by transfecting the human hepatoma cell line Huh-7, with a bicistronic RNA construct composed of an HCV IRES followed by a selection gene (neomycin phosphotransferase), followed by a second cistrone containing the genomic region comprising the HCV non-structural proteins NS3-NS5B as well as the viral 3' UTR driven by an Encephalomyocarditis virus IRES. Drug selection for cells carrying the viral replicon RNA generated cell lines that were able to persistently replicate the replicon RNA. The replication efficiency of the first subgenomic HCV replicon was low and limited to a single strain of HCV, the genotype 1b Con-1 strain isolate. However, more efficient replicons and several other genotypes were later developed (reviewed in [173,174]). The main advantage provided by this system is the availability of different clones that it only allows the study of non-structural protein processing and RNA replication.

However, subgenomic replicons provided a significant contribution to the study of HCV and played an important role in the discovery of direct-acting antivirals.

Studying the entry step continued to be a challenge because replicon systems were not able to recapitulate it. The first major breakthrough in studying this step was the development of HCV pseudoparticles (HCVpp) in 2003 [175,176]. HCVpp are generated by co-transfecting 293T cells with two or three plasmid combinations that include the HCV E1 and E2 genes, retroviral gag-pol genes from human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) or murine leukemia virus (MLV), and a reporter gene (Green fluorescent protein gene (GFP) or Luciferase gene). The transfected cells produce HCVpp, which are composed of HCV envelope glycoproteins and an HIV or MLV nucleocapsid and contains a reporter gene. These particles can be used to infect permissive cells, such as human hepatoma cells (i.e. the Huh-7 cell line and derivatives thereof). Since the entry step is mediated by HCV envelope proteins, and the infected cells can be easily identified by the expression of the reporter gene, this system provides a useful tool to study HCV entry [173,174]. The HCVpp system is also the main tool for studying neutralizing antibodies [177,178]. An HCVpp library, which is composed of 19 distinct variants of genotype 1 has been used to test for broadly neutralizing antibodies [179]. The main drawback of using this system is the fact that these particles are produced in 293T cells, which is a kidney cell line. This can result in differences in the glycosylation of the envelope proteins in HCVpp compared to the natural virus. Furthermore, since 293T cells are unable to produce lipoproteins, the resulting HCVpp are not associated with the lipoproteins in the same way HCV particles are under physiologic conditions.

In 2005, Wakita *et al.* described the first fully infectious HCV cell culture (HCVcc) system [41]. They used the full-length RNA of the JFH1 strain, which is a genotype 2a strain isolated from a Japanese patient with fulminant hepatitis [180]. When they transfected Huh-7 cells with this full-length RNA, virus particles were produced and were able to infect naïve cells, recapitulating the entire HCV life cycle in cell culture. The drawback in using this strain was the low titer of virus obtained. However, this system provided the basis for future optimization.

Several approaches were used to improve the HCVcc system and to increase viral titers in cell culture. Firstly, infecting Huh-7.5 cell line, which is a cured clone of Huh-7 cells harboring subgenomic HCV replicon, improved the titer, probably because of the defective RIG-I and higher levels of CD81 in Huh-7.5 cells [181-184]. Another group generated a chimeric virus composed of core-NS2 from the HCV J6 strain, which is also a genotype 2a strain, and NS3-NS5B from JFH1. This chimeric virus generated significantly higher titers than the wild-type JFH1 [181]. Additional intragenotypic and intergenotypic chimeras were generated later by Pietschmann and his colleagues [185]. To generate these chimeras they used a fusion point just after the first transmembrane domain of NS2. This allowed them to produce a more robust chimera of J6-JFH1, which became known as Jc-1. In addition, they were able to generate intergenotypic chimeras representing genotypes 1a, 1b, 2a, and 3b. However, with the exception of Jc-1, which is an intragenotypic chimera, these other chimeras all generated lower titers than wild-type JFH1. In another study, passaging the virus for three weeks in Huh-7.5.1 cells (a

derivative of Huh-7.5 cells) resulted in the appearance of cell culture-adapted variants that gave a 200-fold increase in titer compared to JFH-1 [186].

In 2008, Russell *et al.* reported three cell culture-adapted mutations in E2, p7, and NS2 (N417S, N765D and Q1012R, respectively). The adapted strain containing these three mutations, later called JFH1<sub>T</sub>, was reported to generate 1000-fold more infectious virus than wild-type JFH1 [187]. Since the replication rate of JFH1 is much lower than the levels observed in HCV-infected individuals, JFH1<sub>T</sub> may better represent natural HCV infection. For this reason, we use this strain to model for HCV infection herein.

The latest progress in the field was published recently by Saeed *et al.* in which they reported the development of the first pan-genotypic cell culture system that allowed replication of different genotypes of virus including isolates from patient sera [188]. This was achieved by generating Huh-7.5 cells that express SEC14L2, which is suggested to sustain HCV replication by enhancing a vitamin E-mediated protection against lipid peroxidation.

## 1.3.2 Animal Models.

Chimpanzees can be infected with HCV and it was the first animal model to be used for studying this virus. The use of this model began about ten years before the discovery of HCV itself to confirm that NANB hepatitis could be transmitted to chimpanzees upon inoculation of serum from an infected human [4,5]. Since then, the use of this animal model added great contributions to the field, which began with the discovery of the virus, and continued with the understanding of many aspects regarding HCV biology, including
the pathogenic mechanisms, the cellular immune responses against the virus, as well as antiviral and vaccine efficacy studies [189-192]. However, unlike the natural course of infection in humans, the majority of infected chimpanzees rapidly cleared the infection, and even in the few that develop chronic infection, no signs of fibrosis have been observed and only one case of HCC has been reported [192,193]. Although the use of chimpanzees in HCV research was invaluable, these studies were limited due to the high cost and limited availability of facilities able to carry out this research. In 2013, the use of chimpanzee in research was banned due to ethical issues, with chimpanzee studies now limited to vaccine trials in most countries [173].

Interestingly, besides humans and chimpanzees, the tree shrew (*Tupaia belangeri*) was found to be the only non-primate that is permissible for HCV infection [194]. Infection in tree shrews results in intermittent viremia during the acute phase, and evidence of chronic infection was observed and long-term histological analysis showed the development of HCV-induced liver disease in HCV-infected animals [195,196]. Despite these attractive features of this model, the use of tree shrew in HCV research is still very limited, probably due to the low and variable infection rates and the difficulties in breeding this animal in captivity [173,191,193].

In contrast, the mouse is a very attractive animal model for virological research. However, its use in HCV research was hampered by the fact that mice are not permissive to HCV infection. In order to overcome this barrier, three approaches were followed to modify either the virus itself or the mouse in a way that supports infection (reviewed in [192,193]). The first approach was to allow the virus to adapt to mouse CD81 and mouse OCLN, both of which cannot be utilized by HCV envelope proteins for entry [140]. The adaptation to mouse CD81 was achieved by passaging the virus for extended periods in the presence of mouse CD81 [197]. This adapted virus was reported to replicate and produce infectious particles in a mouse liver cell line defective in innate immune pathways [198].

The second approach was to genetically manipulate the mouse in order to express human receptors such as CD81 and OCLN (humanized mouse model). This was achieved either by adenovirus delivery or by transgenic expression of the receptors. The mouse expressing human CD81 and OCLN was found to support HCV entry [199]. In a later report, the same group showed that blunting the innate antiviral response of transgenic mice expressing the four human HCV receptors (CD81, SR-B1, CLDN-1 and OCLN) supported virus production as viremia was detected in this mouse for several weeks, meaning the entire HCV life cycle was recapitulated in this model [200].

The third approach was to directly humanize the mouse liver by xenotransplanting human hepatocytes. In this model, severely immunosuppressed mice (e.g. Severe combined immunodeficiency [SCID] mice) were used to prevent the rejection of human liver cells by the mouse immune system [201]. Primary human hepatocytes (PHH) were injected intrasplenically where they will engraft in the liver and repopulate most of the mouse liver [202]. Cell injury was induced in the murine hepatocytes to provide a proliferation signal to the engrafted human hepatocytes and to give them a growth advantage over the murine hepatocytes [173]. The most commonly used way to induce cell injury in murine hepatocytes is by the transgenic expression of urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) [203,204]. The human liver chimeric mouse model contributed to better understanding of many aspects of HCV including the neutralizing antibodies and testing new antiviral drugs [205-209]. The main limitation of this model is the absence of an adaptive immune responses in the host. To overcome this limitation, an immunocompetent mouse model was recently developed by double humanizing the mouse with human immune progenitor cells (e.g. CD34+ human hematopoietic stem cells) and human hepatocyte progenitors [210-212].

## 1.4 HCV immunology.

# 1.4.1 Innate immune responses against HCV.

The induction of type I and type III interferons (IFNs) is one of the first defence mechanisms that can restrict viral infection. Type I IFN includes IFN- $\beta$ , which is encoded by a single gene, and IFN- $\alpha$ , which is encoded by a cluster of 13 genes. Type III IFNs include three subtypes of IFN- $\lambda$ : IFN- $\lambda$ 1, IFN- $\lambda$ 2, and IFN- $\lambda$ 3 (also known as IL-29, IL-28A, and IL-28B, respectively) [213,214]. Type I and Type III IFNs binds to different receptors on target cells, but they are believed to induce the same intracellular signaling pathway and stimulate the expression of the same genes [215,216].

In order for the IFN response to be initiated, the virus must be recognized by at least one of a group of receptors, known as the pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs). These receptors recognize specific characteristics of the virus, i.e., the PAMPs. The PRRs are classified into three classes, RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), toll-like receptors (TLRs) and Nod-like receptors (NLRs).

RIG-I is the main PRR that recognizes HCV [182,217]. It is an RNA helicase that is composed of three domains: a C-terminal regulatory domain, a DExD/H box type RNA helicase domain in the centre and two tandem caspase activation and recruitment domains (CARDs) in the N-terminus [59,218-221]. The C-terminal regulatory domain and the RNA helicase domain are involved in the detection of viral RNA [221]. The ligands recognized by RIG-I are the cytosolic 5' triphosphate containing dsRNA and the 3' UTR that is rich in poly-U/UC [217,221,222]. Binding of HCV RNA to RIG-I induces conformational changes in RIG-I that leads to oligomerization and translocation of RIG-I from the cytosol into intracellular membranes, which results in the interaction of the activated RIG-I, through its CARD domains, with an adaptor protein called MAVS located on the mitochondria, peroxisomes and mitochondria-associated membranes (MAMs) of the endoplasmic reticulum [223-226]. This process requires the interaction of RIG-I with two proteins, the chaperone protein 14-3-3ε and the E3 ubiquitin ligase TRIM25 [227,228]. TRIM25 in turn requires another ubiquitin ligase, Riplet, to be able to associate with and activate RIG-I [229]. Interaction between RIG-I and MAVS results in the activation of a downstream cascade that results in the activation of two transcription factors: IFN regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB). Once activated by phosphorylation and dimerization, IRF3 is translocated to the nucleus where it plays a major role in activating the IFN-β promoter (reviewed in [230-232]).

TLR3 is also able to sense HCV, but its exact role in the immunity against it is still not clear. TLR3 is an intraendosomal sensor that is composed of an ectodomain that recognizes the RNA ligand, connected by a transmembrane region to a Toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR) domain, which is responsible for initiating the downstream signaling [233,234]. The HCV PAMP that is recognized by TLR3 is the dsRNA intermediate that accumulates in the cell during replication [235]. Binding of TLR3 to its ligand results in the dimerization of the TIR domains. This in turn recruits the adaptor protein TRIF and results in the activation of IRF-3 and NF- $\kappa$ B, which subsequently induces the expression of IFN- $\beta$  (reviewed in [231,232,236]).

Once expressed, IFN- $\beta$  will bind to its cognate receptor in an autocrine and paracrine manner. This leads to the activation of a Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK/STAT) signaling pathway, which subsequently results in the expression of hundreds of genes collectively known as IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs). One of the known ISGs is IRF7, which is a transcription factor for IFN- $\alpha$  promoters, thus results in more type-I IFN production and the positive feedback amplification of the response [237,238]. Other ISGs encode several proteins with known antiviral activities, which restrict HCV accumulation and infection of neighbouring cells. In contrast, other ISGs, such as ISG15, have been reported to promote HCV activity [239].

Interestingly, Protein kinase R (PKR), a protein known for its antiviral functions by inhibiting host mRNA translation, was identified later as a third PRR for HCV [240]. However, unlike the other two PRRs, PKR was reported to induce a pathway that supports HCV infection. Binding of PKR to dsRNA was found to initiate, in a kinase-independent way, a signaling pathway that involves MAVS and IRF3, but not RIG-I. This pathway results in the rapid induction of 49 genes, including ISG15. ISG15 inhibits RIG-I

at early stages of infection by blocking its TRIM25-mediated ubiquitination, thus preventing the induction of IFN- $\beta$  [240].

Despite the early activation of the IFN response following HCV infection, this innate immune response fails to clear the majority of new infections [241,242]. This failure is the result of the development of multiple strategies by the virus to evade the innate immune responses. Different evasion strategies target each of the three steps of the IFN response by disrupting PRR signaling, inhibiting JAK/STAT signaling, and antagonizing the antiviral functions of the ISGs (reviewed in [59]).

The best-characterized and most important strategy followed by HCV to evade the induction of the IFN response is the cleavage of MAVS by NS3-4A protease activity. MAVS molecules are anchored in membranes and the cleavage of MAVS liberates them, resulting in a block in the RIG-I signaling pathway [99,243]. The HCV NS3-4A protein targets MAVS located on MAMs, which is sufficient to block RIG-I signaling, regardless of intact MAVS located on the mitochondrial membrane [225]. More recently, Riplet was reported to be a second cleavage victim of NS3-4A within the RIG-I pathway, cleavage of which abrogates the association between RIG-I and TRIM25 and inhibits the signaling pathway [229]. Furthermore, NS3-4A protease activity is also able to attenuate TLR3 signaling by cleaving TRIF [100]. Since MAVS is also involved in PKR signaling, its cleavage by NS3-4A is also expected to inhibit this pathway [232].

JAK/STAT signaling was also reported to be blocked by HCV. Core protein was reported to have a central role by inhibiting this pathway at different steps (reviewed in [59,244]). Other HCV proteins have been reported to antagonize additional ISGs. For example, NS5A was reported to antagonize the antiviral function of 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase (2-5 OAS), an ISG product that induces the degradation of viral RNA [245,246]. The kinase activity of PKR was reported to be inhibited by two viral proteins, E2 and NS5A [247,248]. This prevents PKR's inhibitory effects on cellular mRNA translation, thus reducing the cellular factors necessary for virus replication. However, the exact effect of inhibiting the kinase activity of PKR on HCV infection is not clear.

Natural killer (NK) cells form another important arm of innate immunity against viral infections. NK cells restrict viral infection by performing two important functions: killing virally infected cells and secreting cytokines (such as IFN- $\gamma$ ) that can control viral infection. Activation of NK cells is controlled by a balance between activating and inhibitory signals that result from the interactions between a variety of NK cell receptors and their ligands on the surface of target cells [249]. NK cells are enriched in the liver, accounting for 25%-40% of the lymphocytes present [250]. This has led many to believe that NK cells play a pivotal role in controlling HCV infection prior to the onset of adaptive immune responses. In line with this, NK cells are activated during acute HCV infection [251,252]. An epidemiological study reported that a specific NK cell receptorligand combination is associated with the clearance of viral infection [253]. Furthermore, a strong line of evidence suggests that progress of HCV infection to chronicity is associated with changes in the NK cell subsets and receptor expression [254-258]. The interaction between CD81 on NK cells and the viral E2 protein was reported to inhibit NK cell functions [259,260]. In agreement with this, a recent publication from the Grant lab showed that co-culturing NK cells with HCVcc-infected Huh-7.5 cells resulted in a downregulation of NKp30, an activating receptor of the natural cytotoxicity receptor family, and resulted in inhibiting NK cell cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion [261].

## 1.4.2 Adaptive immune responses against HCV.

Unlike innate immune responses, the adaptive immune response to HCV is active late after the primary infection, at approximately 6-8 weeks post-infection [262,263]. All of the components of the adaptive immune response, including both humoral and cellular responses (CD8+ and CD4+ T cells), have been shown to play a central role in determining the outcome of the infection and participate in HCV-pathogenesis [264,265].

In most of the cases, acute HCV infection induces the production of antibodies directed against different epitopes located within the structural or the non-structural viral proteins [263]. Some of these antibodies have the ability to prevent virus binding, entry, or uncoating and are called neutralizing antibodies. For example, antibodies directed against the hypervariable region-1 (HVR-1) of the E2 protein have been found to be neutralizing [266,267]. However, the role of the neutralizing antibodies in determining the outcome of HCV infection is not clear as controversial findings have been reported by several groups. Some studies reported that the generation of neutralizing antibody is not associated with spontaneous clearance of HCV in chimpanzees and humans [268,269]. In contrast, a cohort study of a single source outbreak reported an association between early induction of neutralizing antibodies and viral clearance [270]. Moreover, a recent study reported that spontaneous clearance of viral infection is associated with the rapid development of a broadly neutralizing antibody response [179]. During chronic infection,

neutralizing antibodies apply a selection pressure on the existing HCV infection causing continuous generation of escape variants [177].

Unlike the humoral immune response, the important role of both CD8+ and CD4+ T cell responses in controlling HCV infection is well established. Antibody-mediated depletion of CD8+ T cells in a previously protected chimpanzee resulted in a persistent infection until the recovery of HCV-specific CD8+ T cells in the liver [271]. Similarly, antibody depletion of CD4+ T cells in a previously protected chimpanzee was also found to cause persistent infection [272]. Several other studies have shown a correlation between HCV-specific CD8+ T cell responses and viral clearance in humans [273-276]. Other groups also reported the importance of the CD4+ T cell response in controlling HCV infection. A strong, broad, and persistent CD4+ T cell response was found to associate with the resolution of the infection [277-280]. Furthermore, certain human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I and class II alleles were found to associate with virus clearance, thereby emphasizing the roles of CD8+ and CD4+ T cells in controlling HCV infection [281].

# 1.5 Programmed cell death.

Historically, the term programmed cell death (PCD) was first used in 1965 to describe the organized death of certain larva muscle cells during the process of transformation into moths [282]. In 1972, the term apoptosis was first proposed by Kerr *et al.* to describe a morphologically distinct form of cell death [283]. Afterwards, cell demise was divided into two major forms: necrosis and apoptosis. Apoptosis was described as a programmed, energy dependent cell death, while necrosis was considered as an accidental, passive, and unwanted form of cell death. However, under certain conditions, necrosis was found to be induced in a well-orchestrated manner as a backup mechanism for apoptosis [284,285]. This led many to reclassify necrosis as an additional form of programmed cell death (PCD). In addition, other forms of programmed cell death were characterized later, increasing the number of PCD pathways. In this section, the major forms of PCD will be described, with an emphasis on apoptosis and pyroptosis, the two forms of PCD related to the findings described herein.

## 1.5.1 Apoptosis.

Since its discovery, apoptosis has gained a lot of interest from different biological and medical fields. The induction of apoptosis was found to be an integral part of an enormous number of vital biological processes including fetal development, haemostasis, regulation of the immune system and defence against intracellular pathogens. Defects in this process lead to serious complications including autoimmunity and cancer [286].

# 1.5.1.1 Hallmarks of apoptosis.

In tissues, apoptosis usually involves single cells or small clusters of cells [287]. One of the earliest morphological features of apoptosis is the compaction and segregation of nuclear chromatin to form fine granules that become marginated against the nuclear membrane followed by the condensation of the cell with preservation of the organelles [287-289]. As apoptosis proceeds, the plasma membrane blebs and forms fragments known as apoptotic bodies in a process called budding, and the nucleus becomes fragmented [287,288,290]. Apoptotic bodies are immediately engulfed by nearby phagocytic cells without inducing an inflammatory response.

One of the most important hallmarks of apoptosis is the fragmentation of cellular DNA. This process occurs as a result of the activation of DNA degradation enzymes, such as DNase, in the apoptotic signaling cascade. These enzymes cleave the cellular DNA at the linker regions between nucleosomes generating fragments of DNA each containing a single nucleosome or oligoneucleosomes [291]. However, as will be discussed later in this section, other forms of PCD can also induce DNA fragmentation.

Another hallmark of apoptosis is the externalization of phosphatidyl serine (PS), which is normally sequestered to the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane, to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane [292,293]. The exposed PS on the surface acts as the key "eat me" signal on the surface of the apoptotic cell, which facilitates its engulfment by phagocytic cells [294]. Since the externalization of PS occurs early in apoptosis, this provided the bases for assays designed to detect apoptosis [295].

The process of apoptosis is dependent on the activation of a group of proteolytic enzymes called cysteinyl aspartate specific proteases (caspases). Caspases are widely expressed in cells as inactive proenzymes, with different stimuli able to result in their cleavage and activation. Once activated, they cleave other caspases and initiate a cascade of events that leads to cell death. To date, 18 caspases has been identified in mammals but only few of them are involved in the apoptotic pathway [296]. The members of the caspase family are divided into upstream, or initiator caspases (caspases-1, -2, -8, -9, -10, -11 and -12), and downstream, or executioner caspases (caspases-3, -6, -7 and -14) (reviewed in [296,297]). Moreover, caspases can perform other, non-apoptotic functions

in the cell, including cell-cell communication, cytokine maturation, inflammatory responses, spermatogenesis, and neuronal differentiation [297,298].

## **1.5.1.2** Apoptotic pathways.

Two pathways can induce apoptosis: the extrinsic (death receptor) pathway and the intrinsic (stress/mitochondrial) pathway. The two apoptotic pathways are depicted in Fig 1.2. The extrinsic pathway is initiated by the interaction between a cell surface death receptor and its ligand. Known death receptors: tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor-1 (TNFR-1), Fas (also known as APO-1/CD95), death receptor (DR) 3, TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand-receptor 1 (TRAIL-R1), TRAIL-R2 and DR6 [286,299-301]. These receptors belong to the TNF receptor gene superfamily and contain a cysteine-rich extracellular domain that interacts with the death ligand, and a cytoplasmic domain called death domain (DD), which is responsible for the initiation of intracellular signaling [299,302,303]. The interaction of these receptors with their ligands results in their oligomerization (mostly trimerization). This will result in the recruitment of the DDcontaining adaptor proteins Fas-Associated protein with death domain (FADD) or Tumor necrosis factor receptor type 1-associated death domain protein (TRADD) through the homotypic interaction of the DDs on both molecules. FADD contains a second domain called the death effector domain (DED), which recruits other DED-containing proteins including procaspase-8 and procaspase-10 to form a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) [303-305]. The DISC will then mediate the autocatalytic cleavage and activation



Figure 1.2 The intrinsic and the extrinsic apoptotic pathways.

Schematic representation of the extrinsic and the intrinsic (stress/mitochondrial) apoptotic pathways. The interaction between the death ligand with its cell surface receptor result in the recruitment of the adaptor proteins FADD/TRADD and procaspase-8/10 to the cytoplasmic domain of the receptor forming DISC. This interaction results in the cleavage and activation of caspase-8. Active caspase-8 cleaves and activates caspase-3/6/7 and BH3 interacting-domain death agonist (BID). Activation of BID amplifies the signal by activating the mitochondrial pathway. The intrinsic pathway is initiated by disrupting the balance between the pro- and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members. This leads to mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) and release of cytochrome C to induce the oligomerization of APAF1 and the formation of the apoptosome, which activates caspase-3 and the other executioner caspases.

of caspase-8/10 [303]. The procaspase-8 molecule contains two DEDs and two catalytic subunits, p18 and p10. The activation of caspase-8 at the DISC occurs by the dimerization and several cleavages that eventually result in the formation of a heterotetramer (p10/p18)<sub>2</sub> [306,307]. Unlike the other death receptors, TNFR1 and DR3 DDs recruit TRADD [308]. TRADD is another DD-containing adaptor protein that can form two types of complexes, complex I and complex II. Complex I results from the recruitment of RIP-1, TRAF2, cellular inhibitor of apoptosis (cIAP) 1 and cIAP 2. This complex initiates a signaling pathway that ends with the activation of NF-kB and the p38 and c-Jun N terminal kinase (JNK) MAPK pathways [301,309]. Complex II is formed when TRADD recruits FADD, procaspase-8/10 and RIP-3. Complex II is a DISC that results in the cleavage and activation of caspase-8 [309,310]. The cell can control the activation of the extrinsic pathway by producing an inhibitory protein called cellular caspase-8/FADD-like IL-1β-converting enzyme (FLICE) inhibitory protein (c-FLIP). Like procaspase-8/10, this protein contains a DED domain, which allows it to interact with FADD, but it lacks the enzymatic activity found in caspase-8/10 [311,312].

It is worth mentioning here that formation of complex I by the TNF- $\alpha$ -TNFR interaction can activate two different pathways, each of which results in a different outcome regarding the fate of the cell. Complex I can result in the activation of JNK, which in turn activates the transcription factor activator protein-1 (AP-1). Complex I can also activate the transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B (JNK and NF- $\kappa$ B activation pathways by complex I are reviewed in [309]). Activation of the JNK pathway contributes to TNF- $\alpha$ -induced cell death by activating E3 ubiquitin ligase Itch, which in turn ubiquitinates

cFLIP and targets it for proteasomal degradation [313]. Activation of NF-κB, on the other hand, results in the transcription of a group of genes including inflammatory chemokines and pro-survival proteins such as Bcl-xL, XIAP and cFLIP (reviewed in [314]).

Once activated, caspase-8/10 cleaves and activates the executioner caspases. In certain cell types (such as thymocytes), this signal by itself is enough to execute apoptosis. These cells are designated "type I". In the cell types, amplification of the death signal by activation of the mitochondrial pathway is necessary for the induction of apoptosis [315,316]. These cell types are designated "type II" and include hepatocytes, which are the cell type of interest herein. Activated caspase-8 has the ability to initiate this second signal by inducing the cleavage of Bid (a Bcl-2 family protein). Truncated Bid (tBid) then translocates to the mitochondrial membrane and activates the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway [317].

The mitochondrial (intrinsic/stress) pathway is initiated intracellularly by several stimuli such as radiation, hypoxia, viral infections or simply the withdrawal of important growth factors. These stimuli initiate a series of events that induces MOMP and results in the release of cytochrome C (Cyt C) and other apoptotic factors from the intermembrane space of the mitochondria into the cytosol (reviewed in [318,319]). A family of 25 proteins, known as the B-cell lymphoma (Bcl)-2 family, controls the integrity of the outer mitochondrial membrane and the balance between them is what determines whether the cell will survive or undergo apoptosis (reviewed in [319,320]). Members of this family are divided into three subfamilies based on the function and the presence of some or all of the four conserved amphipathic regions called Bcl-2 homology (BH) 1-4 domains

[321,322]. The first subfamily contains pro-survival (anti-apoptotic) proteins that contain all of the four BH domains. Members of this subfamily includes Bcl-2, Bcl-2 like protein X (Bcl-xL), myeloid cell leukemia-1 (Mcl-1) [321]. The second subfamily contains a group of pro-apoptotic proteins that contain the first three BH domains (BH1-BH3), this subfamily includes Bcl-2-associated protein X (Bax) and Bcl-2 homologous antagonist killer (Bak) proteins. The last subfamily also contains pro-apoptotic proteins, but these contain only the BH3 domain, hence this group is designated the "BH3-only subfamily". Members of the BH3-only subfamily include BH3 interacting domain death agonist (Bid), bcl-2 interacting mediator of cell death (Bim), Bcl-2-associated death promoter (Bad) , p53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis (Puma) [321,323].

Activation of Bax and Bak results in conformational changes that lead to the formation of a homo-oligomer that is inserted into the mitochondrial membrane that leads to the release of Cyt C into the cytosol [324-327]. The activation of Bax and Bak is tightly controlled by the balance between the pro-survival Bcl-2 subfamily proteins and the pro-apoptotic BH3-only subfamily proteins. The mechanism by which these different subfamilies interact to protect or permeabilize the mitochondrial membrane is still has not been fully elucidated. Letai *et al* proposed that different BH3-only proteins could initiate the mitochondrial apoptotic pathways by acting as either activators or sensitizers of Bax/Bak [328]. They reported that some BH3-only proteins, like Bid and Bim, could directly activate the oligomerization of Bax/Bak. Others, such as Bad and Bik, act indirectly by binding to the pro-survival Bcl-2 subfamily, which sensitizes Bax/Bak to activation by the other BH3-only proteins. However, later reports supported an alternative

model in which all of the BH3-only proteins bind exclusively to the pro-survival Bcl-2 proteins. Bcl-2 proteins sequester Bax/Bak, and alternatively, Bax/Bak binding to BH3-only proteins results in their release and activation [329-332].

Once in the cytosol, Cyt C interacts with a protein known as apoptotic protease activating factor-1 (APAF-1). This interaction induces the oligomerization of APAF-1 which forms a wheel-like structure of seven APAF-1 molecules known as the "apoptosome". The apoptosome binds to and activates caspase-9, the initiator caspase for the intrinsic pathway, which in turn cleaves and activates the executioner caspases (formation and role of the apoptosome is reviewed in [333]).

Besides Cyt C, MOMP results in the release of several other apoptotic proteins. The first of these proteins is called Second mitochondria-derived activator of caspase (Smac), also known as direct inhibitor of apoptosis-binding protein with low pI (DIABLO). Once released into the cytosol, Smac/DIABLO interacts with and inhibits a group of proteins that belong to a family called inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs) [334]. Members of the IAP family, such as the x-linked IAP (XIAP) and the cellular IAPs (c-IAP1and c-IAP2), strongly inhibit caspases-9, -3 and -7 [335-337]. The interaction of Smac/DIABLO with the IAPs prevents their inhibitory activity on caspases and sensitizes the cell to apoptosis. The same mechanism is used by the serine protease high-temperature requirement A2 (HtrA2) that is also released from the mitochondria as a result of MOMP and is able to bind, cleave and inhibit XIAP [338,339]. Apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) is another apoptotic factor released as a result of MOMP. This protein contains two functional domains, an oxidoreductase enzymatic activity domain

that was shown to perform pro-survival functions and a DNA binding site that catalyzes large-scale DNA fragmentation and chromatin condensation (reviewed in [340]). Finally, Endonuclease G is another apoptotic factor that, once released from the mitochondria, induces caspase-independent nucleosomal DNA fragmentation [341,342].

Activation of either the extrinsic or intrinsic pathways eventually results in the activation of the executioner caspases (caspases-3, -6 and -7) (reviewed in [287]). Following their activation, the executioner caspases cleave many substrates and cause the final events of cell death. Most of the execution functions are carried out by caspase-3, while caspases-6 and -7 play a less important role [343]. Active caspase-3 cleaves inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase (ICAD) to release the active caspase-activated DNase (CAD), which in turn causes DNA fragmentation and chromatin condensation [344]. Caspase-3 also cleaves and inactivates the DNA repair enzyme poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) [345]. The Nuclear Mitotic Apparatus protein (NuMA) is another victim of caspase-3 cleaves gelsolin and the product of this cleavage, in turn, cleaves actin filaments causing severe morphological changes in the cell that can be easily observed *in vitro*, such as rounding up, detachment from the plate and fragmentation of the nucleus [348,349].

## 1.5.2 Pyroptosis.

Cookson and Brennan were the first to propose the term pyroptosis in 2001 to describe a caspase-1-dependent inflammatory form of programmed cell death that occurs in *Salmonella*-infected macrophages [350]. The name was derived from the Greek roots

*pyro* and *ptosis* (where *pyro* means fire or fever and *ptosis* means falling) to denote that this is an inflammatory form of death. The first observation of pyroptosis was in *Shigella flexneri*-infected macrophages returns back 1992, 9 years before the characterization of this form of cell death [351]. Other earlier studies revealed that these *Shigella flexneri*-infected macrophages died by a distinctive, caspase-1-dependent programmed cell death [352,353]. This caspase-1-dependent form of cell death was also observed in the macrophages infected with *Salmonella spp* [354,355]. However, all of these early reports referred to this form of death as apoptosis, based on its dependence on a caspase, which at the time was considered an exclusive hallmark of apoptosis. In addition to Salmonella and Shigella, pyroptosis was reported in many other bacterial infections including, but not limited to, *Listeria monocytogenes, Francisella tularensis* and *Yersinia spp* [356-358].

Pyroptosis is a pro-inflammatory form of cell death. Although they share some common features, pyroptosis has distinctive morphologic and mechanistic characteristics that differentiate it from apoptosis. As mentioned earlier, pyroptosis is dependent on the activation of caspase-1. The apoptotic caspases, caspases -3, -6 and -8 do not play any role in pyroptosis (reviewed in [359]). Pyroptotic cells are executed by formation of pores in the cell membrane, through which ions and water enter, resulting in cell swelling, and eventually cell lysis. This results in the release of their cellular contents into their surroundings [360]. Despite the fact that both pyroptosis and apoptosis share the ability to cause DNA fragmentation [358,361]. The mechanism of DNA fragmentation in pyroptotic cells is still not clear. Unlike apoptosis, pyroptosis does not cause the activation of ICAD/DFF45, and it does not cause MOMP or the release of AIF and

Endonuclease G from the mitochondria [356,358,360]. Finally, accumulating evidence suggests that active caspase-1 can cleave and activate caspase-7, providing a mechanism that links apoptotic and pyroptotic pathways [362,363].

PARP cleavage is widely used as a specific marker for apoptosis. However, there are contradicting reports regarding PARP cleavage in pyroptotic cells have been published. One report suggests that PARP remains in its active, intact form during pyroptosis in *Salmonella*-infected macrophages and Inhibition of PARP by a specific inhibitor did not prevent Salmonella-infected macrophages from undergoing cell-lysis [360,361]. In contrast, at least one report has suggested caspase-1-mediated PARP cleavage in pyroptosis [364]. Furthermore, activation of caspase-1 was reported to induce the cleavage of PARP directly, or indirectly by cleaving caspase-7 first, which in turn can cleave PARP [362,363,365]. In light of these reports, the use of PARP cleavage as an apoptosis-specific marker should be reconsidered. For this reason, the results of PARP cleavage directly.

Pyroptosis is initiated by the binding of several stimuli to a receptor. Unlike the extrinsic apoptosis pathway, pyroptosis is initiated by a group of PRRs that are located in the cytosol and belong to the NLR family. Different members of this family recognize different stimuli, but all result in the activation of caspase-1. The NLR family CARD domain-containing protein 4 (NLRC4/also known as Ipaf) was found to detect several bacterial components, such as flagellin of *Salmonella typhimurium* and of *Legionella pneumophila*, and the basal body rod component of the type III secretion apparatus of several gram negative bacteria (*Salmonella typhimurium, Burkholderia*)

pseudomallei, Escherichia coli, Shigella flexneri, and Pseudomonas aeruginosa) [366-368]. NACHT (<u>NAIP</u>, <u>CIITA</u>, <u>HET-E</u>, <u>TP1</u>), leucine rich repeat (LRR) and pyrin domain (PYD)-containing protein-1 (NLRP1/also known as NALP1) was reported to detect *Bacillus anthracis* lethal toxin and induces pyroptosis in the affected macrophages [369]. Absent in melanoma 2 (AIM2) is a member of the hematopoietic interferon-inducible nuclear antigens with 200 amino acid repeats (HIN-200) receptor family that detects foreign cytosolic DNA [370]. AIM2 was found to be responsible for the activation of caspase-1 in *Francisella tularensis* infections and to stimulate pyroptosis in *Listeria monocytogenes*-infected cells [371,372]. Finally, NLRP3 (also known as NALP3) can detect a wide range of PAMPs and DAMPs (danger-associated molecular patterns); these include toxins, extracellular ATP, uric acid, bacterial PAMPs, fungal PAMPs, and most importantly to this thesis, viral DNA and RNA including HCV RNA (reviewed in [359]).

Detection of the PAMPs or DAMPs by any of the previously mentioned receptors will result in their self-oligomerization and recruitment of caspase-1 and the adapter protein apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD (ASC) to form a multiprotein complex known as the inflammasome [373-375]. The inflammasomes then act as a platform for caspase-1 activation and the maturation of the inflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  [373,376]. ASC is comprised of two domains: a PYRIN domain and a CARD domain. ASC and the receptor interact through their PYRIN domains, and ASC and caspase-1 interact through their CARD domains. [375]. The NLRC4 protein contains a CARD domain that allows it to interact directly with caspase-1 without the need for an ASC molecule [377]. The assembly of any of these two forms of the inflammasome results in the activation of caspase-1.

Caspase-1 is present in the cytosol as an inactive 45kDa precursor protein. This precursor can be processed in the inflammasome to give the active form, which is comprised of a tetramer of two 20kDa and two 10kDa polypeptides [378,379]. This active caspase-1 can perform a wide range of functions. In one study, 41 proteins involved in many vital pathways were identified as substrates for active caspase-1 [380]. Multiple steps of the glycolysis pathway are targeted and cleaved by caspase-1 (e.g. aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase). Caspase-1 also targets protein precursors that affect cytoskeletal architecture, translation, ATP metabolism and many chaperone proteins. As mentioned previously, active caspase-1 was also reported to target caspase-7 [362]. Finally, the most well-known targets for active caspase-1 are a group of proinflammatory proteins, including the inflammatory cytokines pro-IL-1ß and pro-IL-18, as well as the autocleavage of caspase-1 [381]. Cleavage of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and pro-IL-18 results in their maturation and secretion from the cell, which in turn results in the recruitment of inflammatory cells and increases the production of inflammatory cytokines [382]. Although the activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines is not required for the execution of pyroptosis; as pyroptosis was detected in IL-1 $\beta$ /IL-18 double knockout mice [383]. Caspase-1 performs a dual function in the pyroptotic pathway by acting as an initiator and an executioner caspase. However, the pathways downstream of caspase-1 activation that result in cell death are not completely understood.

Recent studies in mice reported that in addition to the previously described canonical inflammasomes, pyroptosis can also be induced by non-canonical inflammasomes. This pathway is activated by lipopolysaccharides (LPS) within the cytosol and relies on caspase-11 activation, rather than the activation of caspase-1 (reviewed in [384]). Interestingly, caspase-11 itself was reported to acts as a sensor for the detection of LPS in the cytosol and there are two homologs of caspase-11 in humans: caspase-4 and caspase-5 [385]. Similarly to caspase-11, caspase-4 and caspase-5 were reported to regulate the activation of non-canonical inflammasomes in response to LPS alone [385,386].

# 1.5.3 Other forms of cell death.

### 1.5.3.1 Autophagic cell death.

Autophagy (self-eating) is a process in which the cell digests its cytosolic proteins and organelles by surrounding them with a double membrane to form a vesicle known as a phagosome. The phagosome then fuses with a lysosome that delivers the necessary enzymes to digest the contents of the phagosome (reviewed in [387]). Autophagy acts as a pro-survival mechanism under stress conditions, such as starvation. Conversely, autophagy was reported to cause autophagic cell death (or type II cell death, where type I is apoptosis), which is a cell death associated with the accumulation of autophagosomes in the dying cell [388,389]. Nevertheless, the role of autophagy in this form of cell death is controversial. While some studies have reported that autophagosomes are associated with, rather than the cause of, cell death [390,391]. Others have suggested that autophagy is indeed the cause of cell death as autophagic cell death, in certain animals, is not affected by inhibiting or mutating apoptotic caspases. These studies also demonstrated

that this form of cell death does not occure in animals with defective autophagy proteins [392,393].

#### 1.5.3.2 Necrosis and necroptosis.

Necrosis (type III cell death) has often been described as a passive, accidental, and uncontrollable form of cell death that occurs due to severe environmental stress, such as ischemia, physical trauma, or bacterial infections [394]. However, under certain conditions, necrosis can occur in a highly regulated manner. This form of cell death was termed "necroptosis" (reviewed in [391,394]). Necroptosis is induced in some cases as an alternative mechanism to trigger cell death during caspase inhibition. For example, interaction of Fas-FasL under the conditions of caspase inhibition results in the activation of the necrotic pathway [395]. Binding of TNF- $\alpha$  to its ligand can also induce necroptosis in the target cell. The necroptotic signaling pathway depends largely on proteins known as receptor interacting protein kinases 1 & 3 (RIPK1 & RIPK3). Binding of the TNF receptor to its ligand leads to the recruitment of TRADD, RIPK1 and RIPK3 to the cytoplasmic domain of the receptor. This leads to the interaction between RIPK1 and RIPK3 and subsequently results in the formation of a complex known as the necrosome (pathway is reviewed in [391,394]). It is still not clear how necroptosis executes the cell, but depletion of intracellular ATP was reported as a potential execution mechanism for necroptosis [396]. Furthermore, reactive oxygen species (ROS) were produced in RIPK3regulated TNF-induced necroptosis [397]. Morphologically, necrotic cells increase in volume, the organelles swell, and eventually the plasma membrane ruptures, releasing all of the cellular contents [398].

### 1.5.3.3 Ferroptosis.

Ferroptosis is a recently described form of cell death that is dependent on intracellular iron [399]. This form of cell death is caused by the iron-dependent accumulation of lethal lipid ROS. Morphologically, no cell membrane rupture or blebbing and no chromatin condensation or changes in nuclear size have been observed in ferroptosis. This form of cell death is characterized by morphological changes in the mitochondria, which includes mitochondrial shrinkage, an increase in the density of the mitochondrial membrane and the decrease or vanishing of the crista (reviewed in [400]). Ferroptosis can be induced by several molecules including erastin, acetamenophen and sulfasalazine (a drug used in the treatment of inflammatory diseases) [399,401,402].

## 1.6 HCV and apoptosis.

The ability of HCV to modulate different apoptotic pathways has been studied extensively. However, the controversy among these reports is so extensive that it is difficult to draw conclusions from these reports. The reason for this controversy could be attributed in part to the use of different systems to test the effect of HCV on apoptotic pathways. These systems include liver biopsies obtained from HCV infected patients, expression of single HCV proteins in cell culture, the replicon system, transgenic mice, humanized mice and HCVcc. In addition, the various studies tested different apoptotic markers, each representing the activation of a single apoptotic pathway, or parts of it, but not the other pathways. Furthermore, some studies focused on testing the effect of HCV infection or HCV proteins on externally-induced apoptosis, i.e. apoptosis induced by different apoptotic ligand-apoptotic receptor interactions. Others tested the direct induction or inhibition of apoptotic proteins or pathways by HCV. Overall, each individual HCV protein and the whole replicating virus were reported to have a both proapoptotic and anti-apoptotic effects by various groups. This extensive controversy around the relationship between HCV infection and apoptosis was the justification for the work described in this thesis. To set the stage for this project, some of the key studies in this area will be reviewed.

Testing the expression of apoptotic markers in liver biopsies obtained from chronically infected individuals was one of the earliest tools used to study HCV-induced apoptosis. However, the use of liver biopsies is limited by sample availability and the invasiveness of the procedure. In addition, the differentiation between immune systeminduced apoptosis and direct virus-induced effects are difficult to discern ex vivo. For these reasons, only a few groups have used this system to study HCV-induced apoptosis. In one such study, apoptosis was detected in the liver sections obtained from chronically HCV-infected patients, and the apoptotic index correlated with histological activity grading [403]. A second group detected activation of caspase-3 and -7 in liver biopsies samples obtained from chronically infected individuals [404]. This caspase activation correlated with the degree of inflammatory injury in the liver. Recently, another group reported apoptosis, autophagy and unfolded protein response (UPR)/ER stress in liver tissue obtained from biopsies performed on HCV-infected individuals [405]. In contrast, at least one report suggests a pro-survival effect during HCV infection where a decrease in the levels of Bid were observed in non-cirrhotic, HCV-linked tumor biopsies [406]. This mechanism might play a role in HCV-induced tumorigenesis.

Several groups have also used single protein expression as a tool to test the pro-/antiapoptotic effects of individual HCV proteins. The HCV core protein has been the most extensively studied with several groups reporting contradicting findings regarding its effect on apoptotic pathways. Expression of core protein caused ER stress and ER calcium depletion in Huh-7 and HepG2 cells [407]. ER stress stimulated the expression of a protein called C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP), which is a pro-apoptotic protein that activates the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. In a second report, the expression of core protein in 293T cells triggered them to undergo apoptosis [408]. Analysing the mechanisms responsible for this induction revealed that the core protein interacts with a pro-survival protein called 14-3-3 $\epsilon$ . This interaction was proposed to release Bax from the Bax/14-3-3ɛ complex, allowing it to induce the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. Moreover, C-terminally truncated core was reported to translocate to the nucleus and induce PKR-dependent apoptosis in transfected PHH [409]. In addition, Core protein was reported to contain a BH3 domain through which core can interact with the pro-survival Mcl-1 protein, preventing it from inhibiting the pro-apoptotic Bad protein, thus inducing apoptosis [410]. Furthermore, in a stably transfected osteosarcoma cell line, HCV core protein was reported to induce caspase-independent apoptosis-like cell death [411].

In contrast, the expression of genotype 3a HCV core protein caused pro-survival effects by downregulating a group of pro-apoptotic proteins including multiple caspases, cytochrome C, and p53 [412]. It also increased the level of phosphorylated-Akt (a pro-survival protein) and increased the viability of transfected cells [412]. Likewise,

expression of genotype 1b core protein by Huh-7 or Hela cells inhibited ROS-induced apoptosis by increasing Bcl-xL and decreasing Bax levels [413].

The effect of HCV core expression on death ligand-induced apoptosis is also controversial. Expression of the core protein was reported to sensitize the cell to Fasmediated apoptosis without affecting the level of Fas expression [414]. Core protein was also reported to bind to the DD of TNF receptor 1 (TNFR1), sensitizing the cell to TNFinduced apoptosis [415]. The core-induced sensitization to TNF- $\alpha$  was also reported to be attributed to the induction of ROS as a result of the interaction between core and the heat shock protein (Hsp60). This interaction is thought to impair the function of Hsp60 as a regulator of ROS production [416]. Finally, core protein sensitizes Huh-7 cells to TRAILinduced apoptosis by augmenting Bid cleavage by caspase-8, which activates the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway and amplifies the TRAIL-induced death signal [417]. In contrast, one group reported an anti-apoptotic effect of the core protein on death ligandinduced apoptosis, and its expression in MCF-7 cells was also reported to inhibit TNFinduced apoptosis [418]. In a second report for the same group, core protein was found to inhibit the TNF-induced apoptosis in HepG2 cells, and this inhibition was caused by the stimulation of c-FLIP expression in core-expressing cells [419].

The effect of E1, E2 and p7 on the induction of apoptosis has been studied less thoroughly than it has for the core protein. HCV E1 protein was shown to have pro-apoptotic functions since the expression of full-length or the transmembrane domain of E1 induced apoptosis in a hepatoma cell line [420]. Expression of the E2 protein has been reported to have both pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic effects in different studies.

Expression of E2 in Huh-7 cells resulted in the activation of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway [421]. On the other hand, E2-containing replicons conferred protection to the cell from TRAIL-induced apoptosis [422]. The inhibition of TRAIL-induced apoptosis by E2 was also reported by a second group, who found that E2 induced the expression of a chaperone protein known as glucose regulated protein 94 (GRP94) [423]. This protein stimulated the pro-survival NF- $\kappa$ B pathway (discussed earlier), which confers resistance to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Finally, the expression of the p7 proteins (genotypes 1b and 2a) in Huh-7.5 cells induced apoptosis; however this was not dependent on p7's ion channel activity [424].

The effects of the several non-structural proteins on the apoptotic pathways has also been the focus of several studies. NS2 was reported to perform an anti-apoptotic function by inhibiting a pro-apoptotic protein known as cell death-inducing DNA fragmentation factor-alpha (DFFA)-like effector-B (CIDE-B) [425]. This protein plays a role in promoting the formation of VLDL particles and it induces apoptosis by activating the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway [425-427]. NS3 was reported to interact with caspase-8, and this interaction induced caspase-8 mediated apoptosis in NS3-exepressing mammalian cells [428]. The capability of NS3 to interact with caspase-8 was independent from both its protease and helicase activities. In contrast, two other groups reported antiapoptotic functions of NS3 [429,430]. The NS3 protein was reported to interact with the tumor suppressor protein p53, resulting in inhibition of actinomycin D-induced apoptosis [429]. Furthermore, NS3/4A expression was reported to protect the cell from TNF- $\alpha$ induced apoptosis by inducing the expression of a mitochondrial receptor known as translocase of outer mitochondrial membrane 70 (TOM70) [430]. TOM70 interacts with the pro-survival Bcl-2 family member protein Mcl-1, which targets Mcl-1 to the mitochondria [431]. While the expression of NS4A, in the absence of NS3, resulted in mitochondrial damage that induced apoptosis; Expression of both NS3 and NS4A was found to sensitize the cell to actinomycin D-induced apoptosis [432]. In addition, transfection of Huh-7 or 293T cells with NS4B resulted in the induction of the mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis and resulted in ER stress [433].

The effect of NS5A protein on apoptotic pathways has been studied extensively. With the exception of one report, in which the expression of NS5A in dendritic cells had a proapoptotic effect, NS5A has been reported to have multiple anti-apoptotic functions [434]. NS5A was reported to interact with p53 and its co-activator human TBP-associated factor (hTAF)II32, and this interaction inhibited the ability of p53 to induce apoptosis [435]. In addition, NS5A binds to the Src homology-3 domain (SH3) of the p85 subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K). This binding activates PI3K, which in turn increases the phosphorylation and activation of the pro-survival enzyme Akt [436]. Akt in turn inhibits apoptosis by phosphorylating and inactivating the pro-apoptotic, Bcl-2 family member protein Bad [437]. Additionally, the SH3 binding motif of NS5A was reported to interact with the tumor suppressor bridging integrator 1 (Bin-1) to inhibit Bin-1-mediated apoptosis [438]. Furthermore, HCV NS5A was reported to interact with the 38kDa FK506-binding protein (FKBP38) [439]. The FKBP38 protein is known for its ability to interact with the pro-survival Bcl-2 family proteins, targeting them to the mitochondria and inhibiting apoptosis [440]. The interaction between NS5A and FKBP38 was reported

to increase the resistance of NS5A-expressing cells to drug-induced apoptosis [439]. NS5A expression was also reported to inhibit TNF- $\alpha$ -mediated apoptosis in Huh-7 cells by inhibiting a step upstream of caspase-8 activation [441]. Finally, only one study tested the effect of NS5B on the apoptotic pathways. In that study, NS5B was reported to have a pro-apoptotic effect by attenuating TNF- $\alpha$ -induced NF- $\kappa$ B activation and sensitizing the cell to TNF- $\alpha$  induced apoptosis [442].

The effects of HCV on apoptosis has also been studied in systems that include multiple HCV proteins. For example, in a cell line expressing a genotype 1a-derived replicon, it was found that HCV replication resulted in the upregulation of serine protease inhibitor Kazal (SPIK), which in turn rendered the cells more resistant to serine protease-dependent apoptotic death [443]. A second group used the replicon system to test the effect of HCV replication on TRAIL-induced apoptosis and found that HCV replication sensitized the cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis by upregulating TRAIL receptors (DR4 and DR5) [444].

Mouse systems have also been used in studying the effect of HCV infection on apoptotic pathways. The effect of HCV proteins on Fas-induced apoptosis was tested a transgenic mice expressing core, E1, E2 and NS2 [445]. They found that the expression of HCV proteins suppressed Fas-induced apoptosis. Mechanistic analysis revealed that this inhibition was due to the inhibition of cytochrome C release from the mitochondria. In a second study, the hepatocytes of transgenic mice expressing the HCV polyprotein were found to be resistant to Fas-induced apoptosis [446]. This resistance was associated with the reduction of Bid protein levels in these cells. Opposing results were reported by Joyce *et al.* who used SCID/Alb-uPA mice with humanized livers that support HCV infection and replication [447]. Infecting these mice with HCV was found to induce oxidative and ER stress, and to downregulate pro-survival NF- $\kappa$ B and Bcl-xL proteins, which ultimately resulted in the induction of apoptosis in the human liver cells [447].

After the development of the HCVcc system, many groups used it to study the induction/or inhibition of apoptosis by HCV infection. Unlike single protein expression experiments, this system better represents the natural course of HCV infection. Most studies that have used the HCVcc system have reported pro-apoptotic effects resulting from HCV infection. However, there are some discrepancies regarding the mechanism of apoptosis induction. In contrast, several groups have reported anti-apoptotic effects of virus infection on certain apoptotic pathways by using HCVcc.

Zhu *et al.* were the first to use the JFH1 strain to study apoptosis [448]. They developed a new human hepatoma cell line, LH86, which was more differentiated than the Huh-7.5 cell line. These cells supported JFH1 infection, but the efficiency of infection was low. Infection of these cell resulted in the induction of TRAIL and its receptors (DR4, DR5), which induced apoptosis. Mateu *et al.* also reported induction of apoptosis in Huh-7.5 cells infected with a chimeric virus containing the genome sequence from core to p7 of the J6 strain (a genotype 2a strain) and the reminder of the genome obtained from the JFH1 strain [449]. Furthermore, HCV-induced apoptosis was reported by Sekine-Osajima *et al.* in Huh-7.5.1 ( a cell line derived from the Huh-7.5 GFP-HCV replicon cell line that is known to be highly permissive to HCV replication) infected with a tissue culture-adapted strain of JFH1 [450,451]. This adapted strain contained 9 amino acid

substitutions, 5 of which were located in the NS5B coding region. Apoptosis was caused by the induction of ER stress in these cells. In a second study, this group analysed the amino acid substitutions reported earlier and found that introduction of one or all of three mutations (C2441S, P2938S and R2985P located in NS5A and NS5B) into the parental JFH1 strain resulted in a higher replicative efficiency and resulted in increased cytopathic effects [452]. Furthermore, Deng L et al. reported an induction of apoptosis in Huh-7.5 cells infected with J6/JFH1 virus [453]. The apoptosis was induced by Bax activation and the activation of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. In contrast to previous findings. Deng L et al. reported that HCV infection does not cause ER stress. In a follow-up study, this group reported that the HCV-induced Bax activation is caused by the upregulation of the pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 protein family member Bim [454]. This upregulation is stimulated by the oxidative stress, and it required the activation of JNK pathway. Apoptosis of J6/JFH1 infected Huh-7.5 was also reported by Walters et al. [455]. Analysis of the transcriptional response to HCV infection in Huh-7.5, and in liver biopsies obtained from HCV-infected patients, revealed that the HCV-induced apoptosis is caused by the induction of cell cycle arrest. Further analyses showed that cell cycle arrest occurs at the G1 phase of the cell cycle in infected cells. In agreement with this, Kannan et al. also reported the induction of apoptosis in infected Huh-7.5 cells as a result of cell cycle arrest [456]. However, this group reported that the cell cycle arrest occurs at the interface of the G2 and mitosis phases of the cell cycle.

The HCVcc system was also used to study the effect of HCV infection on death ligand-induced apoptosis. This is particularly important to understand how HCV infection

affects the efficiency of the immune cells-mediated killing of infected hepatocytes. Lan *et al.* reported that infecting Huh-7.5 cells or PHH with JFH1 sensitizes them to TRAILinduced apoptosis [457]. This sensitization was caspase-9 dependent and it was mediated by non-structural proteins. The same effect of HCV infection on TRAIL-induced apoptosis was also reported by Deng *et al.* who proposed that this effect was caused by the upregulation of TRAIL receptors DR4 and DR5 by a mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/ extracellular signal–regulated kinase (ERK) kinase 1 (MEK-1)-dependent pathway [444]. Finally, Park *et al.* reported that HCV infection sensitizes infected cells to TNF- $\alpha$ -induced apoptosis by inhibiting the pro-survival NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, which results in the downregulation of a group of pro-survival proteins including XIAP, Bcl-xL and cFLIP [442].

Anti-apoptotic effects of HCV infection have also been reported by using the HCVcc system. Liu *et al.* reported that HCV infection of Huh-7.5 cells caused a transient activation of the pro-survival PI3K-Akt pathway [458]. This activation was detectable only at the early stages of infection and resulted in enhancement of viral entry. Furthermore, HCV infection induced mitochondrial fission and mitophagy (the selective removal of defective mitochondria by autophagy) [459]. These two processes in turn protect the cell from undergoing apoptosis. Finally, Lee *et al.* demonestrated that infection with a luciferase gene-containing derivative of JFH-1 stimulated the expression of GRP94 in Huh-7 cells [423]. This resulted in activation of the pro-survival NF- $\kappa$ B pathway and inhibited TRAIL-induced apoptosis.

#### 1.7 HCV pathogenesis and the possible role of programmed cell death.

HCV infection progresses to chronicity in 75%-85% of the cases [13]. Those chronically infected patients are at risk of developing severe liver diseases including liver fibrosis, cirrhosis and HCC [460]. The mechanism by which these liver diseases develop is poorly understood. This limits our ability to develop new treatment strategies to prevent or reduce the risk of the progression of HCV-induced liver diseases. This is particularly, important in light of the fact that the accessibility to DAAs is still very limited and that this treatment does not eliminate the risk of development of HCC [461]. An accumulating body of evidence suggest that the induction of programmed cell death in the HCV-infected liver plays a role in the pathogenic process. The proposed mechanisms by which apoptosis contribute to the development of liver disease are discussed in more detail below and outlined in Fig. 1.3.

Liver fibrosis occurs as a response to chronic liver injury. Such injuries can result from drugs, autoimmunity or infection. If untreated, continuous liver fibrosis progresses to cause liver cirrhosis [462]. Liver cirrhosis is an advanced stage of liver fibrosis that is characterized by deformation of the liver vasculature and can lead to fatal complications including liver failure, esophageal varices and HCC [462-464]. Hepatic stellate cells (HSC) are the main contributor to fibrosis. These cells present normally in a quiescent state and play a role in vitamin A storage [465]. Once activated, HSCs undergo several changes including: the transformation to a myofibroblast-like phenotype, losing vitamin A storage, enhancing the expression of the pro-fibrogenic proteins (collagens) and starting to proliferate [466]. The production of large amounts of collagen-rich





Schematic representation of the proposed mechanisms for the role of apoptosis and pyroptosis in the development of the progressive liver disease. Apoptotic cells form apoptotic bodies, which are engulfed by kupffer cells (KC) and HSCs. This results in KC and HSC production of TGF- $\beta$ , which plays a central role in liver pathogeneses. TGF- $\beta$  stimulates the expression of the pro-fibrogenic genes in HSCs and induces EMT. Continued unresolved fibrosis progresses to cirrhosis, and EMT contributes in the development of HCC. Pyroptosis of the hepatocytes participates in creating an inflammatory environment in the liver, which also contributes to the progression to cirrhosis and predispose the liver to HCC.
extracellular matrix (ECM) by the activated HSCs causes fibrosis of the affected liver tissue.

Hepatocytes apoptosis can stimulate the liver fibrosis. As mentioned above (section 1.5.1.1), at late stages of the apoptotic pathway, the cells dissociate by forming apoptotic bodies. Engulfment of these apoptotic bodies by resident macrophages or HSCs has been reported to activate these cells to produce TGF- $\beta$  [467-469]. TGF- $\beta$  in turn, plays a central role in the activation of several pathogenic pathways. TGF- $\beta$  is considered the most pro-fibrotic cytokine. It acts in an autocrine or a paracrine manner on HSCs to activate them and promote their production and deposition of collagen and other ECM, which hastens liver fibrosis [470,471]. TGF- $\beta$  was also reported to induce a biological process known as epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) in which the cells gradually lose their epithelial and hepatic cell markers and gain mesenchymal cell markers instead [472]. It is still not clear whether the EMT of the hepatocytes can contribute to the fibrogenic process. Hepatocyte EMT was reported by some groups to contribute to the process of fibrosis [473-475]. However, other reports contradict these findings, demonestrating that EMT by hepatocytes has no contribution to fibrosis [476].

HCC is the fifth of the most common type of cancer and the third leading cause of cancer-related death globally [477]. HCV-related HCC was reported to be the fastest-rising cause of cancer-related death in the USA [478]. Unlike the majority of other cancers, which develop in relatively healthy tissue, most of the HCV-related HCC cases develop in a background of advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis [477]. The mechanisms by which HCC develops in the HCV-infected liver are not understood. Persistent

inflammation and progressive fibrosis are believed to act in concert to create a procarcinogenic environment in the HCV-infected liver (reviewed in [479]). The apoptosisinduced TGF- $\beta$  production in the HCV-infected liver can also play a role in HCC development. Apart from its pro-fibrogenic role, TGF- $\beta$  was reported to have two opposing direct effects on cancer development at different stages of the disease. At the early stages, TGF- $\beta$  acts as a tumor suppressor by causing cell cycle arrest and inducing apoptosis [472,480]. In contrast, at late stages, TGF- $\beta$ -induced EMT increases cell survival and promotes invasiveness and metastasis of HCC [472,474,481].

Induction of pyroptosis could play a significant role in HCV-induced pathogenesis. The pro-inflammatory nature of this form of cell death contributes to HCV-induced chronic inflammation. DAMPs released from lysed pyroptotic cells can recruit immune cells and promote inflammation [482]. This chronic inflammation, in turn, is known to be an important driver for the pathogenic process in the HCV-infected liver. Activated inflammatory cells contribute to the generation of a pro-carcinogenic environment by the production of ROS and reactive nitrogen species, and cause lipid peroxidation [483]. Activation of the NF-κB pathway (a hallmark of the inflammatory response) can also be involved in fibrogenesis as well as in the initiation and progression of HCC in the chronically infected liver (reviewed in [484]). Several other reports showed an association between the degree of liver inflammation, and the development of HCC [477,485,486]. Besides that, inflammation and the release of ROS, inflammatory cytokines and chemokines by kupffer cells (KCs) are believed to induce the activation of HSCs, thus promoting fibrosis of the liver (reviewed in [487,488]).

## **1.8 Project design and research questions.**

As demonstrated in the previous sections, induction of different forms of programmed cell death by HCV infection could be an important factor for the development of the pathogenic changes in the infected liver. The induction of apoptosis by HCV has been studied extensively. However, as described in section 1.6, within the literature there is considerable discrepancy regarding the effects of HCV infection on induction of apoptotic pathways. Furthermore, the mechanism by which this apoptosis is induced is still vague. Some of this discrepancy is attributed to the use of minimal systems that either do not reflect the complete life cycle of the virus, or rely on virus replication that is too low to accurately reflect-physiological HCV infection. We believe that the use of the tissue culture adapted JFH1<sub>T</sub> strain will better represent the natural infection, as this strain is a non-chimeric virus that can replicate to high levels comparable to physiological infection.

In the first part of this study, the ability of HCV to induce apoptosis, in the absence of any immune cells, was investigated by using an HCVcc system. Stocks of virus (JFH1<sub>T</sub> strain) were prepared and used to infect Huh-7.5 cells. The effect of HCV infection on several features related to apoptosis were tested, including viability, proliferation rate, DNA fragmentation and the cleavage/activation of caspase-3. The effect of caspase-3 inhibition on HCV-induced cell death was tested to confirm that the observed cell death was indeed due to apoptosis. The effect of HCV infection on the activation caspase-8 and the effect of inhibiting caspase-8 specifically on the HCV-induced apoptosis were also tested to investigate whether HCV can induce the activation of the extrinsic pathway.

In the second part of the project, the ability of HCV to induce apoptosis in neighbouring uninfected cells (bystander apoptosis) was investigated. This concept had not been studied before in the context of HCV infection. Bystander apoptosis has been described before in the context of HIV infection, where it is found to be responsible for CD4+ T cell depletion [489,490]. mechanism of programmed cell death in HCV might contribute to the overall pathogenesis of the virus. HCV might stimulate the infected cells to express death ligands or to produce death-inducing soluble mediators in an attempt to avoid being killed by immune cells. Such a mechanism might also affect neighbouring uninfected hepatocytes. To study the possibility of the induction of bystander apoptosis, a co-culture system containing Huh-7.5 cells and HCV non-permissive cells was designed. In this system, induction of apoptosis in the non-permissive cells is indicative of bystander apoptosis.

In the third part of this study we investigated the ability of HCV infection to induce pyroptosis in infected and neighbouring uninfected cells. Induction of the proinflammatory pyroptosis could have a significant impact on the overall pathogenesis of HCV infection, but has not been studied in the context of HCV infection to date. However pyroptosis has been demonstrated in HIV infection as well as in the closely related Dengue virus [491,492]. Pyroptosis was found to be induced in the hepatocytes of constitutively activated NLRP3 knock-in mice, and the activation of this pathway increased inflammation and activated hepatic stellate cells (HSCs), thus hastening fibrosis in the liver of the mice [493]. In this project, we exploited our adapted HCVcc system to study the induction of pyroptosis in infected hepatocytes in the absence of any effect of the immune cells. This was done by measuring the activation of caspase-1 and measuring the effect of caspase-1 inhibition on HCV-induced cell death. We also studied the ability of HCV to induce bystander pyroptosis using a co-culture system.

# 1.9 Objectives.

The objectives of this project are:

- To study the effect of HCV infection on the induction of apoptosis in infected cells in the absence of immune cells.
- 2- To study the ability of HCV infection to induce apoptosis in neighbouring uninfected cells.
- 3- To study the ability of HCV infection to induce pyroptosis in infected and neighbouring cells in the absence of immune cells.
- 4- To analyze the effect of HCV infection on different PCD pathways underlying HCVinduced apoptosis and/or pyroptosis.

## **Chapter 2: Materials and methods**

## 2.1 Cell culture.

Infection, transfection and co-culture experiments were performed by using Huh-7.5, S29 and 293T cells [184,187]. All of these three types of cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (Invitrogen). The medium was supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Invitrogen) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen) and referred to as complete medium. The cells were cultured in 15 cm dishes and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO2 incubator. Most of the infection, transfection, and co-culture experiments were carried out in 10 cm dishes. The 10 cm dishes were seeded with 1,000,000 cells, 24 hours before the infection/transfection.

The cells were split every 72 hours up to 30-35 passages. Splitting the cells was performed by aspirating the complete medium and washing the cells 1X with 3 ml of trypsin (Invitrogen). Seven ml of trypsin were then added to cover the cells and incubated at 37°C for 5-6 minutes. Following that, the trypsin was inactivated by adding 10 ml of the complete medium to the plate then harvesting the cells to a 50 ml tube. A second wash of the plate was done with another 10 ml of complete medium to collect the remaining cells in the plate. The cells were then centrifuged and re-suspended in 20 ml medium. Finally, the cells were counted and 2,000,000 cells were returned to a new 15 cm plate containing fresh complete medium.

### 2.2 Plasmid preparation and viral RNA transfection.

Stock amounts of the JFH1<sub>T</sub> plasmid or the MLV-GFP plasmid were prepared by cloning into the commercially available DH-5 $\alpha$  bacterial cells (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The plasmids were then purified from the bacterial culture by using the commercially available Maxiprep Kit (Qiagen). JFH1<sub>T</sub> plasmid was linearized by the restriction enzyme XbaI (Invitrogen). HCV RNA was then generated by *in-vitro* transcribing the linearized plasmid by using the T7 Megascript kit (Ambion). The RNA was then transfected into Huh-7.5 cells grown on a 10 cm plates (prepared 24 hours in advance by seeding 1,000,000 Huh-7.5 cell/10 cm plate). The transfection was performed by using DMRIE-C reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

In the co-culture experiments, the MLV-GFP plasmid was transfected into S29 or 293T cells grown on 24-well plates (200,000 cell/well, plated 24 hours in advance) by using Lipofectamine 2000 kit (Invitrogen). The protocol for the 24-well plate provided by the manufacturer was followed with doubling the amount of plasmid used. This was found to give better transfection efficiency.

# **2.3** Generation of the virus stock, Infection and titer determination.

For this study, we used JFH1<sub>T</sub>, a tissue culture-adapted strain of JFH-1 containing three adaptive mutations within E2, p7 and NS2 [187,494]. To generate virus stocks, 1 x  $10^{6}$  Huh-7.5 cells were seeded in 10 cm culture dishes and cultured overnight. The following day, cells were transfected with *in vitro*-transcribed viral RNA representing cell culture-adapted JFH1<sub>T</sub> using DMRIE-C reagent (Invitrogen) as previously described.

Virus-containing medium from transfected cells was collected three days posttransfection and virus titre was determined using a limiting dilution focus-forming assay described below [451]. Titred virus-containing medium was inoculated onto virus-naive Huh-7.5 cells for 3 hours at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.5. Following inoculation, culture medium was replaced with fresh complete medium and cells were cultured for three days. Virus-containing infection culture medium was then passaged on naïve Huh-7.5 for an additional round of infection in order to eliminate residual input RNA. Culture fluids were then harvested and clarified through Millex-HV 45µm filters (Millipore).

Virus titre was determined by performing a 10-fold serial dilution of the virus stock followed by infection in 8-well chamber slides that had been seeded with 50,000 Huh-7.5 cells/well on the previous day. Three days post-infection (p.i.), slides were stained with anti-HCV core antibody (B2, Anogen), followed by goat anti-mouse Alex Fluor® 488 (Invitrogen), and the number of foci in the highest positive dilution were counted. From this number the titre was expressed as focus forming units per millilitre (FFU/ml).

# 2.4 Immunostaining for indirect immunofluorescence.

Medium was aspirated from the wells of the 8-chamber slides and cells were washed by immersing the slide in 1X phosphate-buffered saline (pH=7.4; PBS) for 2 minutes. The cells were then fixed and permeablized by immersing the slide in 100% acetone for 2 minutes. For HCV core staining, the slides were covered with mouse monoclonal anti-HCV core antibody (B2, Anogen) diluted 1:200 in 5% BSA in PBS for 20 minutes. Slides were washed in PBS for 5 minutes, then incubated for 20 minutes with the secondary antibody (goat anti-mouse Alexa Fluor® 488; Invitrogen) diluted 1:100 in PBS. The slides were then washed and mounted with Vectashield Hard Set mounting medium containing DAPI (Vector Laboratories). The slides were examined at 10X and 20X magnifications on a Zeiss Axio Imager.M2 immunofluorescence microscope.

In the cleaved caspase-8 experiment, the same protocol above was followed with the addition of an extra primary and an extra secondary antibody. The primary antibody solution contained two antibodies the HCV-core antibody described above and a rabbit monoclonal cleaved caspase-8 (Asp391) antibody (Cell Signaling) diluted at 1:100 in the primary antibody solution. In the secondary antibody step, a goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor® 594 IgG antibody (Invitrogen) was added diluted 1:200. The slides were examined at a 10X and 20X magnification on a Zeiss Axio Imager.M2 immunofluorescence microscope.

## 2.5 MTT (3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide) assay.

In a 96-well plate, 5,000 Huh-7.5 cells were seeded in 100  $\mu$ l of complete medium per well. The next day, cells were infected at different MOIs (1, 2, and 4) by aspirating the medium covering the cells and replacing it with 50  $\mu$ l of the appropriate virus stock to give the desired MOI. A volume of 50  $\mu$ l of complete medium was pipetted into the uninfected control wells. After 4 hours of incubation, the virus inocula were aspirated and replaced with 100  $\mu$ l of fresh medium. The plates were then incubated at 37°C for 72 hours until the day of MTT assay. MTT (3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5 diphenyl tetrazolium bromide) was prepared at 5 mg/ml PBS and diluted 1:10 in complete medium to generate the MTT working stock. Medium was removed from wells and replaced with

100  $\mu$ l of MTT working stock, then incubated for 4 hours at 37°C. Following incubation, liquid was removed from the wells carefully so as not to disturb the formazan crystals that had formed at the bottom of the wells. These crystals were then dissolved by adding 100  $\mu$ l of DMSO to each well and lightly shaking the plate for 10 minutes. The optical density of the solution in the wells was then read on a plate reader at 540 nm.

## **2.6 CFSE (Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester) assay.**

Huh-7.5 cells were seeded in 10 cm dishes at 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/dish and infected on the next day at an MOI of 2 for 4 hours. The cells were then harvested and washed with complete medium, then incubated for 15 minutes in a pre-warmed (37°C) solution containing 10 µM Carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFDA-SE) in PBS. The CFDA-SE solution was then removed and replaced by complete medium. Cells were then incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C then harvested for time 0. Alternatively, one sixth of the total number of cells was transferred to each of the wells of a 6-well plate. The cells were incubated at 37°C and harvested every 24 hours until 5 days. Cells were examined daily by light microscopy to ensure that the cells were not confluent. At each time point, cells were harvested, fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde in PBS, and washed with PBS. Finally, the CFSE intensity in the cells was measured by flow cytometer in the FL1-H channel of a Becton Dickinson FACS Calibur.

# 2.7 Propidium iodide (PI) staining and cell cycle analysis.

Huh-7.5 cells were seeded in 10 cm dishes at 1 x  $10^6$  cells/dish and infected on the next day at an MOI of 1. The PI staining protocol used here was adapted with minor modifications from the standard method reported by Riccardi and Nicoletti [495]. Briefly,

cells were harvested and fixed by resuspending them in 0.5 ml of PBS then adding 4.5 ml of cold 70% ethanol slowly to each of the tubes while on ice, then stored at -20°C until all cells were ready to be stained. To prepare for PI staining, the cells were centrifuged at 400 x g for 5 minutes and supernatants discarded. The cells were washed and resuspended in 0.5 ml of PBS, 0.5 ml of DNA extraction buffer was added, and incubated for 5 minutes. Next, cells were pelleted as above, supernatants were removed, and the cells were resuspended in 1ml of DNA staining solution and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. The DNA extraction buffer and the DNA staining solution were prepared as described in [495]. The DNA extraction buffer was prepared by mixing 192 ml of 0.2 M of Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> with 8 ml of 0.1% Triton X-100 (pH=7.8). The DNA staining solution was prepared immediately before use by dissolving 200 µg of PI in 10 ml of PBS containing 2 mg of DNase-free RNase. PI intensity in the stained cells was measured using a Becton Dickinson FACS Calibur. Cellular debris and doublets were gated out during the analysis. Cellular debris were gated out during the analysis by excluding the cells with low forward scatter values. Doublets were also gated-out by plotting the FL2-A vs. FL2-W on a linear scale. Following that, the hypodiploid cells with an intensity lower than that of the diploid cells (G1) were counted.

# 2.8 DNA laddering assay.

Huh-7.5 cells were infected at an MOI of 1 as previously described. The DNA laddering assay procedure was adapted from the protocol reported by Gong *et al.* with some modifications [496]. Briefly, cells were harvested at time 0 (immediately after infection) and every 24 hours for 5 days. The cells were resuspended in 1 ml of PBS and

transferred to 10 ml of ice-cold 70% ethanol (Cells could be stored following this step at -20°C for weeks). Then, the ethanol-containing supernatants were removed by centrifugation and the cell pellets were resuspended in 40  $\mu$ l of phosphate-citrate buffer (prepared by mixing 192 parts of 0.2M Na2HPO4 and 8 parts of 0.1 M citric acid, pH=7.8). The cells were incubated in the phosphate-citrate buffer for 30 minutes during which the tubes were vortexed every 10 minutes. The cells were then spin down at 1000 g and the supernatants were collected and transferred to new tubes. Three  $\mu$ l of 0.25 Nonide NP-40 and 3  $\mu$ l of 1 mg/ml of RNase were added to each tube and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C. Following that, 5  $\mu$ l of 1 mg/ml of proteinase K were added to each tube and incubated for another 30 minutes at 37°C. The solutions were then mixed with the loading buffer, loaded on a 2% agarose gel and run at 4 V/cm for 4 hours. The DNA laddering was detected by ethedium bromide staining under UV light.

# 2.9 SDS-PAGE and western blotting.

The cell lysates were harvested from the infected (MOI of 1) or control cells at the specific time point by using the passive lysis buffer (Promega) and according to the manufacturer's instructions. Lysates was mixed at a 2:1 ratio with the 3X loading dye for SDS-PAGE. The lysates were run in 15% SDS-PAGE and then transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes using the western blotting system obtained from Bio-Rad<sup>®</sup> and according to the standard protocol. The membranes were incubated overnight with the specific dilution of the cleaved caspase-8 (Asp391)(18C8) rabbit monoclonal antibody (Cell Signaling) in TBS-T buffer. The specific dilution of the antibody recommended by the manufacturer was used.

## 2.10 Immunostaining for flow cytometry.

Cleavage of PARP and caspase-3 were detected using primary antibodies specific for the cleaved forms of these proteins [Cleaved PARP (Asp214) (D64E10) Rabbit mAb and Cleaved Caspase-3 (Asp175) (5A1E) Rabbit mAb] using the staining protocol recommended by the manufacturer (Cell Signaling Technology). Briefly, infected or control cells were harvested, washed with 5 ml of PBS, then fixed by resuspending the cell pellet in 4% paraformaldehyde at 37°C for 10 minutes. The tubes were then chilled on ice for 1 minute and permeabilized by resuspending the cell pellet in ice-cold 90% methanol for 30 minutes. The cells were incubated on ice in this solution for 30 minutes or alternatively can be stored in this solution at -20°C for up to 4 weeks. Cells were then washed twice with the incubation buffer (0.5% BSA in PBS) and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature in the presence of the recommended dilution of primary antibody (1:800 for both). Next, the cells were washed with 3 ml of incubation buffer, then incubated for 30 minutes with Alex Fluor® 647 anti-rabbit secondary antibody (Cell Signaling Technology) diluted at 1:400. Cells are then washed and resuspended in 0.5 ml of PBS, then analyzed by flow cytometry using the Becton Dickinson FACS Calibur.

# 2.11 Caspase and NLRP3 inhibitors.

All caspase inhibitors were dissolved in DMSO according to the manufacturer's instructions (R&D Systems). The inhibitors used were Z-VAD-FMK (pan-caspase inhibitor), Z-IETD-FMK (caspase-8 inhibitor), Z-DEVD-FMK (caspase-3 inhibitor) and Z-WEHD-FMK (caspase-1 inhibitor). The NLRP3 inhibitor (MCC950; Cayman Chemical Company) was dissolved in DMSO to give a stock solution of 0.5 mg/ml. A

working stock of 0.1  $\mu$ M was prepared fresh in complete medium on the day of the experiment. To ensure efficient inhibition over the extent of the four day experiment, at 48 hours p.i., medium was removed and replaced with medium containing freshly prepared inhibitors.

## 2.12 Measurement of active caspase-1.

To measure the levels of active caspase-1, FAM-FLICATM Caspase-1 Assay Kits were used (ImmunoChemistry Technologies). Briefly, Huh-7.5 cells were seeded in 6-well plates (150,000 cells/well) and infected at an MOI of 1. Four days later, the cells were harvested by trypsinization and stained with FAM-YVAD-FMK according to the manufacturer's instructions. In co-culture experiments where GFP was included, the FLICA® 660 Caspase-1 Assay Kit, which employs a far-red fluorescent caspase-1 inhibitor, was used.

# 2.13 Double staining with PI and anti-HCV core.

This protocol is a combination of the PI staining protocol described previously (section 2.7) and the HCV-core staining described by Kannan *et al.* with some modifications [456]. Briefly, infected (MOI of 1) or control cells were harvested by trypsinization and washed with PBS. The cells were fixed in ice-cold 70% ethanol then washed with PBS, then permeabilized using 0.2% Triton X-100. Next, the cells were resuspended in a solution containing mouse anti-HCV-core antibody (C7-50, Thermo scientific) diluted 1:400 in 1% BSA, 0.1% tween 20 in PBS and incubated for 1 hour. Following that, the cells were washed and reconstituted in the DNA extraction buffer for 5 minutes (section 2.7). The cells were then washed and reconstituted in the secondary

antibody (goat anti-mouse Alexa Fluor® 647, Invitrogen) diluted 1:400 in 1% BSA in PBS. Next, the cells were washed twice with PBS and resuspended in DNA staining solution (section 2.7). Finally, the cells were analysed using a Becton Dickinson FACS Calibur flow cytometer.

# 2.14 Co-culture assay.

On the day before initiation of co-culture, 293T or S29 cells (both non-permissive) were seeded in antibiotic-free medium at  $2 \times 10^5$  cells/well in a 24-well plate. In parallel, 10 cm dishes were prepared each containing  $1 \times 10^6$  Huh-7.5 cells (permissive). Next day, non-permissive cells were transfected with a GFP expression plasmid using Lipofectamine 2000 reagent (Invitrogen) and incubated for 4 hours. In parallel, permissive Huh-7.5 cells were infected with virus at an MOI of 1 and incubated for 3 hours. Immediately following transfection/infection, GFP-transfected non-permissive S29/293T cells were trypsinized, washed thoroughly with complete medium, then combined with infected or uninfected Huh-7.5 cells at a ratio of 1:5 (S29/293T:Huh-7.5). After four days of co-culture, cells were harvested and stained with cleaved PARP-specific antibody, cleaved caspase-3-specific antibody, or FAM-YVAD-FMK as described above.

To analyze contact dependence of HCV-induced cell death, co-culture experiments were performed in 10 cm transwell plates containing an inserts with a diameter of 7.5 cm and pore size of 0.4  $\mu$ m (Corning). Huh-7.5 cells were seeded at 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/dish and 2 x 10<sup>5</sup> S29 cells were placed in the insert. Huh-7.5 cells were infected at an MOI of 1 and then the S29-containing insert was placed in the dish. The cells were incubated for four

days, then the S29 cells were harvested and stained with either cleaved caspase-3-specific antibody or FAM-YVAD-FMK as described above. The schematic representation of the co-culture method is illustrated in (figure 2.1).

# 2.15 Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) assay.

Huh-7.5 cells were seeded in 10 cm dishes at 1 x  $10^6$  cells/dish and infected on the next day at an MOI of 1. Four days later, 1 ml of the culture medium was collected and clarified. LDH activity was measured using the Pierce<sup>TM</sup> LDH Cytotoxicity Assay Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

# 2.16 Statistical analysis.

The data was expressed as the mean  $\pm$ - the standard deviation (SD). Statistical significance was analyzed using the paired Student's t-test. A *p* value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.



Figure 2.1 Schematic representation of the co-culture method for detecting bystander cell death.

S29 or 293T cells were seeded in 24-well plates then transfected with a GFP expression plasmid. Simultaneously, Huh-7.5 cells were infected at MOI of 1. Following the transfection, the S29/293T cells were trypsinized and washed twice, then co-cultured with the infected Huh-7.5 cells at a ratio of 1:5. Four days later, cells were harvested, stained and analysed by flow cytometry. Gating on the GFP positive cells was used to detect the effect specifically on the S29/293T cells.

#### **Chapter 3: Results - HCV infection induces apoptosis**

Some of the results described in this Chapter, along with additional data presented in Chapters 4 and 5, are included in a manuscript that is currently accepted pending revisions at *Scientific Reports*.

# 3.1 HCV infection reduced the viability of the Huh-7.5 cells.

We initially observed by microscopic examination that infecting Huh-7.5 cells with HCV (JFH1<sub>T</sub> strain) resulted in a reduction in the total number of cells growing in the dish (as the infected cells appeared less confluent). In addition, many of the cells in the dishes containing virus were floating in the medium instead of being attached to the plate as they are normally. These initial observations prompted us to investigate the reason for these observations and to test the cytopathic and/or cytostatic effects of HCV infection. To achieve this, we started our investigation by performing an MTT assay to test the effect of HCV infection on the total metabolic activity of the infected cell population, which reflects the total number of viable cells.

An MTT assay was performed at two time points, on days three and four p.i. To confirm that the observed effect was virus-specific, we infected Huh-7.5 cells at three different MOIs: 1, 2, and 4. The results of this experiment (Fig. 3.1) showed that HCV infection significantly reduced the total number of viable cells, and a greater reduction was observed on day four compared to day 3 p.i. The reduction in viability was associated with the MOI used, where higher MOIs caused greater reductions in the viability. This association was more obvious on day 3 post infection. On day 4 p.i., there was no significant difference between the reduction caused by the high MOIs (2 and 4). This is



В



A

# Figure 3.1 HCV infection reduced the total viability of the infected cell population.

Huh-7.5 cells were infected with JFH1<sub>T</sub> at MOIs of 1, 2 and 4. Three days p.i. (**A**) or four days p.i. (**B**) the total viability of the cells was tested by MTT assay. This data is representative of three independent experiments in (A) and two independent experiments in (B), and is expressed as mean cell viability compared to the uninfected control +/- SD from three replicates.

probably the result of achieving a very high percentage (close to 100%) of infected cells in advance of performing the MTT assay on day four, which could mask the effect of the differences between these very high MOIs. These lower levels of total cellular viability could result from either a reduction in the proliferation rate or increased cell death in the infected cell population. For this reason, both of these two possibilities were investigated independently.

### **3.2 HCV infection caused a reduction in the proliferation rate of the infected cells.**

The reduction in the proliferation rate and the cell cycle arrest of the HCV-infected cells was reported previously by using other versions of HCVcc [455,456]. The possibility that a similar effect is occurring in our system and that this could be responsible, at least partially, for the observed reduction in the viability was tested using a CFSE dilution assay. Huh-7.5 cells were infected at MOI of 2 or left uninfected and then stained with the CFSE. As mentioned in detail in section 2.6, CFSE is a dye that is sequestered inside the cell by covalent coupling to intracellular molecules. Cell division results in splitting the cellular CFSE content between the two daughter cells and each subsequent round of division results in higher dilution of the cellular content of CFSE. Hence, monitoring the intensity of this dye in the cell population is a very useful tool for tracking cellular proliferation [497].

We investigated the effect of HCV infection on the proliferation rate by measuring the CFSE intensities in both the infected and uninfected cell populations at different time points. The time points chosen started from time zero (which is the mean intensity measured immediately after infection and labelling) and every 24 h for up to 5 days. We





B

A

77

# Figure 3.2 HCV infection caused a reduction in the proliferation rate.

Huh7.5 cells were infected at MOI of 2, then labelled with CFSE stain. Cells were harvested immediately after labelling (Day 0) and on each day for 5 days p.i. CFSE labelling intensity was measured by flow cytometry. (A) CFSE labelling intensity of infected and control cell populations on days 0, 1, 3 and 5. Data presented in this figure are representative of three independent repeats of this experiment (B) Mean CFSE intensities of the infected and control cell populations on day four p.i. Data is presented as the mean CFSE intensity of three independent repeats of the experiment, expressed as the percentage of CFSE intensity compared to the maximum intensity measured at time zero,  $\pm$  SD. \* *P* < 0.05 (Student's t-test).

observed higher CSFE intensities in the infected populations than the uninfected (Fig. 3.2A). These differences became statistically significant on day four p.i. (Fig. 3.2B) when the mean CFSE intensity of the infected population was more than double that of the uninfected cell population. This result indicated that (on average) the infected cells had undergone one cycle of cell division less than did the control cells. This means that HCV infection causes a reduction in the proliferation rate, which is in agreement with previous reports [455,456].

# **3.3 HCV infection induced caspase-dependent, DNA fragmentation-inducing programmed cell death.**

Concurrently, we tested the possibility that HCV induces programmed cell death (PCD) in the infected cell population. This can also cause a reduction in the total number of viable cells detected by the MTT assay. To achieve this, two features of PCD were tested: caspase activation and DNA fragmentation.

First, the role of caspase activation in the viability reduction seen in the HCV-infected population was tested. Apoptosis and pyroptosis are two types of PCD that are both dependent on activation of caspases. To test the possibility that the reduction in viability was caused by induction of one or both of these forms of PCD, we tested the effect of blocking the activation of caspases on the total viability of the HCV-infected Huh-7.5 cell population. Infected (MOIs of 1 and 2) or uninfected control cells were treated with the pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK. The effect of this treatment on viability was then measured by MTT assay. The results of this experiment showed that the inhibition of caspases by Z-VAD-FMK increased the total viability of the HCV-infected population of

cells (Fig. 3.3A). This effect was specific for the reduction in the viability caused by HCV infection as treating the uninfected cells with Z-VAD-FMK did not increase their viability. This result indicated that caspase-dependent PCD was induced and contributed to the reduction in viability observed in response to HCV infection.

To confirm that apoptosis or pyroptosis are induced by HCV infection, we tested a second feature of those two forms of programmed cell death, which is the induction of DNA fragmentation. As described previously (section 1.5.1.1), internucleosomal DNA fragmentation is one of the hallmarks of apoptosis. As a result of this, the DNA of apoptotic cells becomes fragmented into segments equivalent to the DNA content of one nucleosome (180 bp) or oligonuccleosomes. Running the DNA of apoptotic cells on agarose gel electrophoresis gives characteristic bands at multiples of 180 bp [498,499]. Aside from the classical laddering assay, DNA fragmentation during apoptosis provides the basis for many other apoptosis detection tests, including the detection of the hypodiploid cells in a cell cycle analysis [495,500]. Pyroptosis can also result in formation of hypodiploid cells as it is also known to cause DNA fragmentation (described in section 1.5.2).

DNA fragmentation in the HCV-infected cell population was tested first by the classical DNA laddering assay. The low molecular weight DNA was extracted from HCV-infected Huh-7.5 cells immediately after the infection (day 0) and every 24 hours up to day 5 p.i. The results of this assay showed a faint laddering appearing first on day 3 p.i. The highest laddering intensity was seen on day 4 p.i. (Fig. 3.3B). Laddering was also detected on day 5 p.i., but the intensity of the bands were less than that seen on day 4 p.i.



B



A



D

С



#### Figure 3.3 HCV infection induced a caspase-dependent, DNA fragmenting PCD.

(A) Huh-7.5 cells were infected at MOIs of 1 or 2 then incubated for 96 hours in complete medium containing either 20 µM of the pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK or an equivalent volume of DMSO as a control. Viability was measured on day 4 p.i. by MTT assay. The data presented in this figure is representative of two independent experiments in which each sample was tested in triplicate. The data is presented as the percentage of the viability compared to the uninfected control. (B) DNA laddering assay to detect DNA fragmentation. Huh-7.5 cells were infected at MOI of 1, low molecular weight DNA was extracted immediately after infection (day 0) and every 24 hours up to 5 days p.i. The data presented in this figure is representative of three independent experiments. Original gel image was spliced to remove an empty lane (C) & (D) Huh-7.5 cells were infected at MOI of 1 or left uninfected, the cells were harvested after 72 hours, or 96 hours p.i. Huh-7.5 cells incubated in complete medium containing 50 ng/ml of actinomycin D for 48 hours (due to potency) were used as a positive control. The harvested cells were permeabilized and stained with PI, then cell cycle analysis was performed and the percentage of hypodiploid cells was determined. The uninfected cell population presented in (C) was harvested 96 hours p.i. The data is presented in (D) as the mean percentage of the hypodiploid cells for four independent experiments +/- SD. ns: Not significant, \* P <0.05 (Student's t-test).

This is most probably due to the lower number of cells that remained intact until day 5 p.i due to the extensive cell death that occurred on day 4 p.i. No DNA laddering was detected in the uninfected cells even after 5 days of incubation (data not shown), meaning that this laddering is specifically induced by HCV infection. The induction of DNA fragmentation in HCV-infected cells was confirmed by analyzing the hypodiploid cells through cell cycle analysis. DNA fragmentation results in the formation of low molecular weight DNA fragments that can be extracted from fixed/permeabilized cells, leaving these cells with less DNA than a normal cell [495]. To test for DNA fragmentation, infected or uninfected cells were permeabilized and stained with propidium iodide (PI), which is a dye that binds to the DNA and gives fluorescence intensity that correlates with the DNA content of the nucleus. By performing a cell cycle analysis of these stained cells, the apoptotic/pyroptotic cells can be detected in the Sub-G1 region.

We were able to detect a slight increase in the number of hypodiploid cells in the infected Huh-7.5 population on day 3 p.i., however, this increase was not statistically significant (Fig. 3.3C & D). Significantly higher levels of hypodiploid cells were detected on day 4 p.i. in the infected, but not the uninfected, Huh-7.5 cells. This result confirmed that HCV infection induced DNA fragmentation in the HCV-infected population of cells. In summary, HCV infection was found to induce caspase-dependent, DNA fragmentation-inducing PCD. Both apoptosis and pyroptosis can be responsible for causing these effects. The ability of HCV infection to induce each one of these two forms of PCD was investigated separately and the results of this investigation will be presented in the next section and in Chapter 5.

## **3.4 HCV infection induced apoptosis.**

First, we tested the ability of HCV infection to induce apoptosis by performing apoptosis-specific assays. As discussed in more detail in section 1.5, one of the main characteristics that differentiate between apoptosis and pyroptosis is the type of caspase that is responsible for their induction. Regardless of the pathway that initiates apoptosis, caspase-3 and other executioner caspases are always activated in order to induce the final events that cause the demise of the cell. Pyroptosis, on the other hand, is a caspase-3-independent form of PCD that depends solely on the activation of caspase-1 (reviewed in [359]).

The activation of caspase-3 was tested first by measuring the cleavage of PARP, which is one of the main substrates of caspase-3 and its cleavage is commonly used as a marker for monitoring caspase-3 activation and apoptosis. Infected (MOI of 1) or uninfected control Huh-7.5 cells were harvested on day 4 p.i. and stained with an antibody that binds specifically to the cleaved form of PARP (cPARP), then analysed by flow cytometry. HCV infection was found to result in significantly higher numbers of cPARP-positive cells compared to the control (Fig 3.4A). However, and as discussed previously (section 1.5), some groups reported the possibility that caspase-1 activation can also cause the cleavage of PARP, which questions the specificity of this test for the detection of apoptosis. For this reason, caspase-3 activation was confirmed more specifically by staining cells with an antibody that binds to the active, cleaved form of caspase-3. In agreement with the cPARP analysis, HCV infection was found to result in significantly higher numbers of cleaved caspase-3. Positive cells compared to uninfected

cells (Fig. 3.4B). These results suggested that HCV infection caused the induction of caspase-3 activation and apoptosis.

To confirm the induction of apoptosis and the role of caspase-3 activation in HCVinduced PCD (which in this case would be classified as apoptosis), we inhibited caspase-3 specifically in HCV infected Huh-7.5 cells and monitored the effect of this inhibition on the percentage of the cells undergoing PCD. This was performed by treating HCVinfected Huh-7.5 cells with Z-DEVD-FMK (a caspase-3-specific inhibitor) and monitoring the effect of this treatment on the number of hypodiploid cells present. The results of this experiment showed that the blockade of caspase-3 caused a small, but statistically significant reduction (~25%) in the percentage of hypodiploid cells contained within the target cell population (Fig. 3.4C). This result confirmed that apoptosis is induced in the HCV-infected population.

Finally, we also observed features of apoptosis in the target cell population by electron microscopy (EM) as cell condensation and plasma membrane blebbing were clearly evident (Fig 3.4D). However, plasma membrane disruption and cellular debris were also observed, indicative of a lytic form of cell death. These observations, in combination with the relatively moderate effect of inhibiting caspase-3 on reducing the number of hypodiploid cells prompted us to question whether HCV infection also causes pyroptosis, which is known to cause DNA fragmentation, but with lysis of affected cells [360,361].





А





D



# Figure 3.4 HCV infection induced apoptosis.

Huh-7.5 cells were infected at an MOI of 1 then harvested on day 4 p.i. The harvested cells were stained for cleaved PARP in (A) or cleaved caspase-3 in (B). (C) Infected cells were grown in medium containing 100  $\mu$ M of the caspase-3 specific inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK or an equivalent volume of DMSO for 4 days, then harvested and stained with PI. (D) EM images of control or infected Huh-7.5 cells showing apoptotic features such as plasma membrane blebbing indicated by the blue arrow. The red arrow indicates cellular debris from a cell that had undergone lysis. Data are presented in A, B & C as the mean of three independent experiments +/- SD. Data presented in C represent the percentage of the hypodiploid cells compared to the untreated control. \**P* < 0.05 (Student's t-test).

# **3.5 HCV infection induced the activation of caspase-8, the initiator of the extrinsic pathway.**

After showing that HCV-infection induces apoptosis, we asked how this apoptosis is induced and what apoptotic pathways are involved in the induction of this form of cell death. The activation of the mitochondrial pathway was reported and analysed previously [453,454]. However, the effect of HCV on the extrinsic pathway has not been studied before in the context of a fully infectious HCV. To test this effect, Huh-7.5 cells were infected at an MOI of 1, and then the activation of caspase-8 was analyzed using a specific antibody that binds to the active, cleaved caspase-8. By examining the stained cells under the fluorescent microscope, we were able to visualize active caspase-8 in the infected cell population but not in the control on day 4 p.i. (Fig. 3.5A). The same antibody was used in Western blotting to study the activation of caspase-8 at different time points following the infection. Cell lysates were obtained from infected or uninfected cells every 24 hours for 4 days and the level of active caspase-8 was compared. We detected higher levels of active caspase-8 in infected cells than in the control cells as early as 24 hours following the infection (Fig. 3.5B), and continued to increase until day 4 p.i. To test whether caspase-8 activation was important for the induction of apoptosis in the HCV-infected cell population, we specifically inhibited caspase-8 using Z-IETD-FMK and monitored the effect of this inhibition on the percentage of hypodiploid cells. We found that this treatment caused a significant decrease in the percentage of hypodiploid cells in the infected cell population (Fig. 3.5C). These results confirmed that caspase-8 is activated following HCV infection and it plays a role in the HCV-induced apoptosis.



Blue: DAPI/ Green: HCV core/ Red: cleaved caspase-8



В

А


Figure 3.5 HCV infection induced the activation of caspase-8.

Huh-7.5 cells were infected at an MOI of 1. (A) The cells were stained 3 days p.i. for HCV core protein (green) and cleaved caspase-8 (red). (B) Cell lysates were harvested daily from control and HCV-infected cells up to day 4 p.i. Western blotting was performed to detect cleaved, activated caspase-8. (C) The effect of specific inhibition of caspase-8 on the apoptosis was tested by treating cells with 100  $\mu$ M Z-IETD-FMK then measuring the effect of this treatment on the percentage of hypodiploid cells. Results shown in the graph are the mean percentage of the hypodiploid cells compared to the infected untreated control. The data is presented as the mean of three independent experiments +/- SD. \*\* *P* < 0.005 (student's t-test).

#### Chapter 4: Results - HCV infection induces a contact dependent bystander apoptosis

In the previous chapter, we demonstrated that HCV infection induces apoptosis in the infected cell population. However, the data presented in the previous chapter cannot distinguish whether the apoptosis is occurring exclusively in the infected cells, or whether it also affects the neighbouring uninfected cells, i.e., "bystander apoptosis". The concept of bystander apoptosis was reported previously in other viral infections. Bystander apoptosis is believed to be an important factor in the pathogenesis of cytomegalovirus retinitis [501,502]. Bystander apoptosis was also reported to be responsible for the CD4+ T cell decline in HIV-infected patients (reviewed in [503]). Furthermore, bystander apoptosis is induced in Ebola infection and causes massive lymphocyte death [504,505]. We are the first group to report the observation that HCV infection can induce bystander apoptosis, and the results of this investigation will be presented in this chapter.

# 4.1 HCV infection induced programmed cell death in both core-positive and corenegative cell populations.

In this experiment, infected (MOI of 1) or control cells were double stained with anti-HCV core antibody and PI to test whether high levels of intracellular core are required for the induction of apoptosis. The flow cytometric analyses of these cells showed a surprising result as hypodiploid cells were seen in both the core-positive and the corenegative populations (Fig. 4.1). This result means that DNA fragmentation-causing PCD is induced in Huh-7.5 cells regardless of their level of core protein, i.e., both infected and uninfected "bystander" cells. This prompted us to ask whether this observed death in the А

## Uninfected



# Figure 4.1 HCV infection induced DNA fragmenting PCD in neighbouring uninfected cells.

Huh-7.5 cells were infected at an MOI of 1. Three days p.i., cells were harvested and stained with anti-HCV core and PI. FACS analysis was used to determine the percentage of hypodiploid cells in the HCV core-negative and core-positive populations. (A) Percentage of hypodiploid cells in the infected and control cells in the total population of cells. (B) Percentage of hypodiploid cells after gating on either core-negative or core-positive sub-populations within the infected Huh-7.5 cells. The data presented in this figure is representative of three independent experiments.

core-negative cells is actually apoptosis and whether it can occur in the uninfected cells.

#### 4.2 HCV infection induced bystander apoptosis.

To test for bystander apoptosis, we co-cultured Huh-7.5 cells with HCV-nonpermissive cell lines and then monitored the effect of infecting the Huh-7.5 cell on the neighbouring non-permissive cells. The co-culture was performed at a ratio of five Huh-7.5 cells to one HCV-non-permissive cell. Firstly, we co-cultured Huh-7.5 cells with the closely related S29 cells. The S29 cell line is a sub-clone of Huh-7 cells that lacks CD81, the key receptor for HCV entry [187]. Unpublished data from our lab showed that CD81 is required for HCV infection and that the S29 cell line cannot be infected efficiently with HCV unless it is transfected with a CD81 expression plasmid.

To differentiate between the two types of cells in the co-culture, we first stained the harvested cells with CD81 antibody, then gated on the CD81-positive or CD81-negative cell lines. We were able to see higher percentage of cPARP-positive cells within the CD81-negative population when it was co-cultured with infected Huh-7.5 cells than when it was co-cultured with uninfected control Huh-7.5 cells (Fig. 4.2A & B). However, we also noticed that HCV infection caused a reduction in the levels of CD81 expression. This is likely a strategy used by the virus to prevent super-infection, or possibly the virus causes infected cells to reduce the overall cellular protein expression, including CD81, in order to focus the protein synthesis machinery on viral protein synthesis. Regardless of the reason behind it, this reduction questioned the separation between the infected Huh-7.5 cells and the S29 cells based on the CD81 expression. To rule out the possibility that the reduction in CD81 expression was causing some of the infected Huh-7.5 cells to

appear in the CD81-negative gate and cause an increase in cPARP positive cells within this population we used a second approach to differentiate between the S29 cells and the Huh-7.5 cells in the co-culture.

We labelled the S29 cells directly by transfecting them with a GFP-expressing plasmid. The transfected S29 cells were then co-cultured with either infected or control Huh-7.5 cells. At the end of the incubation period, the mixed population was harvested and stained with antibodies against cPARP or cleaved caspase-3 (see Fig. 2.1 for illustration of this strategy). Gating on the GFP-positive population provided us with a tool to detect caspase-3 activity specifically within the S29 cell population. Analysing the data obtained by this approach revealed that significantly higher percentage of cPARP-positive and cleaved caspase-3-positive cells were detected in the S29 cell population when they were co-cultured with infected Huh-7.5 cells (Fig. 4.2C, D & E). These results suggested that HCV infection induced bystander apoptosis.

Next, we asked whether the observed bystander apoptosis was specifically induced in neighbouring hepatocytes or does this bystander effect also extend to other cell types. To answer this, we co-cultured infected or control Huh-7.5 cells with 293T cells. The 293T cells were originally obtained from human embryonic kidney and they do not express CLDN-1, which is another key receptor for HCV. These cells are not permissive to HCVcc infection, and only very low susceptibility (1000-fold less than Huh-7.5) were reported in these cells when they ectopically express CLDN-1 [139]. We observed that,



В

A







<del>. . . . . . .</del> .

.....

CPARP





CPARP



Figure 4.2 HCV infection induced bystander apoptosis.

Ε

Huh-7.5 cells were infected at MOI of 1 then co-cultured with either S29 cells or 293T cells at a ratio of 5:1 for 3 days in (A & B) or for 4 days in (C, D & E). The S29 or the 293T cells were transfected with GFP-expressing plasmid prior to the start of the co-culture in (C, D & E). Following the co-culture, the cells were harvested and stained with CD81 and cPARP antibodies in (A & B), with cPARP antibody only in (C& D), or cleaved-caspase-3 antibody only in (E). The stained cells were analysed by flow cytometry and the S29 cells or 293T cells were differentiated in the analysis by gating on either the CD81-negative population in (A & B) the GFP-positive population in (C, D & E). The data is presented as the percentage of cPARP or cleaved-caspase-3 positive cells among the S29 or the 293T cell population. Mean +/- SD is shown from at least three independent experiments. \* indicates p < 0.05 and \*\* indicates p < 0.005 (Student's t-test).

similar to S29 cells, co-culturing the 293T cells with infected Huh-7.5 cells induced a higher percentage of caspase-3 activity among them (Fig 4.2D & E). This suggested that bystander apoptosis was induced in the 293T cells that were co-cultured with infected Huh-7.5 cells. However, the degree of induction of bystander apoptosis in the 293T cells was lower than that observed in the S29 cells. The possible explanations for this weak induction will be discussed in Chapter 6.

# 4.3 The induction of bystander apoptosis required cell-cell contact between the infected and the bystander cells.

After showing that HCV infection induces bystander apoptosis, we were interested in the mechanism by which this bystander apoptosis was induced. The infected cell could induce the death of its neighbouring cells by expressing certain death ligands that could interact with their cognate receptors on the adjacent cell to induce the extrinsic apoptotic pathway. Alternatively, the death signal could be transmitted via soluble mediators or exosomes. In the first scenario, cell-cell contact would be necessary for the induction of apoptosis. However, in the case of soluble mediators/exosomes-dependent transmission, cell-cell contact would not be required and the death could be induced even in cells that are relatively distant from the infected cell.

To determine which of these mechanisms is responsible for HCV-induced by stander apoptosis, we performed transwell assays. In these experiments, we prepared a co-culture of infected versus uninfected Huh-7.5 cells (lower chamber) with S29 cells (upper chamber) at the same ratio used in the previous section (5:1) as illustrated in (Fig. 4.3A). Inserts with a pore diameter of 0.4  $\mu$ m were chosen to allow the exchange of soluble material and exosomes, but prevent the movement of cells or even apoptotic bodies through them. Following a four day co-culture, the S29 cells were harvested and stained with an antibody specific for cleaved caspase-3 to detect apoptosis. Based on the very low levels of cleaved caspase-3-positive cells detected, the S29 cells did not undergo significant levels of apoptosis when co-cultured with infected or uninfected Huh-7.5 cells (Fig. 4.3B). The lack of induction of apoptosis in the bystander cells, despite the potential for passage of soluble molecules, viruses and exosomes, shows that cell-cell contact is required for the induction of bystander apoptosis.





B

A

## Figure 4.3 Bystander apoptosis required cell-cell contact to be induced.

(A) Infected or uninfected Huh-7.5 cells were co-cultured with S29 cells in a transwell plate at a ratio of 5:1 as illustrated. Four days p.i. S29 cells were harvested and stained with cleaved caspase-3 antibody. (B) The percentage of cleaved caspase-3-positive cells among the total S29 cells. The result is presented as the mean of three independent experiments +/- SD. *n.s.: Not significant* (student's t-test).

#### Chapter 5: Results - HCV infection induces pyroptosis and bystander pyroptosis

In chapter 3, we presented evidence suggesting that HCV infection induces apoptosis. However, some of the findings indicated the possibility that a second form of PCD also is induced in the context of HCV infection. For example, the EM images showed some features of a lytic form of death. Furthermore, other features such as DNA fragmentation and caspase activation are not specific for apoptosis and could be caused by a second form of cell death known as pyroptosis (described in detail in section 1.5.2). This led us to ask whether HCV infection affects the cells in a more complex way than we originally expected and is able to stimulate the cell to undergo more than one form of PCD. For these reasons, the possibility that pyroptosis is induced as a second form of PCD in the HCV-infected population was investigated and the results of this investigation will be presented in this chapter.

#### 5.1 HCV infection caused cell lysis.

As we described previously, one of the main morphological features of pyroptosis is loss of the integrity of the plasma membrane, which leads to cell lysis and the release of cellular contents to the surroundings. Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) is an enzyme that is normally sequestered inside the cell and is released extracellularly only in the event of cell lysis [506]. Measuring the activity of LDH in the medium of the cultured cells is a useful tool for detecting lytic cell death, including pyroptosis [506].

By measuring the activity of LDH in the medium of HCV-infected or uninfected Huh-7.5 cells, we found that HCV infection resulted in a significant increase of the LDH



Figure 5.1 HCV infection increased the LDH activity in the supernatant.

Huh-7.5 cells were infected at MOI of 1. The supernatants were collected four days p.i. and the LDH activities were measured in these supernatants. The absorbance value was calculated as the absorbance measured at 490 nm. Each bar represents the mean absorbance values of three independent experiments (each measured in triplicate) +/- SD. \*\* P < 0.005 (Student's t-test).

activity in the medium of infected Huh-7.5 cells (Fig. 5.1). However, it is important to point out here that the LDH release assay is not specific for pyroptosis. Other forms of lytic cell death, such as necrosis and necroptosis, can also result in an increase in the levels of LDH [507]. Moreover, during the late stages of apoptosis, and in the absence of scavenger cells, apoptotic cells undergo secondary necrosis, which also releases the cellular contents, including LDH, to the exterior of the cell [508]. These facts reduce the specificity of the LDH assay for the detection of pyroptosis. Despite this lack of specificity, LDH release is one of the predominant characteristics of cells undergoing pyroptosis, thereby supporting our theory that HCV infection induces pyroptosis. In the next sections, the results from more specific tests for pyroptosis will be presented.

#### 5.2 HCV infection induced pyroptosis.

As we discussed previously, pyroptosis is a caspase-1-dependent form of PCD. The only exception for this role is LPS-induced pyroptosis, which can be induced under certain circumstances by a caspase-4/5-dependent pathway in human cells (discussed in more detail in section 1.5.2, the non-canonical inflammasomes). For this reason, we started our investigation by testing the effect of HCV infection on the activation of caspase-1. This was performed by infecting Huh-7.5 cells with HCV at an MOI of 1, then measuring the activity of caspase-1 in these cells four days p.i. The activity was measured by staining cells with FAM-YVAD-FMK FLICA probes. These fluorescent inhibitor-based probes enter the cells and bind covalently to the active form of caspase-1. We found that HCV infection caused a significant increase in the proportion of active caspase-1-postive cells (~45% compared to ~5%; Fig. 5.2A). This high level of



B



### Figure 5.2 HCV infection induced pyroptosis.

(A) Huh-7.5 cells were infected at MOI of 1 or left uninfected. On day 4 p.i., cells were harvested and stained with FAM-YVAD-FMK FLICA then analysed by flow cytometry to detect active-caspase-1-positive cells. Each bar represents the mean of the percentage of active-caspase-1-positive cells of six independent experiments  $\pm$  SD. (B) Huh-7.5 cells were infected at MOI of 1 or left uninfected then incubated in complete medium containing 100  $\mu$ M of Z-WEHD-FMK or an equivalent volume of DMSO. Cells were harvested on day 4 p.i. and stained with PI. Cell cycle analysis was used to determine the percentage of hypodiploid cells in each of the populations. The results presented in this figure represent two independent experiments.

caspase-1 activation in combination with increased levels of LDH and the EM observations strongly suggested that HCV infection induces pyroptosis.

To further confirm the induction of pyroptosis by HCV infection, we tested whether this PCD could be specifically blocked by caspase-1 inhibition. This was done by treating the HCV-infected or control cells with the caspase-1-specific inhibitor Z-WEHD-FMK, and measuring the effect on the number of hypodiploid cells. Inhibiting caspase-1 rescued more than half of the cells undergoing HCV-induced PCD (Fig 5.2B), confirming that pyroptosis is induced in the HCV-infected cell population.

One of the major functions of the active form of caspase-1 is to induce the maturation of IL-1 $\beta$  by catalyzing the cleavage of its inactive cytoplasmic precursor (pro-IL-1 $\beta$ ). We tested this function by measuring the levels of IL-1 $\beta$  in the supernatant of the infected cell population. Huh-7.5 cells were infected at MOI of 1, the supernatants were harvested on day 4 p.i. and the levels of IL-1 $\beta$  were measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Surprisingly, we could not detect IL-1 $\beta$  in the supernatant of the infected cells. Similar results had been published before by two groups [509,510]. The possible explanation for this result will be discussed in Chapter 6.

### 5.3 HCV infection induced pyroptosis through the activation of NLRP3

### inflammasomes.

Caspase-1 can be activated by different types of inflammasomes depending on the nature of the stimuli that induce their activation (section 1.5.2). Viral RNA is known to induce the assembly and activation of NLRP3 inflammasomes [359]. This prompted us to



Figure 5.3 HCV induced pyroptosis through NLRP3 inflammasome activation.

Huh-7.5 cells were infected at an MOI of 1 then incubated in complete medium containing 0.1  $\mu$ M MCC950, a specific inhibitor for NLRP3. On day 4 p.i., the cells were harvested and stained with PI. Cell cycle analysis was performed to determine the percentage of hypodiploid cells in each of the populations. The data is presented as the mean percentage of the hypodiploid cells compared to the infected untreated control. The data is presented as the mean of at least three independent experiments +/- SD. \* *P* < 0.05 (student's t-test).

ask whether HCV-induced pyroptosis is stimulated through NLRP3 inflammasome activation. To address this question we treated HCV-infected Huh-7.5 cells with a specific inhibitor for NLRP3 inflammasome activation and monitored the effect of this treatment on induction of cell death. The inhibitor we used was MCC950, which is a recently developed potent, selective, small molecule inhibitor for NLRP3 [511]. The infected cells were incubated in complete medium containing 0.1 µM of MCC950 for 4 days, and then harvested and stained with PI to detect the hypodiploid cells in the treated or the untreated populations. As expected, we found that inhibiting NLRP3 resulted in a significant decrease in the number of hypodiploid cells (Fig. 5.3). This inhibition confirms the role of NLRP3 inflammasome activation in HCV-induced pyroptosis.

# 5.4 HCV infection induced pyroptosis in neighbouring uninfected cells (bystander pyroptosis).

In the previous chapter, we presented evidence that HCV infection induces apoptosis in neighbouring uninfected cells. In section 4.1, we showed that hypodiploid cells can be detected in both the HCV-core positive and HCV-core negative populations (Figure 4.1). The presence of the hypodiploid cells within the HCV-core negative population can be the result of the bystander apoptosis. However, because pyroptosis can also cause DNA fragmentation and the formation of hypodiploid nuclei, it is possible that bystander pyroptosis is also induced in the HCV infected cell population. This might contribute to the total number of hypodiploid cells seen in the uninfected population.



## Figure 5.4 HCV infection induced bystander pyroptosis.

(A) Huh-7.5 cells were infected at MOI of 1 or left uninfected then co-cultured with GFPtransfected S29 cells at a ratio of 5:1. On day 4 p.i., the cells were harvested and stained with FAM-YVAD-FMK FLICA, then analysed by flow cytometry. S29 cells were differentiated in the analysis by gating on the GFP-positive population. Data from one representative experiment is shown. (B) Summary of mean percentages of active-caspase-1- positive cells among the S29 cell population of six independent experiments +/- SD. \*\* P < 0.005 (Student's t-test). To test more specifically whether bystander pyroptosis was induced in the HCVinfected population, we co-cultured Huh-7.5 cells and GFP-transfected HCV-nonpermissive cells as described for the detection of bystander apoptosis (section 4.2 and illustrated in Fig. 2.1). However, instead of staining with cPARP or cleaved caspase-3 antibody, the harvested cells were stained with FAM-YVAD-FMK FLICA to detect caspase-1 activity. By gating on GFP-positive cells, we found a significantly high percentage of active-caspase-1-positive cells in the S29 cell population that was cocultured with infected Huh-7.5 cells, but not when they were co-cultured with uninfected Huh-7.5 cells (Fig. 5.4A & B). This observation suggests that the induction of pyroptosis by HCV infection was not limited to the infected cells, but also could be induced in bystander cells.

# 5.5 The induction of bystander pyroptosis did not require the cell-cell contact between the infected and the bystander cells.

Finally, we asked whether HCV-induced pyroptosis requires cell-cell contact between the infected and the bystander cell in order to be activated. In the previous chapter, we demonstrated that HCV-induced bystander apoptosis required cell-cell contact. To test whether bystander pyroptosis has the same requirement, we co-cultured infected or uninfected Huh-7.5 cells with S29 cells in different chambers of transwell plates. These plates will allow the exchange of soluble mediators and very small particles, such as virus particles and exosomes, between the two chambers, but will block cell-cell interaction. Despite the inability to interact physically, we found that co-culturing the S29 cells with infected Huh-7.5 cells resulted in higher numbers of active-caspase-1-positive cells than when they were co-cultured with uninfected control cells (Fig. 5.6). This result indicated that, unlike bystander apoptosis, cell-cell contact is not necessary for the induction of bystander pyroptosis. The possible mechanisms for the induction of the bystander pyroptosis will be discussed in Chapter 6.



Figure 5.5 Cell-cell contact was not required for HCV-induced bystander pyroptosis.

Infected or uninfected Huh-7.5 cells were co-cultured with S29 cells in a transwell plate at a ratio of 5:1 as illustrated in (Fig. 4.3A). Four days p.i., S29 cells were harvested and stained with FAM-YVAD-FMK FLICA. Each bar represents the percentage of active-caspase-1-positive cells among the total S29 cells. The data is expressed as the mean of three independent experiments  $\pm$  SD. \* P < 0.05 (student's t-test).

#### **Chapter 6: Discussion**

The gradual destruction of the liver that takes place in the context of HCV infection has been a matter of intense interest for many years. In this report, we investigated the possibility that HCV itself causes cytopathic effects in the absence of immune cells. We found that HCV infection indeed induced at least two forms of PCD, those being apoptosis and pyroptosis. We also demonstrated that both infected and neighboring uninfected (bystander) cells were induced to undergo each of these two forms of PCD. The bystander apoptosis we observed, but not the bystander pyroptosis, required direct contact between the infected and uninfected cells.

Our study employed a cell culture-adapted strain of HCV JFH-1 (JFH1<sub>T</sub>) and human hepatoma-derived Huh-7.5 and related S29 cells. This system is one of the few nonchimeric, highly replicating HCV culture systems that allows a dynamic range of measurement sufficient for studies such as we have performed here. However, cell culture systems such as ours inherently possess caveats and limitations. For example, unlike all other patient isolates of HCV, the JFH-1 strain can propagate autonomously in cell culture without adaptive mutations or modification of target cells. This fact has led many in the field to question whether this strain actually represents natural HCV infection in patients. Additionally, the Huh-7.5 cells used by us and many others are cancer cellderived and are known to have altered innate immune mechanisms. Given these caveats, any findings such as ours that might have pathogenic implications may not be directly extrapolated to persistent HCV infection of liver and should be confirmed in animal and infected human liver studies.

In a broader sense, it is important to consider whether or not the results presented here have relevance to the disease situation. Given the above-mentioned caveats of HCVcc systems, we cannot say at this point that apoptosis or pyroptosis is actually taking place in infected livers. However, apoptosis has been detected in the human liver cells of SCID/ALB-uPa humanized mice [447]. In human studies, a correlation between apoptotic index and histological grading in liver sections, and activation of caspase-3 and -7, has been demonstrated in liver biopsies from chronically infected individuals [403,404]. Based on these studies, it is possible that our results regarding apoptosis are physiologically relevant, but it will be important to revisit this topic in light of our new findings, and more importantly, the topic of pyroptosis has never been addressed in the context of HCV-infected individuals. It would be interesting now to test whether other subtypes/genotypes of HCV cause pyroptosis and bystander cell death because JFH-1 was originally isolated from a patient with fulminant hepatitis [180]. If these forms of PCD are specific to JFH-1 infection, one might speculate that perhaps only highly pathogenic strains of HCV can induce cell death by these mechanisms.

The pathogenic pathways responsible for development of HCV-associated liver disease are poorly understood, but induction of PCD in the infected liver may play an important role in disease progression. For example, induction of apoptosis activates a profibrogenic pathway contributing to the overall pathogenesis associated with HCV infection [467,512]. Pyroptosis contributes to the creation of an inflammatory environment inside the infected liver, thereby promoting disease pathogenesis [477,482-488]. Various components of the innate and adaptive immune systems are known to induce apoptosis of infected cells as part of their role in host defence against HCV. However, despite general agreement regarding the immunopathogenesis of HCV, there is considerable discrepancy in the literature regarding the effect of HCV on its host cell, specifically whether it is directly cytopathic.

In the pre-HCVcc era, many groups investigated effects of HCV infection on various apoptotic pathways using different approaches. However, contradictory findings within the published data make it difficult to discern the actual effect of HCV infection on programmed cell death. For example, almost every HCV protein has been reported to have both anti- and pro-apoptotic function depending on which study one reads (discussed in section 1.6). The reason for this controversy is most likely due to the use of different systems by different groups to test the pro- or anti-apoptotic effects of these proteins. Most of these reports relied on the expression of a single viral protein under the control of highly active promoters. This creates extremely high levels of that protein, far above their normal physiological levels. Furthermore, these systems failed to detect the effect of the interaction between the different viral proteins, which could also impact the pro- versus anti-apoptotic functions of different viral proteins. These facts make the relevance of these reports to the natural HCV infection highly questionable.

Studies employing HCVcc systems to specifically analyze the effects of HCV infection on apoptotic pathways have generated relatively consistent findings. For example, our results here are in agreement with those of other studies demonstrating of pro-apoptotic effects of HCV infection [448-450,453]. Still, other reports described the activation of certain pro-survival pathways following HCV infection in the context of

HCVcc (discussed in section 1.6). However, this reported activation was transient, detected early in the course of infection or activates certain pro-survival pathways but did not block HCV-induced apoptosis of the cell. Actually, activation of these pro-survival pathways might be responsible for extending the survival period of the infected cell enough to support viral replication.

The mechanism by which apoptosis is induced is still largely unclear. Different mechanisms were reported by different groups, as described in section 1.6. These discrepancies might be attributed to the use of different derivatives of the parental JFH-1 virus in executing their experiments. The use of the parental JFH-1 is criticized due to its extremely low efficiency of replication in cell culture. Some groups overcame this low replication efficiency by using the J6-JFH1 derivative, but this is actually a chimeric virus that does not exist in nature. The virus strain used in our project (the JFH1<sub>T</sub> strain) has high replication efficiency and contains only three adaptive point mutations compared to the parental JFH-1, which was isolated from an infected patient. Because of these facts, we believe that our system is superior to the previously used HCVcc systems, as it better represents natural HCV infection under the physiological conditions.

We presented here evidence that HCV infection reduces the proliferation rate of the infected cell population, which is in agreement with previous reports [455,456,513,514]. There was disagreement amongst these reports as to when in the cell cycle the arrest occurs. Some groups reported that the arrest occurs at the G1 phase [455,513], while others reported it at the G2/M phase [456]. An association between cell cycle arrest, P21 levels, and severity of fibrosis was reported [513]. However, it is not clear whether this

correlation is a result of the direct effect of the cell cycle arrest, or if it is caused by other factors, including the induction of PCD. Cell cycle arrest was not our interest in this project and therefore was not investigated beyond the point of showing that it was induced.

DNA fragmentation was tested by two different assays: DNA laddering assay and the detection of hypodiploid cells by cell cycle analysis of PI stained cells. Despite the fact that those two assays detect the same PCD hallmark, DNA fragmentation, they are actually different from each other by the feature used to detect the fragmentation. The DNA laddering assay detects the formation of low molecular weight fragments with sizes in multiples of 180 bp. These fragments result from the internucleosomal cleavage of the DNA because of caspase-3-mediated cleavage and activation of ICAD/DFF45 to release CAD/DFF40. This is an active DNase that catalyses the internucleosomal cleavage of DNA [344]. On the other hand, hypodiploid nuclei result from the loss of the low molecular weight fragments of DNA during the processing of the cell, regardless of the mechanism by which these low molecular fragments formed. Apoptosis is well-known to induce internucleosomal DNA fragmentation through caspase-3-mediated cleavage of the inhibitor ICAD/DFF45 [344]. As discussed earlier, pyroptosis is also known to induce DNA fragmentation. However, the DNase that is activated during pyroptosis is not known, and it is not clear whether it will cause internucleosomal cleavage and DNA laddering. One group reported that caspase-1 could cleave ICAD/DFF45, release the active DNase, and lead to DNA fragmentation in vitro [515]. In contrast, other groups could not detect any ICAD/DFF45 cleavage or DNA laddering in the macrophages

undergoing *Salmonella*-induced pyroptosis [355,360]. Since it is not clear whether the DNA laddering test is specific for the detection of apoptosis, we decided to be more cautious in interpreting the results of this test and we refrained from making apoptosis-specific conclusions depending on the results of this test. Detection of the hypodiploid cells in PI stained cells can result from both apoptosis and pyroptosis, and we confirmed this by showing that inhibiting caspase-3, caspase-8, or caspase-1 specifically resulted in a significant reduction in the number of the hypodiploid cells in our system.

As with the above-mentioned tests, many commonly used apoptosis detection assays should be revisited as they detect features shared with pyroptosis. DNA fragmentation-dependent assays such as the TUNEL assay should not be used for the identification of apoptosis unless pyroptosis is ruled-out. Moreover, Annexin V staining results should also be interpreted with more caution as the stain might enter the pyroptotic-ruptured cells and bind to phosphatidyl serine molecules in the inner leaflet. Combining PI stain with annexin V will resolve this issue as pyroptotic cells will allow the entry of both of these two molecules. Finally, despite its wide use, the interpretation of PARP cleavage results as an apoptotic marker must be reconsidered in the light of relatively recent publications in which caspase-1 activation was reported to cause similar effects (discussed in detail in section 1.5.2). In this project, cleavage of PARP was always supported by detecting the cleavage of caspase-3 to specifically indicate the induction of apoptosis.

We showed in section 3.5 that HCV infection induces the activation of caspase-8. This induction plays a role in the apoptotic pathway as inhibiting caspase-8 reduced the proportion of hypodiploid cells. Caspase-8 is the initiator caspase of the extrinsic

apoptotic pathway and is activated in the DISC following the binding of a death ligand to its cognate receptor (see section 1.5.1.2). However, an alternative pathway for the activation of caspase-8 was also reported. In this pathway, caspase-8 is processed and cleaved downstream of caspases-9, -3 and -6 [516,517]. Moreover, caspase-8 was reported to be activated by NLRP3 inflammasomes (more details regarding this pathway will be discussed below). For this reason, it is not clear to us which of these pathways are participating in the cleavage and activation of caspase-8 in our system and more investigation is needed to answer this question.

In Chapter 4, we presented evidence that apoptosis is not limited to the infected cells, but also is induced in neighbouring uninfected cells. As discussed earlier, bystander apoptosis has been described previously in the context of other viral infections, such as HIV, Cytomegalovirus (CMV) and Ebola virus, and is believed to contribute to the pathogenesis related to these viral infections [501-505]. To the best of our knowledge, our data here provide the first evidence of bystander apoptosis in response to HCV infection. Induction of bystander apoptosis could exacerbate the pathogenic process in the HCV infected liver. Such a mechanism of elimination of uninfected cells could help explain the massive destruction observed in the liver despite the belief that only a minority of hepatocytes (7%-20%) are actually infected with HCV in chronically infected patients [518]. Induction of apoptosis in adjacent uninfected cells, could theoretically amplify the pathogenic effect of HCV infection.

We presented evidence that the induction of bystander apoptosis requires cell-cell contact between the infected and the affected uninfected cells. The most attractive candidate mechanism to explain this result is that the induction of bystander apoptosis occurs through the interaction between death ligands expressed on the surface of the infected cell and death receptors on the surface of neighbouring cells, which in turn causes the activation of the extrinsic apoptotic pathway in the neighbouring cell. This might be also the cause of the activation of caspase-8 observed in our system. The upregulation of death ligands such as Fas-ligand by HCV infection has been reported previously [519,520]. This upregulation of Fas-ligand induces apoptosis in activated CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes [520]. Upregulation of Fas-ligand on the infected cell could be an evasion mechanism used by the virus to kill infiltrating activated lymphocytes. Consequently, this upregulation of death ligands could also induce apoptosis in neighbouring uninfected hepatocytes. Additionally, induction of death ligand expression might contribute to the development of HCC by providing transformed cells a tool to evade immune surveillance. Human hepatocytes are highly sensitive to Fas-ligandinduced apoptosis [521], however, human hepatoma cell lines, including Huh-7 cells (the parental cell line for the S29 cells used here), were reported to be resistant to Fasmediated apoptosis [522]. Therefore, bystander cells would first need to be sensitized to Fas-induced apoptosis in order to be responsive to the Fas-ligand expressed on the neighbouring infected cells. It is plausible that such a mechanism may be at work in our system as in SCID/Alb-uPA mice, HCV infection causes an upregulation of Fas expression in both infected and neighbouring uninfected cells [447]. It is possible that a similar upregulation is occurring in our system leading to sensitization of neighbouring uninfected cells to FAS-induced apoptosis.

The expression of other death ligands by the infected cells might also be responsible for the induction of bystander apoptosis. For example, TRAIL expression was reported to increase significantly after HCV infection in a well-differentiated hepatoma cell line (LH86), and this increase was responsible for the induction of apoptosis in that system [448]. Treatment of Huh-7.5 cells with TRAIL induced apoptosis in these cells [457]. It is generally believed that TRAIL can induce cell death in cancer cells and spare most of the normal healthy cells. However, it has been reported that normal human, but not mouse, hepatocytes are actually sensitive to TRAIL-induced apoptosis [523,524].

Membrane bound TNF- $\alpha$  is another possible inducer of bystander apoptosis in a cellcell contact-dependent manner. HCV infection results in an increase of serum levels of TNF- $\alpha$ . The major source of this cytokine in the liver is believed to be resident macrophages and T-cells [525]. However, TNF- $\alpha$  expression by hepatocytes was also observed in liver biopsies obtained from patients with chronic HCV infection [526]. Moreover, transfection of HepG2 cells with a full-length HCV DNA, or with HCV NS3 induced them to express high-molecular-weight TNF- $\alpha$  [527]. As we discussed earlier, TNF- $\alpha$  activates both pro- and anti-apoptotic pathways in different target cells. Expression of the membrane bound TNF- $\alpha$  by the kupffer cells was reported to induce cell-cell contact-dependent apoptosis in hepatocytes [528]. The possibility that expression of TNF- $\alpha$  by infected hepatocytes plays a role in the induction of bystander apoptosis in our system cannot be excluded. In summary, bystander apoptosis is most likely the result of the overexpression of one or more of the previously described death ligands on the surface of the infected cell and the sensitization of the neighbouring uninfected cell to death ligand-induced apoptosis. Further investigation needs to be performed to test this hypothesis.

We tested the induction of bystander apoptosis in two different cell lines: S29 and 293T cell lines. The S29 cell line is a hepatoma cell line, while 293T cells are derived from embryonic human kidney. The 293T cells were used in this experiment to test whether the induction of bystander apoptosis occurs specifically in neighbouring hepatocyte-like cells or whether it can also affect other types of cells that encounter the infected hepatocytes. We chose 293T cells because they can be easily transfected with GFP, and most importantly, because they lack CLDN-1, which is one of the main receptors for HCV entry [139]. Using the 293T cell line will rule out the possibility that the observed apoptosis is caused by low levels of HCV infection. Although the induction of HCV-induced bystander apoptosis was observed in both the S29 and the 293T cells, the degree of induction of bystander apoptosis in the 293T cells was low in comparison to that seen in the S29 cells. This could be explained by the moderate responsiveness of the 293T cells to FAS-induced apoptosis and resistance to TRAIL-induced apoptosis [529,530]. Further reduction in the 293T cells responsiveness to the bystander apoptosis stimuli could be attributed to their reduced contact with the infected Huh-7.5 cells. This reduction in contact might be caused by the absence of CLDN-1, a tight junction protein, on the 293T cells.

We found that HCV induced pyroptosis in the infected cell population as a second form of PCD. Pyroptosis induction might have a significant effect on the pathogenesis of HCV as it participates in creating an inflammatory environment in which liver cirrhosis
and HCC develop (more details presented in section 1.7). Induction of pyroptosis was reported in other viral infections (discussed in Section 1.5.2) and this played a role in the pathogenesis of these infections. To the best of our knowledge, we are the first to report the induction of pyroptosis in HCV infections.

The production of mature IL-1 $\beta$  requires two signals: the first is delivered through recognition of the pathogen by PRRs, and leads to transcription of the pro-IL-1 $\beta$  gene; and the second is delivered by the induction of inflammasome assembly and results in cleaving pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and releasing the mature form [531]. Despite the clear activation of caspase-1 in infected and bystander cells, we could not detect IL-1 $\beta$  in the supernatant of these cells. Although surprising at first, this result is in agreement with previous reports in which three groups could not detect the induction of *pro-IL-1* $\beta$  gene expression or secretion of mature IL-1ß protein in response to HCV-infection of different hepatoma cell lines or immortalized PHH [509,510,532]. These groups showed that hepatic monocytes/macrophages are the only source of IL-1 $\beta$  in the infected liver. In contrast, a fourth group reported the detection of low levels of IL-1 $\beta$  in the supernatant of JFH-1infected Huh-7.5 cells [533]. Although the exact cause of this controversy is not clear, the different strains of virus and the different clones of cell lines (JFH-1 vs. JFH1<sub>T</sub> and Huh-7.5 vs. Huh-7.5.1) might explain this discrepancy. The inability (or weak ability) of human hepatocytes to produce IL-1 $\beta$  is believed to be a regulatory mechanism aimed to prevent liver toxicity in response to the continuous exposure of hepatocytes to bloodborne pathogens [510]. Furthermore, the lack (or weak) induction of the *pro-IL-1* $\beta$  gene in HCV-infected cells might be the result of the blockade in RIG-I and TLR-3 signaling

pathways caused by the viral NS3-4A (described in section 1.4.1). This in turn blocks the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B and the transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines genes, including the *pro-IL-1* $\beta$ .

Inhibiting the NLRP3 inflammasome rescued a significant number of cells from undergoing HCV-induced PCD. This result implicated the NLRP3 inflammasome in the induction of PCD in response to HCV infection. This result was not surprising to us since NLRP3 inflammasomes are known to be activated by many viruses, including both RNA and DNA viruses (reviewed in [534]). It was reported previously that HCV infection induces the activation of NLRP3 inflammasomes in hepatic macrophages/monocytes and hepatocytes [510,532,533]. In contrast, Chen *et al.* reported that there is no, or an extremely low, expression of NLRP3 in HCV-infected hepatocytes [532]. However, this group tested the expression of NLRP3 in JFH-1-infected Huh-7 cells. This system is known to have an extremely low infection efficiency in comparison to our system and natural HCV infection. To the best of our knowledge, we are the first group to report a role for the NLRP3 inflammasome activation pathway in HCV-induced cell death.

As with apoptosis, pyroptosis was not limited to infected cells, but also occurred in neighbouring uninfected cells. The concept of bystander pyroptosis was described previously in the context of HIV infection and is believed to play a major role in the depletion of the CD4+ T cells (reviewed in [535]). However, unlike bystander apoptosis, bystander pyroptosis did not require cell-cell contact. In other words, bystander pyroptosis seems to be induced by soluble mediators and/or exosomes. The mechanism of bystander pyroptosis induction is not clear, but lysed pyroptotic cells would release a

number of DAMPs including: High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), heat shock proteins, ATP, DNA and RNA [536]. Many of these DAMPs can induce inflammasome activation in affected cells. For example, extracellular ATP binds to purinergic receptor P2X7 (P2RX7), which opens ion channels leading to  $K^+$  efflux, resulting in inflammasome activation [536]. HMGB1 stimulates a signaling pathway through TLR4 and receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) that activates NLRP3 inflammasomes and pyroptosis in hepatocytes [537]. It is also possible that the transfer of viral proteins or viral RNA from the infected cells to neighbouring cells, either by the exosomes or through a non-productive entry of viral particles, might cause the activation of inflammasomes and the induction of pyroptosis in neighbouring uninfected cells even in the absence of viral replication. Lipoprotein lipase-treated virus particles have been shown to enter cells through a low-density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR)-mediated nonproductive entry pathway [135]. This pathway leads to virus particle degradation and is likely responsible for the entry of Apo-E-depleted lipo-viro-particles in infected individuals. Abortive HIV infection was reported to cause bystander pyroptosis in CD4+ T cells [538]. A homologous mechanism in which the HCV RNA is detected in the cytosol leading to the activation of inflammasomes cannot be excluded.

Until our current investigation, induction of apoptosis in HCV-infected cells received the exclusive attention of all PCD-related studies in the field. In this project, we moved the understanding of this process to a new level by showing that the cytopathic effect of HCV infection is actually more complex than has been suggested. We showed that HCV infection causes the induction of at least two forms of PCD and this effect is not limited to the infected cells, but it extends to the surrounding uninfected cells. How HCV can induce two distinct forms of PCD simultaneously remains to be determined. It is possible that different viral components are independently detected by separate sensors, or that different steps of the viral life cycle induce distinct cellular responses ultimately resulting in the independent induction of each form of PCD. Alternatively, perhaps the HCVinduced apoptotic and pyroptotic pathways share a common origin that activates both of them. Interestingly, recent evidence suggests that besides their classical role in activating caspase-1 and inducing pyroptosis, NLRP3 inflammasomes can also activate caspase-8, which in turn induces apoptosis [539-543]. This could be the case in HCV infection whereby activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome activates caspase-8 and caspase-1 to induce both apoptosis and pyroptosis, respectively. It is also possible that both apoptosis and pyroptosis are induced by the same cellular response to HCV infection. For example, in genetically obese mice, induction of ER stress in the hepatocytes was reported to activate NLRP3 and to induce both apoptosis and pyroptosis [544].

It is not clear at this point whether apoptosis or pyroptosis of infected versus bystander cells is induced by the same or different mechanisms. Presumably, certain responses, such as ER stress, occur solely in the infected cells, logically causing the infected cells to be more prone to apoptosis/pyroptosis than the bystander cells. Furthermore, the foci of infected cells typically observed in HCVcc-infected Huh-7.5 cells demonstrates that viral infection preferentially spreads to the closely neighbouring cells. This means that most infected cells are in close proximity to other infected cells and could, therefore, be easily affected by the same stimuli that induce the bystander apoptosis/pyroptosis. Therefore, infected cells would be under higher pressure to undergo apoptosis/pyroptosis than the bystander cells. In support of this idea, regarding both apoptosis and pyroptosis, we observed generally higher levels of cell death in the overall population of cells than when we gated on only the uninfected cells. However, many viruses have evolved strategies for inhibiting cell death in its host in order to allow for the establishment and maintenance of virus replication (reviewed in [545]). HCV is no exception; almost every HCV protein has been reported to possess anti-apoptotic effects (section 1.6). We don't typically detect apoptosis in HCV-infected cells until day four post-infection. So it is possible that HCV somehow initially blocks apoptosis, and if so, this capability would confer a survival advantage to infected cells over bystander cells. At this point we can only hypothesize that the balance between pro- and antiapoptotic/pyroptotic stimuli determines the fate of the infected/bystander cells.

Induction of PCD in response to viral infection is a well-established mechanism for restricting viral infections. It is widely accepted that various immune cells can induce apoptosis in infected cells, but PCD might also be induced by intracellular innate immune responses. However, the induction of these PCD pathways can be circumvented by numerous inhibitory viral proteins (reviewed in [545]). These opposing forces place the host cell into a continuous competition with the infecting virus over control of these cell death pathways. The results described here demonstrate that HCV infection induces two distinct forms of PCD: apoptosis and pyroptosis. The simultaneous induction of multiple forms of PCD in HCV-infected hepatocytes could be one of the strategies used by the host cell to overcome the inhibitory effect of the viral proteins. In this regard, HCV must

overcome a higher barrier by inhibiting two different death pathways in order to maintain the survival of its host cell and maintain its replication. Nevertheless, it is clear that HCV is a highly evolved pathogen that is able to maintain control over these cell death pathways until it has completed its life cycle and released new viral progeny to infect *naïve* hepatocytes.

The induction of apoptosis and pyroptosis in the HCV-infected liver seems to act like a double-edged sword. In the short-term, it might play a role in restricting HCV infection. However, induction of these two forms of PCD could be one of the major drivers of the pathogenic process after many years of the chronic infection. As we described in more detail in section 1.7 and illustrated in fig. 1.3, each of these two forms of PCD might have distinct contributions to liver disease progression. Induction of apoptosis in hepatocytes results in increasing the levels of TGF- $\beta$  in the infected liver, which hastens the fibrotic process and induces EMT, leading in the long-term to liver cirrhosis and HCC. Pyroptosis creates an inflammatory environment that also hastens fibrosis and participates in predisposing the cells to malignant transformation and development of HCC. Induction of these forms of PCD in neighbouring uninfected cells might also exacerbate the pathogenic process. Recently identified direct-acting antiviral agents have shown amazingly high cure rates, but studies have shown that HCC can still develop even after elimination of virus from an infected individual [461]. We believe that understanding the exact mechanisms by which the virus stimulates these two forms of PCD in infected and bystander cells might provide us with targets for the development of novel treatments and

eventually a comprehensive therapeutic regimen that can both eliminate virus and prevent progression of HCV-related liver disease in HCV-infected patients.

In summary, the interaction between HCV and its host cell is complicated and results in stimulating multiple responses, many of which are capable of inducing PCD. As a result of this interaction, at least two forms of PCD are induced: apoptosis and pyroptosis. The exact mechanism by which HCV induces these two forms of PCD is not clear. Activation of NLRP3 inflammasomes plays a role in HCV-induced pyroptosis and possibly apoptosis. The induction of PCD is not limited to the infected cells, but also occurs in bystander cells. Bystander apoptosis, but not bystander pyroptosis, requires physical interaction between the infected and bystander cells in order to be induced. A schematic representation that summarizes our main findings is presented in Fig. 6.1.

## **Future directions:**

This project reported for the first time the activation of multiple mechanisms of cell death during HCV infection. However, it also presented many questions that need more investigation. The induction of ER stress in HCV-infected cells has been reported previously [447,450]. However, the role of ER stress in the induction of each of those two forms of PCD needs to be studied further. This can be achieved by testing the effect of infection on the expression of a group of ER stress markers and testing the effect of inhibiting ER stress on the induction of apoptosis and pyroptosis. Inhibition of HCV-induced ER stress might be achieved by treating the infected cells with tauroursodeoxycholic acid (TUDCA), which is a chemical chaperone that is known to reduce ER stress [546]. The effect of this treatment on the number of cells undergoing

PCD and on the activation of caspase-3 and caspase-1 will demonstrate the importance of ER stress in the induction of each of the two forms of PCD.



## Figure 6.1 Proposed model for the induction of multiple forms of PCD in response to HCV infection.

Schematic representation of the proposed mechanisms for the induction of multiple forms of PCD in response to HCV infection. HCV infection induces at least two forms of programmed cell death in the infected cells: apoptosis and pyroptosis. Apoptosis is also induced in the neighbouring uninfected cells (bystander apoptosis). The induction of bystander apoptosis is cell-cell contact-dependent, and we propose that it is induced by an interaction between a death ligand expressed on the surface of the infected cell and a death receptor expressed on the surface of the bystander cell. The induction of bystander pyroptosis does not depend on cell-cell contact. The exact mechanism by which bystander pyroptosis is induced is not yet known, but will be the focus of subsequent studies.

More investigation is required in order to determine the mechanism by which bystander apoptosis is induced. Based on the observation that bystander apoptosis is cellcell contact-dependent, we hypothesize that bystander apoptosis is mediated by an interaction between a death ligand expressed on the surface of an infected cell and its receptor on the surface of a bystander cell. To confirm this mechanism of induction and to identify the responsible death ligand-receptor, the effect of HCV infection on the cell surface expression for each of the known death ligands could be tested, including Fas-Ligand, TRAIL and membrane bound TNF- $\alpha$ . The role of each of these ligand-receptor interactions can be further confirmed by testing the effect of specifically blocking their interaction on the induction of bystander apoptosis. The interaction between the death ligand and its receptor can be blocked by treating the cells with commercially available blocking antibodies. An increase of the expression of a death ligand and the inhibition of bystander apoptosis following the treatment with its specific blocking antibody will confirm the involvement of that specific ligand-receptor interaction in the induction of bystander apoptosis. The result of this experiment might also provide us with information regarding the source of caspase-8 activation in the infected cell population.

After showing that HCV induces pyroptosis as a second form of PCD in the infected cells, many questions emerged that warrant investigation. Firstly, what is the mechanism of induction of pyroptosis in the infected cells? Pyroptosis might be induced because of

direct recognition of viral RNA by NLRP3, or it could occur as a secondary response to the generation of DAMPs, or to other HCV-induced cellular responses. For example, HCV infection was reported to induce the production of ROS, which in turn have the capability to activate NLRP3 inflammasomes and pyroptosis [454,547]. Furthermore, and as we mentioned above, ER stress can induce NLRP3 inflammasome activation and pyroptosis. Further investigation is needed to answer this question.

More investigation is also needed to understand the factors that determine the fate of the infected cell and whether it will undergo apoptosis or pyroptosis. Answering this question seems to be complicated in light of the many pathways that are activated in these cells. In a previous DNA transfection study, apoptosis was found to be induced at lower transfected DNA concentrations, while induction of pyroptosis required a higher DNA concentration [540]. A similar mechanism may be at play in our system whereby the infected cells with high HCV RNA content undergo pyroptosis, while the more recently infected cells with lower levels of RNA might undergo apoptosis. More investigation is also needed to test whether the apoptotic and pyroptotic pathways are induced simultaneously in the same cell or if different cells induce only one of these two PCD pathways. In this case, activation of one of the two PCD pathways might inhibit the activation of the other, or as we mentioned above, each of these two pathways might be activated under different conditions, dependent on the level of various viral components. The possible role of NLRP3 inflammasome activation in the activation of caspase-8 and the induction of apoptosis in infected cells must also be tested. This can be done by specifically inhibiting NLRP3 and examining the effect of this inhibition on caspase-8 and caspase-3 activation.

Further investigation is also needed to determine the mechanism by which bystander pyroptosis is induced. As discussed earlier, bystander pyroptosis might be induced by DAMPs released from infected cells, or by the non-productive uptake of the virus or viral components by the bystander cell. Many experiments need to be done to address this question. For example, induction of pyroptosis could be monitored in S29 cells incubated with medium containing lysates from Huh-7.5 cells. The lysates can be obtained from either uninfected cells or infected cells to determine whether the induction of bystander pyroptosis is HCV-specific or occurs as a general response to the release of neighbouring cells, contents into the microenvironment. It is also possible that the bystander pyroptosis-inducing factor is transferred by the exosomes from infected to neighbouring cells. The role of exosomes in the induction of bystander apoptosis might be tested by inhibiting exosome production in the infected cells by treating them with an exosome inhibitor such as GW4869.

Finally, the ultimate goal should be to confirm our findings in chronically infected patients' livers. Detecting the induction of apoptosis and pyroptosis as two forms of PCD occurring in hepatocytes in liver biopsies obtained from HCV-infected patients and showing that these forms of cell death occur in both the infected and neighbouring cells will be of great value and would represent a cutting edge finding in the field.

## References

- 1. Pybus OG, Charleston MA, Gupta S, Rambaut A, Holmes EC, et al. (2001) The epidemic behavior of the hepatitis C virus. Science 292: 2323-2325.
- Prince AM, Brotman B, Grady GF, Kuhns WJ, Hazzi C, et al. (1974) Long-incubation posttransfusion hepatitis without serological evidence of exposure to hepatitis-B virus. Lancet 2: 241-246.
- 3. Feinstone SM, Kapikian AZ, Purcell RH, Alter HJ, Holland PV (1975) Transfusion-associated hepatitis not due to viral hepatitis type A or B. N Engl J Med 292: 767-770.
- 4. Tabor E, Gerety RJ, Drucker JA, Seeff LB, Hoofnagle JH, et al. (1978) Transmission of non-A, non-B hepatitis from man to chimpanzee. Lancet 1: 463-466.
- 5. Alter HJ, Purcell RH, Holland PV, Popper H (1978) Transmissible agent in non-A, non-B hepatitis. Lancet 1: 459-463.
- 6. Choo QL, Kuo G, Weiner AJ, Overby LR, Bradley DW, et al. (1989) Isolation of a cDNA clone derived from a blood-borne non-A, non-B viral hepatitis genome. Science 244: 359-362.
- Kuo G, Choo QL, Alter HJ, Gitnick GL, Redeker AG, et al. (1989) An assay for circulating antibodies to a major etiologic virus of human non-A, non-B hepatitis. Science 244: 362-364.
- Mohd Hanafiah K, Groeger J, Flaxman AD, Wiersma ST (2013) Global epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection: new estimates of age-specific antibody to HCV seroprevalence. Hepatology 57: 1333-1342.
- 9. Miller FD, Abu-Raddad LJ (2010) Evidence of intense ongoing endemic transmission of hepatitis C virus in Egypt. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107: 14757-14762.
- Myers RP, Ramji A, Bilodeau M, Wong S, Feld JJ (2012) An update on the management of hepatitis C: consensus guidelines from the Canadian Association for the Study of the Liver. Can J Gastroenterol 26: 359-375.
- 11. Myers RP, Krajden M, Bilodeau M, Kaita K, Marotta P, et al. (2014) Burden of disease and cost of chronic hepatitis C infection in Canada. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 28: 243-250.
- 12. Myers RP, Shah H, Burak KW, Cooper C, Feld JJ (2015) An update on the management of chronic hepatitis C: 2015 Consensus guidelines from the Canadian Association for the Study of the Liver. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 29: 19-34.
- 13. Chen SL, Morgan TR (2006) The natural history of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection. Int J Med Sci 3: 47-52.
- 14. Freeman AJ, Dore GJ, Law MG, Thorpe M, Von Overbeck J, et al. (2001) Estimating progression to cirrhosis in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Hepatology 34: 809-816.
- McHutchison JG, Lawitz EJ, Shiffman ML, Muir AJ, Galler GW, et al. (2009) Peginterferon alfa-2b or alfa-2a with ribavirin for treatment of hepatitis C infection. N Engl J Med 361: 580-593.
- 16. Dusheiko G (1997) Side effects of alpha interferon in chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 26: 112S-121S.
- 17. Poveda E, Wyles DL, Mena A, Pedreira JD, Castro-Iglesias A, et al. (2014) Update on hepatitis C virus resistance to direct-acting antiviral agents. Antiviral Res 108: 181-191.
- 18. Douam F, Ding Q, Ploss A (2016) Recent advances in understanding hepatitis C. F1000Res 5.
- 19. Fields BN, Knipe DM, Howley PM (2007) Fields' virology. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

- 20. Adams MJ, King AM, Carstens EB (2013) Ratification vote on taxonomic proposals to the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (2013). Arch Virol 158: 2023-2030.
- 21. Stapleton JT, Foung S, Muerhoff AS, Bukh J, Simmonds P (2011) The GB viruses: a review and proposed classification of GBV-A, GBV-C (HGV), and GBV-D in genus Pegivirus within the family Flaviviridae. J Gen Virol 92: 233-246.
- 22. Gutierrez RA, Dawson GJ, Knigge MF, Melvin SL, Heynen CA, et al. (1997) Seroprevalence of GB virus C and persistence of RNA and antibody. J Med Virol 53: 167-173.
- 23. Stapleton JT (2003) GB virus type C/Hepatitis G virus. Semin Liver Dis 23: 137-148.
- 24. Chivero ET, Bhattarai N, McLinden JH, Xiang J, Stapleton JT (2015) Human Pegivirus (HPgV; formerly known as GBV-C) inhibits IL-12 dependent natural killer cell function. Virology 485: 116-127.
- 25. Williams CF, Klinzman D, Yamashita TE, Xiang J, Polgreen PM, et al. (2004) Persistent GB virus C infection and survival in HIV-infected men. N Engl J Med 350: 981-990.
- 26. Scheel TK, Simmonds P, Kapoor A (2015) Surveying the global virome: identification and characterization of HCV-related animal hepaciviruses. Antiviral Res 115: 83-93.
- 27. Kapoor A, Simmonds P, Gerold G, Qaisar N, Jain K, et al. (2011) Characterization of a canine homolog of hepatitis C virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108: 11608-11613.
- 28. Burbelo PD, Dubovi EJ, Simmonds P, Medina JL, Henriquez JA, et al. (2012) Serology-enabled discovery of genetically diverse hepaciviruses in a new host. J Virol 86: 6171-6178.
- 29. Pybus OG, Theze J (2015) Hepacivirus cross-species transmission and the origins of the hepatitis C virus. Curr Opin Virol 16: 1-7.
- Smith DB, Bukh J, Kuiken C, Muerhoff AS, Rice CM, et al. (2014) Expanded classification of hepatitis C virus into 7 genotypes and 67 subtypes: updated criteria and genotype assignment web resource. Hepatology 59: 318-327.
- Nakano T, Lau GM, Lau GM, Sugiyama M, Mizokami M (2012) An updated analysis of hepatitis C virus genotypes and subtypes based on the complete coding region. Liver Int 32: 339-345.
- 32. Gower E, Estes C, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer K, Razavi H (2014) Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. J Hepatol 61: S45-57.
- 33. Messina JP, Humphreys I, Flaxman A, Brown A, Cooke GS, et al. (2015) Global distribution and prevalence of hepatitis C virus genotypes. Hepatology 61: 77-87.
- 34. Murphy DG, Willems B, Deschenes M, Hilzenrat N, Mousseau R, et al. (2007) Use of sequence analysis of the NS5B region for routine genotyping of hepatitis C virus with reference to C/E1 and 5' untranslated region sequences. J Clin Microbiol 45: 1102-1112.
- 35. Murphy DG, Sablon E, Chamberland J, Fournier E, Dandavino R, et al. (2015) Hepatitis C virus genotype 7, a new genotype originating from central Africa. J Clin Microbiol 53: 967-972.
- 36. Martell M, Esteban JI, Quer J, Genesca J, Weiner A, et al. (1992) Hepatitis C virus (HCV) circulates as a population of different but closely related genomes: quasispecies nature of HCV genome distribution. J Virol 66: 3225-3229.
- 37. Pawlotsky JM (2003) Hepatitis C virus genetic variability: pathogenic and clinical implications. Clin Liver Dis 7: 45-66.
- 38. Simmonds P (2004) Genetic diversity and evolution of hepatitis C virus--15 years on. J Gen Virol 85: 3173-3188.
- 39. Nowak MA (1992) What is a quasispecies? Trends Ecol Evol 7: 118-121.
- 40. Holmes EC, Moya A (2002) Is the quasispecies concept relevant to RNA viruses? J Virol 76: 460-465.

- 41. Wakita T, Pietschmann T, Kato T, Date T, Miyamoto M, et al. (2005) Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in tissue culture from a cloned viral genome. Nat Med 11: 791-796.
- 42. He LF, Alling D, Popkin T, Shapiro M, Alter HJ, et al. (1987) Determining the size of non-A, non-B hepatitis virus by filtration. J Infect Dis 156: 636-640.
- 43. Kaito M, Watanabe S, Tsukiyama-Kohara K, Yamaguchi K, Kobayashi Y, et al. (1994) Hepatitis C virus particle detected by immunoelectron microscopic study. J Gen Virol 75 (Pt 7): 1755-1760.
- 44. Shimizu YK, Feinstone SM, Kohara M, Purcell RH, Yoshikura H (1996) Hepatitis C virus: detection of intracellular virus particles by electron microscopy. Hepatology 23: 205-209.
- 45. Bartenschlager R, Penin F, Lohmann V, Andre P (2011) Assembly of infectious hepatitis C virus particles. Trends Microbiol 19: 95-103.
- 46. Takahashi K, Kishimoto S, Yoshizawa H, Okamoto H, Yoshikawa A, et al. (1992) p26 protein and 33-nm particle associated with nucleocapsid of hepatitis C virus recovered from the circulation of infected hosts. Virology 191: 431-434.
- 47. Tsukiyama-Kohara K, Iizuka N, Kohara M, Nomoto A (1992) Internal ribosome entry site within hepatitis C virus RNA. J Virol 66: 1476-1483.
- 48. Kolykhalov AA, Feinstone SM, Rice CM (1996) Identification of a highly conserved sequence element at the 3' terminus of hepatitis C virus genome RNA. J Virol 70: 3363-3371.
- 49. Tanaka T, Kato N, Cho MJ, Sugiyama K, Shimotohno K (1996) Structure of the 3' terminus of the hepatitis C virus genome. J Virol 70: 3307-3312.
- 50. Yamada N, Tanihara K, Takada A, Yorihuzi T, Tsutsumi M, et al. (1996) Genetic organization and diversity of the 3' noncoding region of the hepatitis C virus genome. Virology 223: 255-261.
- 51. Yanagi M, St Claire M, Emerson SU, Purcell RH, Bukh J (1999) In vivo analysis of the 3' untranslated region of the hepatitis C virus after in vitro mutagenesis of an infectious cDNA clone. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 2291-2295.
- 52. Yi M, Lemon SM (2003) 3' nontranslated RNA signals required for replication of hepatitis C virus RNA. J Virol 77: 3557-3568.
- 53. Friebe P, Bartenschlager R (2002) Genetic analysis of sequences in the 3' nontranslated region of hepatitis C virus that are important for RNA replication. J Virol 76: 5326-5338.
- Kahvejian A, Svitkin YV, Sukarieh R, M'Boutchou MN, Sonenberg N (2005) Mammalian poly(A)-binding protein is a eukaryotic translation initiation factor, which acts via multiple mechanisms. Genes Dev 19: 104-113.
- 55. Ito T, Tahara SM, Lai MM (1998) The 3'-untranslated region of hepatitis C virus RNA enhances translation from an internal ribosomal entry site. J Virol 72: 8789-8796.
- Fang JW, Moyer RW (2000) The effects of the conserved extreme 3' end sequence of hepatitis C virus (HCV) RNA on the in vitro stabilization and translation of the HCV RNA genome. J Hepatol 33: 632-639.
- 57. Murakami K, Abe M, Kageyama T, Kamoshita N, Nomoto A (2001) Down-regulation of translation driven by hepatitis C virus internal ribosomal entry site by the 3' untranslated region of RNA. Arch Virol 146: 729-741.
- 58. Kell A, Stoddard M, Li H, Marcotrigiano J, Shaw GM, et al. (2015) Pathogen-Associated Molecular Pattern Recognition of Hepatitis C Virus Transmitted/Founder Variants by RIG-I Is Dependent on U-Core Length. J Virol 89: 11056-11068.
- 59. Horner SM, Gale M, Jr. (2009) Intracellular innate immune cascades and interferon defenses that control hepatitis C virus. J Interferon Cytokine Res 29: 489-498.

- 60. Moradpour D, Penin F, Rice CM (2007) Replication of hepatitis C virus. Nat Rev Microbiol 5: 453-463.
- McLauchlan J, Lemberg MK, Hope G, Martoglio B (2002) Intramembrane proteolysis promotes trafficking of hepatitis C virus core protein to lipid droplets. EMBO J 21: 3980-3988.
- 62. Schregel V, Jacobi S, Penin F, Tautz N (2009) Hepatitis C virus NS2 is a protease stimulated by cofactor domains in NS3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 5342-5347.
- 63. Hahm B, Han DS, Back SH, Song OK, Cho MJ, et al. (1995) NS3-4A of hepatitis C virus is a chymotrypsin-like protease. J Virol 69: 2534-2539.
- 64. Boulant S, Vanbelle C, Ebel C, Penin F, Lavergne JP (2005) Hepatitis C virus core protein is a dimeric alpha-helical protein exhibiting membrane protein features. J Virol 79: 11353-11365.
- 65. Boulant S, Montserret R, Hope RG, Ratinier M, Targett-Adams P, et al. (2006) Structural determinants that target the hepatitis C virus core protein to lipid droplets. J Biol Chem 281: 22236-22247.
- 66. Hope RG, McLauchlan J (2000) Sequence motifs required for lipid droplet association and protein stability are unique to the hepatitis C virus core protein. J Gen Virol 81: 1913-1925.
- 67. Fujinaga H, Tsutsumi T, Yotsuyanagi H, Moriya K, Koike K (2011) Hepatocarcinogenesis in hepatitis C: HCV shrewdly exacerbates oxidative stress by modulating both production and scavenging of reactive oxygen species. Oncology 81 Suppl 1: 11-17.
- 68. Moriya K, Nakagawa K, Santa T, Shintani Y, Fujie H, et al. (2001) Oxidative stress in the absence of inflammation in a mouse model for hepatitis C virus-associated hepatocarcinogenesis. Cancer Res 61: 4365-4370.
- 69. Miyamoto H, Moriishi K, Moriya K, Murata S, Tanaka K, et al. (2007) Involvement of the PA28gamma-dependent pathway in insulin resistance induced by hepatitis C virus core protein. J Virol 81: 1727-1735.
- 70. Shintani Y, Fujie H, Miyoshi H, Tsutsumi T, Tsukamoto K, et al. (2004) Hepatitis C virus infection and diabetes: direct involvement of the virus in the development of insulin resistance. Gastroenterology 126: 840-848.
- 71. Ralston R, Thudium K, Berger K, Kuo C, Gervase B, et al. (1993) Characterization of hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein complexes expressed by recombinant vaccinia viruses. J Virol 67: 6753-6761.
- 72. Cocquerel L, Wychowski C, Minner F, Penin F, Dubuisson J (2000) Charged residues in the transmembrane domains of hepatitis C virus glycoproteins play a major role in the processing, subcellular localization, and assembly of these envelope proteins. J Virol 74: 3623-3633.
- 73. Khan AG, Miller MT, Marcotrigiano J (2015) HCV glycoprotein structures: what to expect from the unexpected. Curr Opin Virol 12: 53-58.
- 74. Kaito M, Watanabe S, Tanaka H, Fujita N, Konishi M, et al. (2006) Morphological identification of hepatitis C virus E1 and E2 envelope glycoproteins on the virion surface using immunogold electron microscopy. Int J Mol Med 18: 673-678.
- 75. Op De Beeck A, Voisset C, Bartosch B, Ciczora Y, Cocquerel L, et al. (2004) Characterization of functional hepatitis C virus envelope glycoproteins. J Virol 78: 2994-3002.

- 76. Haid S, Pietschmann T, Pecheur EI (2009) Low pH-dependent hepatitis C virus membrane fusion depends on E2 integrity, target lipid composition, and density of virus particles. J Biol Chem 284: 17657-17667.
- 77. Lavillette D, Bartosch B, Nourrisson D, Verney G, Cosset FL, et al. (2006) Hepatitis C virus glycoproteins mediate low pH-dependent membrane fusion with liposomes. J Biol Chem 281: 3909-3917.
- 78. Dubuisson J, Helle F, Cocquerel L (2008) Early steps of the hepatitis C virus life cycle. Cell Microbiol 10: 821-827.
- 79. Falson P, Bartosch B, Alsaleh K, Tews BA, Loquet A, et al. (2015) Hepatitis C Virus Envelope Glycoprotein E1 Forms Trimers at the Surface of the Virion. J Virol 89: 10333-10346.
- 80. Li Y, Modis Y (2014) A novel membrane fusion protein family in Flaviviridae? Trends Microbiol 22: 176-182.
- Carrere-Kremer S, Montpellier-Pala C, Cocquerel L, Wychowski C, Penin F, et al. (2002) Subcellular localization and topology of the p7 polypeptide of hepatitis C virus. J Virol 76: 3720-3730.
- 82. Patargias G, Zitzmann N, Dwek R, Fischer WB (2006) Protein-protein interactions: modeling the hepatitis C virus ion channel p7. J Med Chem 49: 648-655.
- 83. Lohmann V, Korner F, Koch J, Herian U, Theilmann L, et al. (1999) Replication of subgenomic hepatitis C virus RNAs in a hepatoma cell line. Science 285: 110-113.
- 84. Sakai A, Claire MS, Faulk K, Govindarajan S, Emerson SU, et al. (2003) The p7 polypeptide of hepatitis C virus is critical for infectivity and contains functionally important genotype-specific sequences. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 11646-11651.
- 85. Clarke D, Griffin S, Beales L, Gelais CS, Burgess S, et al. (2006) Evidence for the formation of a heptameric ion channel complex by the hepatitis C virus p7 protein in vitro. J Biol Chem 281: 37057-37068.
- 86. Griffin SD, Beales LP, Clarke DS, Worsfold O, Evans SD, et al. (2003) The p7 protein of hepatitis C virus forms an ion channel that is blocked by the antiviral drug, Amantadine. FEBS Lett 535: 34-38.
- 87. Luik P, Chew C, Aittoniemi J, Chang J, Wentworth P, Jr., et al. (2009) The 3-dimensional structure of a hepatitis C virus p7 ion channel by electron microscopy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 12712-12716.
- Atoom AM, Jones DM, Russell RS (2013) Evidence suggesting that HCV p7 protects E2 glycoprotein from premature degradation during virus production. Virus Res 176: 199-210.
- 89. Yamaga AK, Ou JH (2002) Membrane topology of the hepatitis C virus NS2 protein. J Biol Chem 277: 33228-33234.
- 90. Lorenz IC, Marcotrigiano J, Dentzer TG, Rice CM (2006) Structure of the catalytic domain of the hepatitis C virus NS2-3 protease. Nature 442: 831-835.
- 91. Ma Y, Anantpadma M, Timpe JM, Shanmugam S, Singh SM, et al. (2011) Hepatitis C virus NS2 protein serves as a scaffold for virus assembly by interacting with both structural and nonstructural proteins. J Virol 85: 86-97.
- 92. Boson B, Granio O, Bartenschlager R, Cosset FL (2011) A concerted action of hepatitis C virus p7 and nonstructural protein 2 regulates core localization at the endoplasmic reticulum and virus assembly. PLoS Pathog 7: e1002144.

- 93. Jirasko V, Montserret R, Lee JY, Gouttenoire J, Moradpour D, et al. (2010) Structural and functional studies of nonstructural protein 2 of the hepatitis C virus reveal its key role as organizer of virion assembly. PLoS Pathog 6: e1001233.
- 94. Phan T, Beran RK, Peters C, Lorenz IC, Lindenbach BD (2009) Hepatitis C virus NS2 protein contributes to virus particle assembly via opposing epistatic interactions with the E1-E2 glycoprotein and NS3-NS4A enzyme complexes. J Virol 83: 8379-8395.
- 95. Counihan NA, Rawlinson SM, Lindenbach BD (2011) Trafficking of hepatitis C virus core protein during virus particle assembly. PLoS Pathog 7: e1002302.
- 96. Frick DN (2007) The hepatitis C virus NS3 protein: a model RNA helicase and potential drug target. Curr Issues Mol Biol 9: 1-20.
- 97. Foy E, Li K, Wang C, Sumpter R, Jr., Ikeda M, et al. (2003) Regulation of interferon regulatory factor-3 by the hepatitis C virus serine protease. Science 300: 1145-1148.
- 98. Li XD, Sun L, Seth RB, Pineda G, Chen ZJ (2005) Hepatitis C virus protease NS3/4A cleaves mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein off the mitochondria to evade innate immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 17717-17722.
- 99. Meylan E, Curran J, Hofmann K, Moradpour D, Binder M, et al. (2005) Cardif is an adaptor protein in the RIG-I antiviral pathway and is targeted by hepatitis C virus. Nature 437: 1167-1172.
- 100. Li K, Foy E, Ferreon JC, Nakamura M, Ferreon AC, et al. (2005) Immune evasion by hepatitis C virus NS3/4A protease-mediated cleavage of the Toll-like receptor 3 adaptor protein TRIF. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 2992-2997.
- 101. Suzich JA, Tamura JK, Palmer-Hill F, Warrener P, Grakoui A, et al. (1993) Hepatitis C virus NS3 protein polynucleotide-stimulated nucleoside triphosphatase and comparison with the related pestivirus and flavivirus enzymes. J Virol 67: 6152-6158.
- 102. Kim DW, Gwack Y, Han JH, Choe J (1995) C-terminal domain of the hepatitis C virus NS3 protein contains an RNA helicase activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 215: 160-166.
- 103. Tai CL, Chi WK, Chen DS, Hwang LH (1996) The helicase activity associated with hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 3 (NS3). J Virol 70: 8477-8484.
- 104. Gouttenoire J, Castet V, Montserret R, Arora N, Raussens V, et al. (2009) Identification of a novel determinant for membrane association in hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 4B. J Virol 83: 6257-6268.
- 105. Hugle T, Fehrmann F, Bieck E, Kohara M, Krausslich HG, et al. (2001) The hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 4B is an integral endoplasmic reticulum membrane protein. Virology 284: 70-81.
- 106. Egger D, Wolk B, Gosert R, Bianchi L, Blum HE, et al. (2002) Expression of hepatitis C virus proteins induces distinct membrane alterations including a candidate viral replication complex. J Virol 76: 5974-5984.
- 107. Paul D, Romero-Brey I, Gouttenoire J, Stoitsova S, Krijnse-Locker J, et al. (2011) NS4B selfinteraction through conserved C-terminal elements is required for the establishment of functional hepatitis C virus replication complexes. J Virol 85: 6963-6976.
- 108. Romero-Brey I, Merz A, Chiramel A, Lee JY, Chlanda P, et al. (2012) Three-dimensional architecture and biogenesis of membrane structures associated with hepatitis C virus replication. PLoS Pathog 8: e1003056.
- 109. Huang Y, Staschke K, De Francesco R, Tan SL (2007) Phosphorylation of hepatitis C virus NS5A nonstructural protein: a new paradigm for phosphorylation-dependent viral RNA replication? Virology 364: 1-9.

- 110. Hughes M, Griffin S, Harris M (2009) Domain III of NS5A contributes to both RNA replication and assembly of hepatitis C virus particles. J Gen Virol 90: 1329-1334.
- 111. Huang L, Hwang J, Sharma SD, Hargittai MR, Chen Y, et al. (2005) Hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A (NS5A) is an RNA-binding protein. J Biol Chem 280: 36417-36428.
- 112. Foster TL, Belyaeva T, Stonehouse NJ, Pearson AR, Harris M (2010) All three domains of the hepatitis C virus nonstructural NS5A protein contribute to RNA binding. J Virol 84: 9267-9277.
- 113. Elazar M, Cheong KH, Liu P, Greenberg HB, Rice CM, et al. (2003) Amphipathic helixdependent localization of NS5A mediates hepatitis C virus RNA replication. J Virol 77: 6055-6061.
- 114. Tellinghuisen TL, Marcotrigiano J, Gorbalenya AE, Rice CM (2004) The NS5A protein of hepatitis C virus is a zinc metalloprotein. J Biol Chem 279: 48576-48587.
- 115. Ross-Thriepland D, Harris M (2015) Hepatitis C virus NS5A: enigmatic but still promiscuous 10 years on! J Gen Virol 96: 727-738.
- 116. Appel N, Zayas M, Miller S, Krijnse-Locker J, Schaller T, et al. (2008) Essential role of domain III of nonstructural protein 5A for hepatitis C virus infectious particle assembly. PLoS Pathog 4: e1000035.
- 117. Tellinghuisen TL, Foss KL, Treadaway J (2008) Regulation of hepatitis C virion production via phosphorylation of the NS5A protein. PLoS Pathog 4: e1000032.
- 118. Kim S, Welsch C, Yi M, Lemon SM (2011) Regulation of the production of infectious genotype 1a hepatitis C virus by NS5A domain III. J Virol 85: 6645-6656.
- 119. Reiss S, Rebhan I, Backes P, Romero-Brey I, Erfle H, et al. (2011) Recruitment and activation of a lipid kinase by hepatitis C virus NS5A is essential for integrity of the membranous replication compartment. Cell Host Microbe 9: 32-45.
- 120. Chatterji U, Lim P, Bobardt MD, Wieland S, Cordek DG, et al. (2010) HCV resistance to cyclosporin A does not correlate with a resistance of the NS5A-cyclophilin A interaction to cyclophilin inhibitors. J Hepatol 53: 50-56.
- 121. Madan V, Paul D, Lohmann V, Bartenschlager R (2014) Inhibition of HCV replication by cyclophilin antagonists is linked to replication fitness and occurs by inhibition of membranous web formation. Gastroenterology 146: 1361-1372 e1361-1369.
- 122. Cuevas JM, Gonzalez-Candelas F, Moya A, Sanjuan R (2009) Effect of ribavirin on the mutation rate and spectrum of hepatitis C virus in vivo. J Virol 83: 5760-5764.
- 123. Vignuzzi M, Stone JK, Arnold JJ, Cameron CE, Andino R (2006) Quasispecies diversity determines pathogenesis through cooperative interactions in a viral population. Nature 439: 344-348.
- 124. Schmidt-Mende J, Bieck E, Hugle T, Penin F, Rice CM, et al. (2001) Determinants for membrane association of the hepatitis C virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. J Biol Chem 276: 44052-44063.
- 125. Bressanelli S, Tomei L, Roussel A, Incitti I, Vitale RL, et al. (1999) Crystal structure of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase of hepatitis C virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 13034-13039.
- 126. Biswal BK, Cherney MM, Wang M, Chan L, Yannopoulos CG, et al. (2005) Crystal structures of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase genotype 2a of hepatitis C virus reveal two conformations and suggest mechanisms of inhibition by non-nucleoside inhibitors. J Biol Chem 280: 18202-18210.

- 127. Lesburg CA, Cable MB, Ferrari E, Hong Z, Mannarino AF, et al. (1999) Crystal structure of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase from hepatitis C virus reveals a fully encircled active site. Nat Struct Biol 6: 937-943.
- 128. Ducoulombier D, Roque-Afonso AM, Di Liberto G, Penin F, Kara R, et al. (2004) Frequent compartmentalization of hepatitis C virus variants in circulating B cells and monocytes. Hepatology 39: 817-825.
- 129. Forton DM, Karayiannis P, Mahmud N, Taylor-Robinson SD, Thomas HC (2004) Identification of unique hepatitis C virus quasispecies in the central nervous system and comparative analysis of internal translational efficiency of brain, liver, and serum variants. J Virol 78: 5170-5183.
- 130. Wilkinson J, Radkowski M, Laskus T (2009) Hepatitis C virus neuroinvasion: identification of infected cells. J Virol 83: 1312-1319.
- 131. Pham TN, King D, Macparland SA, McGrath JS, Reddy SB, et al. (2008) Hepatitis C virus replicates in the same immune cell subsets in chronic hepatitis C and occult infection. Gastroenterology 134: 812-822.
- 132. Sarhan MA, Pham TN, Chen AY, Michalak TI (2012) Hepatitis C virus infection of human T lymphocytes is mediated by CD5. J Virol 86: 3723-3735.
- Thomssen R, Bonk S, Propfe C, Heermann KH, Kochel HG, et al. (1992) Association of hepatitis C virus in human sera with beta-lipoprotein. Med Microbiol Immunol 181: 293-300.
- 134. Thomssen R, Bonk S, Thiele A (1993) Density heterogeneities of hepatitis C virus in human sera due to the binding of beta-lipoproteins and immunoglobulins. Med Microbiol Immunol 182: 329-334.
- 135. Albecka A, Belouzard S, Op de Beeck A, Descamps V, Goueslain L, et al. (2012) Role of lowdensity lipoprotein receptor in the hepatitis C virus life cycle. Hepatology 55: 998-1007.
- 136. Maecker HT, Todd SC, Levy S (1997) The tetraspanin superfamily: molecular facilitators. FASEB J 11: 428-442.
- 137. Kong L, Giang E, Nieusma T, Kadam RU, Cogburn KE, et al. (2013) Hepatitis C virus E2 envelope glycoprotein core structure. Science 342: 1090-1094.
- 138. Scarselli E, Ansuini H, Cerino R, Roccasecca RM, Acali S, et al. (2002) The human scavenger receptor class B type I is a novel candidate receptor for the hepatitis C virus. EMBO J 21: 5017-5025.
- 139. Evans MJ, von Hahn T, Tscherne DM, Syder AJ, Panis M, et al. (2007) Claudin-1 is a hepatitis C virus co-receptor required for a late step in entry. Nature 446: 801-805.
- 140. Ploss A, Evans MJ, Gaysinskaya VA, Panis M, You H, et al. (2009) Human occludin is a hepatitis C virus entry factor required for infection of mouse cells. Nature 457: 882-886.
- 141. Ujino S, Nishitsuji H, Hishiki T, Sugiyama K, Takaku H, et al. (2015) Hepatitis C virus utilizes VLDLR as a novel entry pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.
- 142. Dubuisson J, Cosset FL (2014) Virology and cell biology of the hepatitis C virus life cycle: an update. J Hepatol 61: S3-S13.
- 143. Benedicto I, Molina-Jimenez F, Bartosch B, Cosset FL, Lavillette D, et al. (2009) The tight junction-associated protein occludin is required for a postbinding step in hepatitis C virus entry and infection. J Virol 83: 8012-8020.
- 144. Blanchard E, Belouzard S, Goueslain L, Wakita T, Dubuisson J, et al. (2006) Hepatitis C virus entry depends on clathrin-mediated endocytosis. J Virol 80: 6964-6972.

- 145. Tscherne DM, Jones CT, Evans MJ, Lindenbach BD, McKeating JA, et al. (2006) Time- and temperature-dependent activation of hepatitis C virus for low-pH-triggered entry. J Virol 80: 1734-1741.
- 146. Sharma NR, Mateu G, Dreux M, Grakoui A, Cosset FL, et al. (2011) Hepatitis C virus is primed by CD81 protein for low pH-dependent fusion. J Biol Chem 286: 30361-30376.
- 147. Khan AG, Whidby J, Miller MT, Scarborough H, Zatorski AV, et al. (2014) Structure of the core ectodomain of the hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein 2. Nature 509: 381-384.
- 148. Garry RF, Dash S (2003) Proteomics computational analyses suggest that hepatitis C virus E1 and pestivirus E2 envelope glycoproteins are truncated class II fusion proteins. Virology 307: 255-265.
- 149. El Omari K, Iourin O, Kadlec J, Sutton G, Harlos K, et al. (2014) Unexpected structure for the N-terminal domain of hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein E1. Nat Commun 5: 4874.
- 150. Moradpour D, Englert C, Wakita T, Wands JR (1996) Characterization of cell lines allowing tightly regulated expression of hepatitis C virus core protein. Virology 222: 51-63.
- 151. Miyanari Y, Atsuzawa K, Usuda N, Watashi K, Hishiki T, et al. (2007) The lipid droplet is an important organelle for hepatitis C virus production. Nat Cell Biol 9: 1089-1097.
- 152. Paul D, Madan V, Bartenschlager R (2014) Hepatitis C virus RNA replication and assembly: living on the fat of the land. Cell Host Microbe 16: 569-579.
- 153. Masaki T, Suzuki R, Murakami K, Aizaki H, Ishii K, et al. (2008) Interaction of hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A with core protein is critical for the production of infectious virus particles. J Virol 82: 7964-7976.
- 154. Ma Y, Yates J, Liang Y, Lemon SM, Yi M (2008) NS3 helicase domains involved in infectious intracellular hepatitis C virus particle assembly. J Virol 82: 7624-7639.
- 155. Kohlway A, Pirakitikulr N, Ding SC, Yang F, Luo D, et al. (2014) The linker region of NS3 plays a critical role in the replication and infectivity of hepatitis C virus. J Virol 88: 10970-10974.
- 156. Gouklani H, Bull RA, Beyer C, Coulibaly F, Gowans EJ, et al. (2012) Hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5B is involved in virus morphogenesis. J Virol 86: 5080-5088.
- 157. Jones DM, Patel AH, Targett-Adams P, McLauchlan J (2009) The hepatitis C virus NS4B protein can trans-complement viral RNA replication and modulates production of infectious virus. J Virol 83: 2163-2177.
- 158. Lindenbach BD (2013) Virion assembly and release. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 369: 199-218.
- 159. Huang H, Sun F, Owen DM, Li W, Chen Y, et al. (2007) Hepatitis C virus production by human hepatocytes dependent on assembly and secretion of very low-density lipoproteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 5848-5853.
- 160. Gastaminza P, Cheng G, Wieland S, Zhong J, Liao W, et al. (2008) Cellular determinants of hepatitis C virus assembly, maturation, degradation, and secretion. J Virol 82: 2120-2129.
- 161. Nahmias Y, Goldwasser J, Casali M, van Poll D, Wakita T, et al. (2008) Apolipoprotein Bdependent hepatitis C virus secretion is inhibited by the grapefruit flavonoid naringenin. Hepatology 47: 1437-1445.
- 162. Coller KE, Heaton NS, Berger KL, Cooper JD, Saunders JL, et al. (2012) Molecular determinants and dynamics of hepatitis C virus secretion. PLoS Pathog 8: e1002466.
- 163. Vieyres G, Dubuisson J, Pietschmann T (2014) Incorporation of hepatitis C virus E1 and E2 glycoproteins: the keystones on a peculiar virion. Viruses 6: 1149-1187.

- 164. Iacovacci S, Manzin A, Barca S, Sargiacomo M, Serafino A, et al. (1997) Molecular characterization and dynamics of hepatitis C virus replication in human fetal hepatocytes infected in vitro. Hepatology 26: 1328-1337.
- 165. Iacovacci S, Sargiacomo M, Parolini I, Ponzetto A, Peschle C, et al. (1993) Replication and multiplication of hepatitis C virus genome in human foetal liver cells. Res Virol 144: 275-279.
- 166. Lanford RE, Sureau C, Jacob JR, White R, Fuerst TR (1994) Demonstration of in vitro infection of chimpanzee hepatocytes with hepatitis C virus using strand-specific RT/PCR. Virology 202: 606-614.
- 167. Seipp S, Mueller HM, Pfaff E, Stremmel W, Theilmann L, et al. (1997) Establishment of persistent hepatitis C virus infection and replication in vitro. J Gen Virol 78 (Pt 10): 2467-2476.
- 168. Tagawa M, Kato N, Yokosuka O, Ishikawa T, Ohto M, et al. (1995) Infection of human hepatocyte cell lines with hepatitis C virus in vitro. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 10: 523-527.
- 169. Kato N, Nakazawa T, Mizutani T, Shimotohno K (1995) Susceptibility of human Tlymphotropic virus type I infected cell line MT-2 to hepatitis C virus infection. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 206: 863-869.
- 170. Shimizu YK, Iwamoto A, Hijikata M, Purcell RH, Yoshikura H (1992) Evidence for in vitro replication of hepatitis C virus genome in a human T-cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89: 5477-5481.
- 171. Lohmann V, Bartenschlager R (2014) On the history of hepatitis C virus cell culture systems. J Med Chem 57: 1627-1642.
- 172. Tariq H, Manzoor S, Parvaiz F, Javed F, Fatima K, et al. (2012) An overview: in vitro models of HCV replication in different cell cultures. Infect Genet Evol 12: 13-20.
- 173. Catanese MT, Dorner M (2015) Advances in experimental systems to study hepatitis C virus in vitro and in vivo. Virology 479-480: 221-233.
- 174. Tellinghuisen TL, Evans MJ, von Hahn T, You S, Rice CM (2007) Studying hepatitis C virus: making the best of a bad virus. J Virol 81: 8853-8867.
- 175. Bartosch B, Dubuisson J, Cosset FL (2003) Infectious hepatitis C virus pseudo-particles containing functional E1-E2 envelope protein complexes. J Exp Med 197: 633-642.
- 176. Hsu M, Zhang J, Flint M, Logvinoff C, Cheng-Mayer C, et al. (2003) Hepatitis C virus glycoproteins mediate pH-dependent cell entry of pseudotyped retroviral particles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 7271-7276.
- 177. von Hahn T, Yoon JC, Alter H, Rice CM, Rehermann B, et al. (2007) Hepatitis C virus continuously escapes from neutralizing antibody and T-cell responses during chronic infection in vivo. Gastroenterology 132: 667-678.
- 178. Giang E, Dorner M, Prentoe JC, Dreux M, Evans MJ, et al. (2012) Human broadly neutralizing antibodies to the envelope glycoprotein complex of hepatitis C virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109: 6205-6210.
- 179. Osburn WO, Snider AE, Wells BL, Latanich R, Bailey JR, et al. (2014) Clearance of hepatitis C infection is associated with the early appearance of broad neutralizing antibody responses. Hepatology 59: 2140-2151.
- 180. Kato T, Furusaka A, Miyamoto M, Date T, Yasui K, et al. (2001) Sequence analysis of hepatitis C virus isolated from a fulminant hepatitis patient. J Med Virol 64: 334-339.
- 181. Lindenbach BD, Evans MJ, Syder AJ, Wolk B, Tellinghuisen TL, et al. (2005) Complete replication of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. Science 309: 623-626.

- 182. Sumpter R, Jr., Loo YM, Foy E, Li K, Yoneyama M, et al. (2005) Regulating intracellular antiviral defense and permissiveness to hepatitis C virus RNA replication through a cellular RNA helicase, RIG-I. J Virol 79: 2689-2699.
- 183. Koutsoudakis G, Herrmann E, Kallis S, Bartenschlager R, Pietschmann T (2007) The level of CD81 cell surface expression is a key determinant for productive entry of hepatitis C virus into host cells. J Virol 81: 588-598.
- 184. Blight KJ, McKeating JA, Rice CM (2002) Highly permissive cell lines for subgenomic and genomic hepatitis C virus RNA replication. J Virol 76: 13001-13014.
- 185. Pietschmann T, Kaul A, Koutsoudakis G, Shavinskaya A, Kallis S, et al. (2006) Construction and characterization of infectious intragenotypic and intergenotypic hepatitis C virus chimeras. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 7408-7413.
- 186. Zhong J, Gastaminza P, Chung J, Stamataki Z, Isogawa M, et al. (2006) Persistent hepatitis C virus infection in vitro: coevolution of virus and host. J Virol 80: 11082-11093.
- 187. Russell RS, Meunier JC, Takikawa S, Faulk K, Engle RE, et al. (2008) Advantages of a singlecycle production assay to study cell culture-adaptive mutations of hepatitis C virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 4370-4375.
- 188. Saeed M, Andreo U, Chung HY, Espiritu C, Branch AD, et al. (2015) SEC14L2 enables pangenotype HCV replication in cell culture. Nature 524: 471-475.
- 189. Houghton M (2009) The long and winding road leading to the identification of the hepatitis C virus. J Hepatol 51: 939-948.
- 190. Bukh J (2004) A critical role for the chimpanzee model in the study of hepatitis C. Hepatology 39: 1469-1475.
- 191. Bukh J (2012) Animal models for the study of hepatitis C virus infection and related liver disease. Gastroenterology 142: 1279-1287 e1273.
- 192. Vercauteren K, de Jong YP, Meuleman P (2015) Animal models for the study of HCV. Curr Opin Virol 13: 67-74.
- 193. Vercauteren K, de Jong YP, Meuleman P (2014) HCV animal models and liver disease. J Hepatol 61: S26-33.
- 194. Xie ZC, Riezu-Boj JI, Lasarte JJ, Guillen J, Su JH, et al. (1998) Transmission of hepatitis C virus infection to tree shrews. Virology 244: 513-520.
- 195. Amako Y, Tsukiyama-Kohara K, Katsume A, Hirata Y, Sekiguchi S, et al. (2010) Pathogenesis of hepatitis C virus infection in Tupaia belangeri. J Virol 84: 303-311.
- 196. Xu X, Chen H, Cao X, Ben K (2007) Efficient infection of tree shrew (Tupaia belangeri) with hepatitis C virus grown in cell culture or from patient plasma. J Gen Virol 88: 2504-2512.
- 197. Bitzegeio J, Bankwitz D, Hueging K, Haid S, Brohm C, et al. (2010) Adaptation of hepatitis C virus to mouse CD81 permits infection of mouse cells in the absence of human entry factors. PLoS Pathog 6: e1000978.
- 198. Frentzen A, Anggakusuma, Gurlevik E, Hueging K, Knocke S, et al. (2014) Cell entry, efficient RNA replication, and production of infectious hepatitis C virus progeny in mouse liverderived cells. Hepatology 59: 78-88.
- 199. Dorner M, Horwitz JA, Robbins JB, Barry WT, Feng Q, et al. (2011) A genetically humanized mouse model for hepatitis C virus infection. Nature 474: 208-211.
- 200. Dorner M, Horwitz JA, Donovan BM, Labitt RN, Budell WC, et al. (2013) Completion of the entire hepatitis C virus life cycle in genetically humanized mice. Nature 501: 237-241.

- 201. Boermans HJ, Percy DH, Stirtzinger T, Croy BA (1992) Engraftment of severe combined immune deficient/beige mice with bovine foetal lymphoid tissues. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 34: 273-289.
- 202. Meuleman P, Libbrecht L, De Vos R, de Hemptinne B, Gevaert K, et al. (2005) Morphological and biochemical characterization of a human liver in a uPA-SCID mouse chimera. Hepatology 41: 847-856.
- 203. Dandri M, Burda MR, Torok E, Pollok JM, Iwanska A, et al. (2001) Repopulation of mouse liver with human hepatocytes and in vivo infection with hepatitis B virus. Hepatology 33: 981-988.
- 204. Mercer DF, Schiller DE, Elliott JF, Douglas DN, Hao C, et al. (2001) Hepatitis C virus replication in mice with chimeric human livers. Nat Med 7: 927-933.
- 205. Akazawa D, Moriyama M, Yokokawa H, Omi N, Watanabe N, et al. (2013) Neutralizing antibodies induced by cell culture-derived hepatitis C virus protect against infection in mice. Gastroenterology 145: 447-455 e441-444.
- 206. Ji C, Liu Y, Pamulapati C, Bohini S, Fertig G, et al. (2015) Prevention of hepatitis C virus infection and spread in human liver chimeric mice by an anti-CD81 monoclonal antibody. Hepatology 61: 1136-1144.
- 207. Vercauteren K, Van Den Eede N, Mesalam AA, Belouzard S, Catanese MT, et al. (2014) Successful anti-scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) monoclonal antibody therapy in humanized mice after challenge with HCV variants with in vitro resistance to SR-BItargeting agents. Hepatology 60: 1508-1518.
- 208. Kneteman NM, Howe AY, Gao T, Lewis J, Pevear D, et al. (2009) HCV796: A selective nonstructural protein 5B polymerase inhibitor with potent anti-hepatitis C virus activity in vitro, in mice with chimeric human livers, and in humans infected with hepatitis C virus. Hepatology 49: 745-752.
- 209. Narjes F, Crescenzi B, Ferrara M, Habermann J, Colarusso S, et al. (2011) Discovery of (7R)-14-cyclohexyl-7-{[2-(dimethylamino)ethyl](methyl) amino}-7,8-dihydro-6H-indolo[1,2e][1,5]benzoxazocine-11-carboxylic acid (MK-3281), a potent and orally bioavailable finger-loop inhibitor of the hepatitis C virus NS5B polymerase. J Med Chem 54: 289-301.
- 210. Wilson EM, Bial J, Tarlow B, Bial G, Jensen B, et al. (2014) Extensive double humanization of both liver and hematopoiesis in FRGN mice. Stem Cell Res 13: 404-412.
- 211. Washburn ML, Bility MT, Zhang L, Kovalev GI, Buntzman A, et al. (2011) A humanized mouse model to study hepatitis C virus infection, immune response, and liver disease. Gastroenterology 140: 1334-1344.
- 212. Bility MT, Curtis A, Su L (2014) A chimeric mouse model to study immunopathogenesis of HCV infection. Methods Mol Biol 1213: 379-388.
- 213. Sheppard P, Kindsvogel W, Xu W, Henderson K, Schlutsmeyer S, et al. (2003) IL-28, IL-29 and their class II cytokine receptor IL-28R. Nat Immunol 4: 63-68.
- 214. Kotenko SV, Gallagher G, Baurin VV, Lewis-Antes A, Shen M, et al. (2003) IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. Nat Immunol 4: 69-77.
- 215. Laidlaw SM, Dustin LB (2014) Interferon lambda: opportunities, risks, and uncertainties in the fight against HCV. Front Immunol 5: 545.
- 216. Zhou Z, Hamming OJ, Ank N, Paludan SR, Nielsen AL, et al. (2007) Type III interferon (IFN) induces a type I IFN-like response in a restricted subset of cells through signaling

pathways involving both the Jak-STAT pathway and the mitogen-activated protein kinases. J Virol 81: 7749-7758.

- 217. Saito T, Owen DM, Jiang F, Marcotrigiano J, Gale M, Jr. (2008) Innate immunity induced by composition-dependent RIG-I recognition of hepatitis C virus RNA. Nature 454: 523-527.
- 218. Yoneyama M, Kikuchi M, Natsukawa T, Shinobu N, Imaizumi T, et al. (2004) The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. Nat Immunol 5: 730-737.
- 219. Rehwinkel J, Reis e Sousa C (2010) RIGorous detection: exposing virus through RNA sensing. Science 327: 284-286.
- 220. Yang DR, Zhu HZ (2015) Hepatitis C virus and antiviral innate immunity: who wins at tug-ofwar? World J Gastroenterol 21: 3786-3800.
- 221. Yoneyama M, Onomoto K, Jogi M, Akaboshi T, Fujita T (2015) Viral RNA detection by RIG-Ilike receptors. Curr Opin Immunol 32: 48-53.
- 222. Weber M, Gawanbacht A, Habjan M, Rang A, Borner C, et al. (2013) Incoming RNA virus nucleocapsids containing a 5'-triphosphorylated genome activate RIG-I and antiviral signaling. Cell Host Microbe 13: 336-346.
- 223. Saito T, Hirai R, Loo YM, Owen D, Johnson CL, et al. (2007) Regulation of innate antiviral defenses through a shared repressor domain in RIG-I and LGP2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 582-587.
- 224. Jiang F, Ramanathan A, Miller MT, Tang GQ, Gale M, Jr., et al. (2011) Structural basis of RNA recognition and activation by innate immune receptor RIG-I. Nature 479: 423-427.
- 225. Horner SM, Liu HM, Park HS, Briley J, Gale M, Jr. (2011) Mitochondrial-associated endoplasmic reticulum membranes (MAM) form innate immune synapses and are targeted by hepatitis C virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108: 14590-14595.
- 226. Dixit E, Boulant S, Zhang Y, Lee AS, Odendall C, et al. (2010) Peroxisomes are signaling platforms for antiviral innate immunity. Cell 141: 668-681.
- 227. Liu HM, Loo YM, Horner SM, Zornetzer GA, Katze MG, et al. (2012) The mitochondrial targeting chaperone 14-3-3epsilon regulates a RIG-I translocon that mediates membrane association and innate antiviral immunity. Cell Host Microbe 11: 528-537.
- 228. Gack MU, Shin YC, Joo CH, Urano T, Liang C, et al. (2007) TRIM25 RING-finger E3 ubiquitin ligase is essential for RIG-I-mediated antiviral activity. Nature 446: 916-920.
- 229. Oshiumi H, Miyashita M, Matsumoto M, Seya T (2013) A distinct role of Riplet-mediated K63-Linked polyubiquitination of the RIG-I repressor domain in human antiviral innate immune responses. PLoS Pathog 9: e1003533.
- 230. Thimme R, Binder M, Bartenschlager R (2012) Failure of innate and adaptive immune responses in controlling hepatitis C virus infection. FEMS Microbiol Rev 36: 663-683.
- 231. Suthar MS, Gale M, Jr., Owen DM (2009) Evasion and disruption of innate immune signalling by hepatitis C and West Nile viruses. Cell Microbiol 11: 880-888.
- 232. Horner SM, Gale M, Jr. (2013) Regulation of hepatic innate immunity by hepatitis C virus. Nat Med 19: 879-888.
- 233. Xu Y, Tao X, Shen B, Horng T, Medzhitov R, et al. (2000) Structural basis for signal transduction by the Toll/interleukin-1 receptor domains. Nature 408: 111-115.
- 234. Nyman T, Stenmark P, Flodin S, Johansson I, Hammarstrom M, et al. (2008) The crystal structure of the human toll-like receptor 10 cytoplasmic domain reveals a putative signaling dimer. J Biol Chem 283: 11861-11865.

- 235. Li K, Li NL, Wei D, Pfeffer SR, Fan M, et al. (2012) Activation of chemokine and inflammatory cytokine response in hepatitis C virus-infected hepatocytes depends on Toll-like receptor
  3 sensing of hepatitis C virus double-stranded RNA intermediates. Hepatology 55: 666-675.
- 236. Kawasaki T, Kawai T, Akira S (2011) Recognition of nucleic acids by pattern-recognition receptors and its relevance in autoimmunity. Immunol Rev 243: 61-73.
- 237. Levy DE, Marie I, Smith E, Prakash A (2002) Enhancement and diversification of IFN induction by IRF-7-mediated positive feedback. J Interferon Cytokine Res 22: 87-93.
- 238. Sato M, Hata N, Asagiri M, Nakaya T, Taniguchi T, et al. (1998) Positive feedback regulation of type I IFN genes by the IFN-inducible transcription factor IRF-7. FEBS Lett 441: 106-110.
- 239. Chen L, Sun J, Meng L, Heathcote J, Edwards AM, et al. (2010) ISG15, a ubiquitin-like interferon-stimulated gene, promotes hepatitis C virus production in vitro: implications for chronic infection and response to treatment. J Gen Virol 91: 382-388.
- 240. Arnaud N, Dabo S, Akazawa D, Fukasawa M, Shinkai-Ouchi F, et al. (2011) Hepatitis C virus reveals a novel early control in acute immune response. PLoS Pathog 7: e1002289.
- 241. Bigger CB, Brasky KM, Lanford RE (2001) DNA microarray analysis of chimpanzee liver during acute resolving hepatitis C virus infection. J Virol 75: 7059-7066.
- 242. Marcellin P (1999) Hepatitis C: the clinical spectrum of the disease. J Hepatol 31 Suppl 1: 9-16.
- 243. Foy E, Li K, Sumpter R, Jr., Loo YM, Johnson CL, et al. (2005) Control of antiviral defenses through hepatitis C virus disruption of retinoic acid-inducible gene-I signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 2986-2991.
- 244. Rehermann B (2009) Hepatitis C virus versus innate and adaptive immune responses: a tale of coevolution and coexistence. J Clin Invest 119: 1745-1754.
- 245. Taguchi T, Nagano-Fujii M, Akutsu M, Kadoya H, Ohgimoto S, et al. (2004) Hepatitis C virus NS5A protein interacts with 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetase and inhibits antiviral activity of IFN in an IFN sensitivity-determining region-independent manner. J Gen Virol 85: 959-969.
- 246. Samuel CE (2001) Antiviral actions of interferons. Clin Microbiol Rev 14: 778-809, table of contents.
- 247. Gale MJ, Jr., Korth MJ, Tang NM, Tan SL, Hopkins DA, et al. (1997) Evidence that hepatitis C virus resistance to interferon is mediated through repression of the PKR protein kinase by the nonstructural 5A protein. Virology 230: 217-227.
- 248. Taylor DR, Shi ST, Romano PR, Barber GN, Lai MM (1999) Inhibition of the interferoninducible protein kinase PKR by HCV E2 protein. Science 285: 107-110.
- 249. Jost S, Altfeld M (2013) Control of human viral infections by natural killer cells. Annu Rev Immunol 31: 163-194.
- 250. Tian Z, Chen Y, Gao B (2013) Natural killer cells in liver disease. Hepatology 57: 1654-1662.
- 251. Amadei B, Urbani S, Cazaly A, Fisicaro P, Zerbini A, et al. (2010) Activation of natural killer cells during acute infection with hepatitis C virus. Gastroenterology 138: 1536-1545.
- 252. Pelletier S, Drouin C, Bedard N, Khakoo SI, Bruneau J, et al. (2010) Increased degranulation of natural killer cells during acute HCV correlates with the magnitude of virus-specific T cell responses. J Hepatol 53: 805-816.
- 253. Khakoo SI, Thio CL, Martin MP, Brooks CR, Gao X, et al. (2004) HLA and NK cell inhibitory receptor genes in resolving hepatitis C virus infection. Science 305: 872-874.

- 254. De Maria A, Fogli M, Mazza S, Basso M, Picciotto A, et al. (2007) Increased natural cytotoxicity receptor expression and relevant IL-10 production in NK cells from chronically infected viremic HCV patients. Eur J Immunol 37: 445-455.
- 255. Jinushi M, Takehara T, Tatsumi T, Kanto T, Miyagi T, et al. (2004) Negative regulation of NK cell activities by inhibitory receptor CD94/NKG2A leads to altered NK cell-induced modulation of dendritic cell functions in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. J Immunol 173: 6072-6081.
- 256. Corado J, Toro F, Rivera H, Bianco NE, Deibis L, et al. (1997) Impairment of natural killer (NK) cytotoxic activity in hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection. Clin Exp Immunol 109: 451-457.
- 257. Nattermann J, Feldmann G, Ahlenstiel G, Langhans B, Sauerbruch T, et al. (2006) Surface expression and cytolytic function of natural killer cell receptors is altered in chronic hepatitis C. Gut 55: 869-877.
- 258. Golden-Mason L, Kelly AM, Doherty DG, Traynor O, McEntee G, et al. (2004) Hepatic interleuklin 15 (IL-15) expression: implications for local NK/NKT cell homeostasis and development. Clin Exp Immunol 138: 94-101.
- 259. Tseng CT, Klimpel GR (2002) Binding of the hepatitis C virus envelope protein E2 to CD81 inhibits natural killer cell functions. J Exp Med 195: 43-49.
- 260. Crotta S, Stilla A, Wack A, D'Andrea A, Nuti S, et al. (2002) Inhibition of natural killer cells through engagement of CD81 by the major hepatitis C virus envelope protein. J Exp Med 195: 35-41.
- 261. Holder KA, Stapleton SN, Gallant ME, Russell RS, Grant MD (2013) Hepatitis C virus-infected cells downregulate NKp30 and inhibit ex vivo NK cell functions. J Immunol 191: 3308-3318.
- 262. Abdel-Hakeem MS, Shoukry NH (2014) Protective immunity against hepatitis C: many shades of gray. Front Immunol 5: 274.
- 263. Heim MH, Thimme R (2014) Innate and adaptive immune responses in HCV infections. J Hepatol 61: S14-25.
- 264. Major ME, Dahari H, Mihalik K, Puig M, Rice CM, et al. (2004) Hepatitis C virus kinetics and host responses associated with disease and outcome of infection in chimpanzees. Hepatology 39: 1709-1720.
- 265. Walker CM (2010) Adaptive immunity to the hepatitis C virus. Adv Virus Res 78: 43-86.
- 266. Farci P, Shimoda A, Wong D, Cabezon T, De Gioannis D, et al. (1996) Prevention of hepatitis C virus infection in chimpanzees by hyperimmune serum against the hypervariable region 1 of the envelope 2 protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93: 15394-15399.
- 267. Shimizu YK, Igarashi H, Kiyohara T, Cabezon T, Farci P, et al. (1996) A hyperimmune serum against a synthetic peptide corresponding to the hypervariable region 1 of hepatitis C virus can prevent viral infection in cell cultures. Virology 223: 409-412.
- 268. Bassett SE, Thomas DL, Brasky KM, Lanford RE (1999) Viral persistence, antibody to E1 and E2, and hypervariable region 1 sequence stability in hepatitis C virus-inoculated chimpanzees. J Virol 73: 1118-1126.
- 269. Logvinoff C, Major ME, Oldach D, Heyward S, Talal A, et al. (2004) Neutralizing antibody response during acute and chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 10149-10154.
- 270. Pestka JM, Zeisel MB, Blaser E, Schurmann P, Bartosch B, et al. (2007) Rapid induction of virus-neutralizing antibodies and viral clearance in a single-source outbreak of hepatitis C. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 6025-6030.

- 271. Shoukry NH, Grakoui A, Houghton M, Chien DY, Ghrayeb J, et al. (2003) Memory CD8+ T cells are required for protection from persistent hepatitis C virus infection. J Exp Med 197: 1645-1655.
- 272. Grakoui A, Shoukry NH, Woollard DJ, Han JH, Hanson HL, et al. (2003) HCV persistence and immune evasion in the absence of memory T cell help. Science 302: 659-662.
- 273. Lechner F, Wong DK, Dunbar PR, Chapman R, Chung RT, et al. (2000) Analysis of successful immune responses in persons infected with hepatitis C virus. J Exp Med 191: 1499-1512.
- 274. Cooper S, Erickson AL, Adams EJ, Kansopon J, Weiner AJ, et al. (1999) Analysis of a successful immune response against hepatitis C virus. Immunity 10: 439-449.
- 275. Gruner NH, Gerlach TJ, Jung MC, Diepolder HM, Schirren CA, et al. (2000) Association of hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells with viral clearance in acute hepatitis C. J Infect Dis 181: 1528-1536.
- 276. Thimme R, Bukh J, Spangenberg HC, Wieland S, Pemberton J, et al. (2002) Viral and immunological determinants of hepatitis C virus clearance, persistence, and disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 15661-15668.
- 277. Diepolder HM, Zachoval R, Hoffmann RM, Wierenga EA, Santantonio T, et al. (1995) Possible mechanism involving T-lymphocyte response to non-structural protein 3 in viral clearance in acute hepatitis C virus infection. Lancet 346: 1006-1007.
- 278. Gerlach JT, Diepolder HM, Jung MC, Gruener NH, Schraut WW, et al. (1999) Recurrence of hepatitis C virus after loss of virus-specific CD4(+) T-cell response in acute hepatitis C. Gastroenterology 117: 933-941.
- 279. Day CL, Lauer GM, Robbins GK, McGovern B, Wurcel AG, et al. (2002) Broad specificity of virus-specific CD4+ T-helper-cell responses in resolved hepatitis C virus infection. J Virol 76: 12584-12595.
- 280. Schulze zur Wiesch J, Lauer GM, Day CL, Kim AY, Ouchi K, et al. (2005) Broad repertoire of the CD4+ Th cell response in spontaneously controlled hepatitis C virus infection includes dominant and highly promiscuous epitopes. J Immunol 175: 3603-3613.
- 281. McKiernan SM, Hagan R, Curry M, McDonald GS, Kelly A, et al. (2004) Distinct MHC class I and II alleles are associated with hepatitis C viral clearance, originating from a single source. Hepatology 40: 108-114.
- 282. Lockshin RA, Williams CM (1965) Programmed Cell Death--I. Cytology of Degeneration in the Intersegmental Muscles of the Pernyi Silkmoth. J Insect Physiol 11: 123-133.
- 283. Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR (1972) Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wideranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer 26: 239-257.
- 284. Cho YS, Park SY, Shin HS, Chan FK (2010) Physiological consequences of programmed necrosis, an alternative form of cell demise. Mol Cells 29: 327-332.
- 285. Henriquez M, Armisen R, Stutzin A, Quest AF (2008) Cell death by necrosis, a regulated way to go. Curr Mol Med 8: 187-206.
- 286. Krammer PH, Arnold R, Lavrik IN (2007) Life and death in peripheral T cells. Nat Rev Immunol 7: 532-542.
- 287. Elmore S (2007) Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. Toxicol Pathol 35: 495-516.
- 288. Kerr JF, Winterford CM, Harmon BV (1994) Apoptosis. Its significance in cancer and cancer therapy. Cancer 73: 2013-2026.
- 289. Saraste A (1999) Morphologic criteria and detection of apoptosis. Herz 24: 189-195.
- 290. Tan ML, Ooi JP, Ismail N, Moad AI, Muhammad TS (2009) Programmed cell death pathways and current antitumor targets. Pharm Res 26: 1547-1560.

- 291. Enari M, Sakahira H, Yokoyama H, Okawa K, Iwamatsu A, et al. (1998) A caspase-activated DNase that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD. Nature 391: 43-50.
- 292. Fadok VA, Voelker DR, Campbell PA, Cohen JJ, Bratton DL, et al. (1992) Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the surface of apoptotic lymphocytes triggers specific recognition and removal by macrophages. J Immunol 148: 2207-2216.
- 293. Bratton DL, Fadok VA, Richter DA, Kailey JM, Guthrie LA, et al. (1997) Appearance of phosphatidylserine on apoptotic cells requires calcium-mediated nonspecific flip-flop and is enhanced by loss of the aminophospholipid translocase. J Biol Chem 272: 26159-26165.
- 294. Ravichandran KS (2010) Find-me and eat-me signals in apoptotic cell clearance: progress and conundrums. J Exp Med 207: 1807-1817.
- 295. Martin SJ, Reutelingsperger CP, McGahon AJ, Rader JA, van Schie RC, et al. (1995) Early redistribution of plasma membrane phosphatidylserine is a general feature of apoptosis regardless of the initiating stimulus: inhibition by overexpression of Bcl-2 and Abl. J Exp Med 182: 1545-1556.
- 296. Unsain N, Barker PA (2015) New Views on the Misconstrued: Executioner Caspases and Their Diverse Non-apoptotic Roles. Neuron 88: 461-474.
- 297. Yi CH, Yuan J (2009) The Jekyll and Hyde functions of caspases. Dev Cell 16: 21-34.
- 298. Sarvothaman S, Undi RB, Pasupuleti SR, Gutti U, Gutti RK (2015) Apoptosis: role in myeloid cell development. Blood Res 50: 73-79.
- 299. Ashkenazi A, Dixit VM (1998) Death receptors: signaling and modulation. Science 281: 1305-1308.
- 300. Peter ME, Krammer PH (1998) Mechanisms of CD95 (APO-1/Fas)-mediated apoptosis. Curr Opin Immunol 10: 545-551.
- 301. Wilson NS, Dixit V, Ashkenazi A (2009) Death receptor signal transducers: nodes of coordination in immune signaling networks. Nat Immunol 10: 348-355.
- 302. Locksley RM, Killeen N, Lenardo MJ (2001) The TNF and TNF receptor superfamilies: integrating mammalian biology. Cell 104: 487-501.
- 303. Schleich K, Krammer PH, Lavrik IN (2013) The chains of death: a new view on caspase-8 activation at the DISC. Cell Cycle 12: 193-194.
- 304. Vincenz C, Dixit VM (1997) Fas-associated death domain protein interleukin-1betaconverting enzyme 2 (FLICE2), an ICE/Ced-3 homologue, is proximally involved in CD95and p55-mediated death signaling. J Biol Chem 272: 6578-6583.
- 305. Wang J, Chun HJ, Wong W, Spencer DM, Lenardo MJ (2001) Caspase-10 is an initiator caspase in death receptor signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98: 13884-13888.
- 306. Lavrik IN, Krammer PH (2012) Regulation of CD95/Fas signaling at the DISC. Cell Death Differ 19: 36-41.
- 307. Lavrik I, Krueger A, Schmitz I, Baumann S, Weyd H, et al. (2003) The active caspase-8 heterotetramer is formed at the CD95 DISC. Cell Death Differ 10: 144-145.
- 308. Pobezinskaya YL, Choksi S, Morgan MJ, Cao X, Liu ZG (2011) The adaptor protein TRADD is essential for TNF-like ligand 1A/death receptor 3 signaling. J Immunol 186: 5212-5216.
- 309. Cabal-Hierro L, Lazo PS (2012) Signal transduction by tumor necrosis factor receptors. Cell Signal 24: 1297-1305.
- 310. Micheau O, Tschopp J (2003) Induction of TNF receptor I-mediated apoptosis via two sequential signaling complexes. Cell 114: 181-190.

- 311. Goltsev YV, Kovalenko AV, Arnold E, Varfolomeev EE, Brodianskii VM, et al. (1997) CASH, a novel caspase homologue with death effector domains. J Biol Chem 272: 19641-19644.
- 312. Hu S, Vincenz C, Ni J, Gentz R, Dixit VM (1997) I-FLICE, a novel inhibitor of tumor necrosis factor receptor-1- and CD-95-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 272: 17255-17257.
- 313. Chang L, Kamata H, Solinas G, Luo JL, Maeda S, et al. (2006) The E3 ubiquitin ligase itch couples JNK activation to TNFalpha-induced cell death by inducing c-FLIP(L) turnover. Cell 124: 601-613.
- 314. Karin M, Lin A (2002) NF-kappaB at the crossroads of life and death. Nat Immunol 3: 221-227.
- 315. Krammer PH (2000) CD95's deadly mission in the immune system. Nature 407: 789-795.
- 316. Ozoren N, El-Deiry WS (2002) Defining characteristics of Types I and II apoptotic cells in response to TRAIL. Neoplasia 4: 551-557.
- 317. Luo X, Budihardjo I, Zou H, Slaughter C, Wang X (1998) Bid, a Bcl2 interacting protein, mediates cytochrome c release from mitochondria in response to activation of cell surface death receptors. Cell 94: 481-490.
- 318. Green DR (2005) Apoptotic pathways: ten minutes to dead. Cell 121: 671-674.
- 319. Moldoveanu T, Follis AV, Kriwacki RW, Green DR (2014) Many players in BCL-2 family affairs. Trends Biochem Sci 39: 101-111.
- 320. Kang MH, Reynolds CP (2009) Bcl-2 inhibitors: targeting mitochondrial apoptotic pathways in cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res 15: 1126-1132.
- 321. Cory S, Huang DC, Adams JM (2003) The Bcl-2 family: roles in cell survival and oncogenesis. Oncogene 22: 8590-8607.
- 322. Reed JC, Pellecchia M (2005) Apoptosis-based therapies for hematologic malignancies. Blood 106: 408-418.
- 323. Willis SN, Adams JM (2005) Life in the balance: how BH3-only proteins induce apoptosis. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17: 617-625.
- 324. Eskes R, Desagher S, Antonsson B, Martinou JC (2000) Bid induces the oligomerization and insertion of Bax into the outer mitochondrial membrane. Mol Cell Biol 20: 929-935.
- 325. Gross A, Jockel J, Wei MC, Korsmeyer SJ (1998) Enforced dimerization of BAX results in its translocation, mitochondrial dysfunction and apoptosis. EMBO J 17: 3878-3885.
- 326. Wei MC, Lindsten T, Mootha VK, Weiler S, Gross A, et al. (2000) tBID, a membrane-targeted death ligand, oligomerizes BAK to release cytochrome c. Genes Dev 14: 2060-2071.
- 327. Griffiths GJ, Dubrez L, Morgan CP, Jones NA, Whitehouse J, et al. (1999) Cell damageinduced conformational changes of the pro-apoptotic protein Bak in vivo precede the onset of apoptosis. J Cell Biol 144: 903-914.
- 328. Letai A, Bassik MC, Walensky LD, Sorcinelli MD, Weiler S, et al. (2002) Distinct BH3 domains either sensitize or activate mitochondrial apoptosis, serving as prototype cancer therapeutics. Cancer Cell 2: 183-192.
- 329. Willis SN, Fletcher JI, Kaufmann T, van Delft MF, Chen L, et al. (2007) Apoptosis initiated when BH3 ligands engage multiple Bcl-2 homologs, not Bax or Bak. Science 315: 856-859.
- 330. Chen L, Willis SN, Wei A, Smith BJ, Fletcher JI, et al. (2005) Differential targeting of prosurvival Bcl-2 proteins by their BH3-only ligands allows complementary apoptotic function. Mol Cell 17: 393-403.

- 331. Willis SN, Chen L, Dewson G, Wei A, Naik E, et al. (2005) Proapoptotic Bak is sequestered by Mcl-1 and Bcl-xL, but not Bcl-2, until displaced by BH3-only proteins. Genes Dev 19: 1294-1305.
- 332. Uren RT, Dewson G, Chen L, Coyne SC, Huang DC, et al. (2007) Mitochondrial permeabilization relies on BH3 ligands engaging multiple prosurvival Bcl-2 relatives, not Bak. J Cell Biol 177: 277-287.
- 333. Riedl SJ, Salvesen GS (2007) The apoptosome: signalling platform of cell death. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8: 405-413.
- 334. Du C, Fang M, Li Y, Li L, Wang X (2000) Smac, a mitochondrial protein that promotes cytochrome c-dependent caspase activation by eliminating IAP inhibition. Cell 102: 33-42.
- 335. Deveraux QL, Takahashi R, Salvesen GS, Reed JC (1997) X-linked IAP is a direct inhibitor of cell-death proteases. Nature 388: 300-304.
- 336. Deveraux QL, Roy N, Stennicke HR, Van Arsdale T, Zhou Q, et al. (1998) IAPs block apoptotic events induced by caspase-8 and cytochrome c by direct inhibition of distinct caspases. EMBO J 17: 2215-2223.
- 337. Roy N, Deveraux QL, Takahashi R, Salvesen GS, Reed JC (1997) The c-IAP-1 and c-IAP-2 proteins are direct inhibitors of specific caspases. EMBO J 16: 6914-6925.
- 338. Suzuki Y, Imai Y, Nakayama H, Takahashi K, Takio K, et al. (2001) A serine protease, HtrA2, is released from the mitochondria and interacts with XIAP, inducing cell death. Mol Cell 8: 613-621.
- 339. Suzuki Y, Takahashi-Niki K, Akagi T, Hashikawa T, Takahashi R (2004) Mitochondrial protease Omi/HtrA2 enhances caspase activation through multiple pathways. Cell Death Differ 11: 208-216.
- 340. Lipton SA, Bossy-Wetzel E (2002) Dueling activities of AIF in cell death versus survival: DNA binding and redox activity. Cell 111: 147-150.
- 341. Li LY, Luo X, Wang X (2001) Endonuclease G is an apoptotic DNase when released from mitochondria. Nature 412: 95-99.
- 342. van Loo G, Schotte P, van Gurp M, Demol H, Hoorelbeke B, et al. (2001) Endonuclease G: a mitochondrial protein released in apoptosis and involved in caspase-independent DNA degradation. Cell Death Differ 8: 1136-1142.
- 343. Slee EA, Adrain C, Martin SJ (2001) Executioner caspase-3, -6, and -7 perform distinct, nonredundant roles during the demolition phase of apoptosis. J Biol Chem 276: 7320-7326.
- 344. Sakahira H, Enari M, Nagata S (1998) Cleavage of CAD inhibitor in CAD activation and DNA degradation during apoptosis. Nature 391: 96-99.
- 345. Kaufmann SH, Desnoyers S, Ottaviano Y, Davidson NE, Poirier GG (1993) Specific proteolytic cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase: an early marker of chemotherapy-induced apoptosis. Cancer Res 53: 3976-3985.
- 346. Kivinen K, Kallajoki M, Taimen P (2005) Caspase-3 is required in the apoptotic disintegration of the nuclear matrix. Exp Cell Res 311: 62-73.
- 347. Kivinen K, Taimen P, Kallajoki M (2010) Silencing of Nuclear Mitotic Apparatus protein (NuMA) accelerates the apoptotic disintegration of the nucleus. Apoptosis 15: 936-945.
- 348. Kothakota S, Azuma T, Reinhard C, Klippel A, Tang J, et al. (1997) Caspase-3-generated fragment of gelsolin: effector of morphological change in apoptosis. Science 278: 294-298.

- 349. Geng YJ, Azuma T, Tang JX, Hartwig JH, Muszynski M, et al. (1998) Caspase-3-induced gelsolin fragmentation contributes to actin cytoskeletal collapse, nucleolysis, and apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells exposed to proinflammatory cytokines. Eur J Cell Biol 77: 294-302.
- 350. Cookson BT, Brennan MA (2001) Pro-inflammatory programmed cell death. Trends Microbiol 9: 113-114.
- 351. Zychlinsky A, Prevost MC, Sansonetti PJ (1992) Shigella flexneri induces apoptosis in infected macrophages. Nature 358: 167-169.
- 352. Chen Y, Smith MR, Thirumalai K, Zychlinsky A (1996) A bacterial invasin induces macrophage apoptosis by binding directly to ICE. EMBO J 15: 3853-3860.
- 353. Hilbi H, Moss JE, Hersh D, Chen Y, Arondel J, et al. (1998) Shigella-induced apoptosis is dependent on caspase-1 which binds to IpaB. J Biol Chem 273: 32895-32900.
- 354. Hersh D, Monack DM, Smith MR, Ghori N, Falkow S, et al. (1999) The Salmonella invasin SipB induces macrophage apoptosis by binding to caspase-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 2396-2401.
- 355. Watson PR, Gautier AV, Paulin SM, Bland AP, Jones PW, et al. (2000) Salmonella enterica serovars Typhimurium and Dublin can lyse macrophages by a mechanism distinct from apoptosis. Infect Immun 68: 3744-3747.
- 356. Cervantes J, Nagata T, Uchijima M, Shibata K, Koide Y (2008) Intracytosolic Listeria monocytogenes induces cell death through caspase-1 activation in murine macrophages. Cell Microbiol 10: 41-52.
- 357. Mariathasan S, Weiss DS, Dixit VM, Monack DM (2005) Innate immunity against Francisella tularensis is dependent on the ASC/caspase-1 axis. J Exp Med 202: 1043-1049.
- 358. Bergsbaken T, Cookson BT (2007) Macrophage activation redirects yersinia-infected host cell death from apoptosis to caspase-1-dependent pyroptosis. PLoS Pathog 3: e161.
- 359. Bergsbaken T, Fink SL, Cookson BT (2009) Pyroptosis: host cell death and inflammation. Nat Rev Microbiol 7: 99-109.
- 360. Fink SL, Cookson BT (2006) Caspase-1-dependent pore formation during pyroptosis leads to osmotic lysis of infected host macrophages. Cell Microbiol 8: 1812-1825.
- 361. Brennan MA, Cookson BT (2000) Salmonella induces macrophage death by caspase-1dependent necrosis. Mol Microbiol 38: 31-40.
- 362. Lamkanfi M, Kanneganti TD, Van Damme P, Vanden Berghe T, Vanoverberghe I, et al. (2008) Targeted peptidecentric proteomics reveals caspase-7 as a substrate of the caspase-1 inflammasomes. Mol Cell Proteomics 7: 2350-2363.
- 363. Erener S, Petrilli V, Kassner I, Minotti R, Castillo R, et al. (2012) Inflammasome-activated caspase 7 cleaves PARP1 to enhance the expression of a subset of NF-kappaB target genes. Mol Cell 46: 200-211.
- 364. Margolin N, Raybuck SA, Wilson KP, Chen W, Fox T, et al. (1997) Substrate and inhibitor specificity of interleukin-1 beta-converting enzyme and related caspases. J Biol Chem 272: 7223-7228.
- 365. Malireddi RK, Ippagunta S, Lamkanfi M, Kanneganti TD (2010) Cutting edge: proteolytic inactivation of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 by the NIrp3 and NIrc4 inflammasomes. J Immunol 185: 3127-3130.
- 366. Miao EA, Alpuche-Aranda CM, Dors M, Clark AE, Bader MW, et al. (2006) Cytoplasmic flagellin activates caspase-1 and secretion of interleukin 1beta via Ipaf. Nat Immunol 7: 569-575.

- 367. Miao EA, Mao DP, Yudkovsky N, Bonneau R, Lorang CG, et al. (2010) Innate immune detection of the type III secretion apparatus through the NLRC4 inflammasome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107: 3076-3080.
- 368. Silveira TN, Zamboni DS (2010) Pore formation triggered by Legionella spp. is an NIrc4 inflammasome-dependent host cell response that precedes pyroptosis. Infect Immun 78: 1403-1413.
- 369. Boyden ED, Dietrich WF (2006) Nalp1b controls mouse macrophage susceptibility to anthrax lethal toxin. Nat Genet 38: 240-244.
- 370. Burckstummer T, Baumann C, Bluml S, Dixit E, Durnberger G, et al. (2009) An orthogonal proteomic-genomic screen identifies AIM2 as a cytoplasmic DNA sensor for the inflammasome. Nat Immunol 10: 266-272.
- 371. Fernandes-Alnemri T, Yu JW, Juliana C, Solorzano L, Kang S, et al. (2010) The AIM2 inflammasome is critical for innate immunity to Francisella tularensis. Nat Immunol 11: 385-393.
- 372. Sauer JD, Witte CE, Zemansky J, Hanson B, Lauer P, et al. (2010) Listeria monocytogenes triggers AIM2-mediated pyroptosis upon infrequent bacteriolysis in the macrophage cytosol. Cell Host Microbe 7: 412-419.
- 373. Schroder K, Tschopp J (2010) The inflammasomes. Cell 140: 821-832.
- 374. Masumoto J, Taniguchi S, Ayukawa K, Sarvotham H, Kishino T, et al. (1999) ASC, a novel 22kDa protein, aggregates during apoptosis of human promyelocytic leukemia HL-60 cells. J Biol Chem 274: 33835-33838.
- 375. Srinivasula SM, Poyet JL, Razmara M, Datta P, Zhang Z, et al. (2002) The PYRIN-CARD protein ASC is an activating adaptor for caspase-1. J Biol Chem 277: 21119-21122.
- 376. Martinon F, Burns K, Tschopp J (2002) The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-beta. Mol Cell 10: 417-426.
- 377. Poyet JL, Srinivasula SM, Tnani M, Razmara M, Fernandes-Alnemri T, et al. (2001) Identification of Ipaf, a human caspase-1-activating protein related to Apaf-1. J Biol Chem 276: 28309-28313.
- 378. Yamin TT, Ayala JM, Miller DK (1996) Activation of the native 45-kDa precursor form of interleukin-1-converting enzyme. J Biol Chem 271: 13273-13282.
- 379. Wilson KP, Black JA, Thomson JA, Kim EE, Griffith JP, et al. (1994) Structure and mechanism of interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. Nature 370: 270-275.
- 380. Shao W, Yeretssian G, Doiron K, Hussain SN, Saleh M (2007) The caspase-1 digestome identifies the glycolysis pathway as a target during infection and septic shock. J Biol Chem 282: 36321-36329.
- 381. Thornberry NA, Bull HG, Calaycay JR, Chapman KT, Howard AD, et al. (1992) A novel heterodimeric cysteine protease is required for interleukin-1 beta processing in monocytes. Nature 356: 768-774.
- 382. Arend WP, Palmer G, Gabay C (2008) IL-1, IL-18, and IL-33 families of cytokines. Immunol Rev 223: 20-38.
- 383. Sarkar A, Hall MW, Exline M, Hart J, Knatz N, et al. (2006) Caspase-1 regulates Escherichia coli sepsis and splenic B cell apoptosis independently of interleukin-1beta and interleukin-18. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 174: 1003-1010.
- 384. Jorgensen I, Miao EA (2015) Pyroptotic cell death defends against intracellular pathogens. Immunol Rev 265: 130-142.

- 385. Shi J, Zhao Y, Wang Y, Gao W, Ding J, et al. (2014) Inflammatory caspases are innate immune receptors for intracellular LPS. Nature 514: 187-192.
- 386. Vigano E, Diamond CE, Spreafico R, Balachander A, Sobota RM, et al. (2015) Human caspase-4 and caspase-5 regulate the one-step non-canonical inflammasome activation in monocytes. Nat Commun 6: 8761.
- 387. Das G, Shravage BV, Baehrecke EH (2012) Regulation and function of autophagy during cell survival and cell death. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 4.
- 388. Schweichel JU, Merker HJ (1973) The morphology of various types of cell death in prenatal tissues. Teratology 7: 253-266.
- 389. Baehrecke EH (2005) Autophagy: dual roles in life and death? Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6: 505-510.
- 390. Kroemer G, Levine B (2008) Autophagic cell death: the story of a misnomer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 9: 1004-1010.
- 391. Tait SW, Ichim G, Green DR (2014) Die another way--non-apoptotic mechanisms of cell death. J Cell Sci 127: 2135-2144.
- 392. Denton D, Shravage B, Simin R, Mills K, Berry DL, et al. (2009) Autophagy, not apoptosis, is essential for midgut cell death in Drosophila. Curr Biol 19: 1741-1746.
- 393. Berry DL, Baehrecke EH (2007) Growth arrest and autophagy are required for salivary gland cell degradation in Drosophila. Cell 131: 1137-1148.
- 394. Vandenabeele P, Galluzzi L, Vanden Berghe T, Kroemer G (2010) Molecular mechanisms of necroptosis: an ordered cellular explosion. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 11: 700-714.
- 395. Fayaz SM, Suvanish Kumar VS, Rajanikant GK (2014) Necroptosis: who knew there were so many interesting ways to die? CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 13: 42-51.
- 396. Leist M, Single B, Castoldi AF, Kuhnle S, Nicotera P (1997) Intracellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP) concentration: a switch in the decision between apoptosis and necrosis. J Exp Med 185: 1481-1486.
- 397. Zhang DW, Shao J, Lin J, Zhang N, Lu BJ, et al. (2009) RIP3, an energy metabolism regulator that switches TNF-induced cell death from apoptosis to necrosis. Science 325: 332-336.
- 398. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Vandenabeele P, Abrams J, Alnemri ES, et al. (2009) Classification of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2009. Cell Death Differ 16: 3-11.
- 399. Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, et al. (2012) Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. Cell 149: 1060-1072.
- 400. Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, et al. (2016) Ferroptosis: process and function. Cell Death Differ 23: 369-379.
- 401. Lorincz T, Jemnitz K, Kardon T, Mandl J, Szarka A (2015) Ferroptosis is Involved in Acetaminophen Induced Cell Death. Pathol Oncol Res 21: 1115-1121.
- 402. Dixon SJ, Patel DN, Welsch M, Skouta R, Lee ED, et al. (2014) Pharmacological inhibition of cystine-glutamate exchange induces endoplasmic reticulum stress and ferroptosis. Elife 3: e02523.
- 403. Calabrese F, Pontisso P, Pettenazzo E, Benvegnu L, Vario A, et al. (2000) Liver cell apoptosis in chronic hepatitis C correlates with histological but not biochemical activity or serum HCV-RNA levels. Hepatology 31: 1153-1159.
- 404. Bantel H, Lugering A, Poremba C, Lugering N, Held J, et al. (2001) Caspase activation correlates with the degree of inflammatory liver injury in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Hepatology 34: 758-767.

- 405. Yeganeh B, Rezaei Moghadam A, Alizadeh J, Wiechec E, Alavian SM, et al. (2015) Hepatitis B and C virus-induced hepatitis: Apoptosis, autophagy, and unfolded protein response. World J Gastroenterol 21: 13225-13239.
- 406. Simonin Y, Disson O, Lerat H, Antoine E, Biname F, et al. (2009) Calpain activation by hepatitis C virus proteins inhibits the extrinsic apoptotic signaling pathway. Hepatology 50: 1370-1379.
- 407. Benali-Furet NL, Chami M, Houel L, De Giorgi F, Vernejoul F, et al. (2005) Hepatitis C virus core triggers apoptosis in liver cells by inducing ER stress and ER calcium depletion. Oncogene 24: 4921-4933.
- 408. Lee SK, Park SO, Joe CO, Kim YS (2007) Interaction of HCV core protein with 14-3-3epsilon protein releases Bax to activate apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 352: 756-762.
- 409. Realdon S, Gerotto M, Dal Pero F, Marin O, Granato A, et al. (2004) Proapoptotic effect of hepatitis C virus CORE protein in transiently transfected cells is enhanced by nuclear localization and is dependent on PKR activation. J Hepatol 40: 77-85.
- 410. Mohd-Ismail NK, Deng L, Sukumaran SK, Yu VC, Hotta H, et al. (2009) The hepatitis C virus core protein contains a BH3 domain that regulates apoptosis through specific interaction with human Mcl-1. J Virol 83: 9993-10006.
- 411. Berg CP, Schlosser SF, Neukirchen DK, Papadakis C, Gregor M, et al. (2009) Hepatitis C virus core protein induces apoptosis-like caspase independent cell death. Virol J 6: 213.
- 412. Jahan S, Khaliq S, Siddiqi MH, Ijaz B, Ahmad W, et al. (2011) Anti-apoptotic effect of HCV core gene of genotype 3a in Huh-7 cell line. Virol J 8: 522.
- 413. Hara Y, Hino K, Okuda M, Furutani T, Hidaka I, et al. (2006) Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits deoxycholic acid-mediated apoptosis despite generating mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. J Gastroenterol 41: 257-268.
- 414. Ruggieri A, Harada T, Matsuura Y, Miyamura T (1997) Sensitization to Fas-mediated apoptosis by hepatitis C virus core protein. Virology 229: 68-76.
- 415. Zhu N, Khoshnan A, Schneider R, Matsumoto M, Dennert G, et al. (1998) Hepatitis C virus core protein binds to the cytoplasmic domain of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor 1 and enhances TNF-induced apoptosis. J Virol 72: 3691-3697.
- 416. Kang SM, Kim SJ, Kim JH, Lee W, Kim GW, et al. (2009) Interaction of hepatitis C virus core protein with Hsp60 triggers the production of reactive oxygen species and enhances TNF-alpha-mediated apoptosis. Cancer Lett 279: 230-237.
- 417. Chou AH, Tsai HF, Wu YY, Hu CY, Hwang LH, et al. (2005) Hepatitis C virus core protein modulates TRAIL-mediated apoptosis by enhancing Bid cleavage and activation of mitochondria apoptosis signaling pathway. J Immunol 174: 2160-2166.
- 418. Ray RB, Meyer K, Steele R, Shrivastava A, Aggarwal BB, et al. (1998) Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor (TNF-alpha)-mediated apoptosis by hepatitis C virus core protein. J Biol Chem 273: 2256-2259.
- 419. Saito K, Meyer K, Warner R, Basu A, Ray RB, et al. (2006) Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits tumor necrosis factor alpha-mediated apoptosis by a protective effect involving cellular FLICE inhibitory protein. J Virol 80: 4372-4379.
- 420. Ciccaglione AR, Marcantonio C, Tritarelli E, Equestre M, Magurano F, et al. (2004) The transmembrane domain of hepatitis C virus E1 glycoprotein induces cell death. Virus Res 104: 1-9.

- 421. Chiou HL, Hsieh YS, Hsieh MR, Chen TY (2006) HCV E2 may induce apoptosis of Huh-7 cells via a mitochondrial-related caspase pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 345: 453-458.
- 422. Lee SH, Kim YK, Kim CS, Seol SK, Kim J, et al. (2005) E2 of hepatitis C virus inhibits apoptosis. J Immunol 175: 8226-8235.
- 423. Lee SH, Song R, Lee MN, Kim CS, Lee H, et al. (2008) A molecular chaperone glucoseregulated protein 94 blocks apoptosis induced by virus infection. Hepatology 47: 854-866.
- 424. Aweya JJ, Mak TM, Lim SG, Tan YJ (2013) The p7 protein of the hepatitis C virus induces cell death differently from the influenza A virus viroporin M2. Virus Res 172: 24-34.
- 425. Erdtmann L, Franck N, Lerat H, Le Seyec J, Gilot D, et al. (2003) The hepatitis C virus NS2 protein is an inhibitor of CIDE-B-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 278: 18256-18264.
- 426. Inohara N, Koseki T, Chen S, Wu X, Nunez G (1998) CIDE, a novel family of cell death activators with homology to the 45 kDa subunit of the DNA fragmentation factor. EMBO J 17: 2526-2533.
- 427. Ye J, Li JZ, Liu Y, Li X, Yang T, et al. (2009) Cideb, an ER- and lipid droplet-associated protein, mediates VLDL lipidation and maturation by interacting with apolipoprotein B. Cell Metab 9: 177-190.
- 428. Prikhod'ko EA, Prikhod'ko GG, Siegel RM, Thompson P, Major ME, et al. (2004) The NS3 protein of hepatitis C virus induces caspase-8-mediated apoptosis independent of its protease or helicase activities. Virology 329: 53-67.
- 429. Tanaka M, Nagano-Fujii M, Deng L, Ishido S, Sada K, et al. (2006) Single-point mutations of hepatitis C virus NS3 that impair p53 interaction and anti-apoptotic activity of NS3. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 340: 792-799.
- 430. Takano T, Kohara M, Kasama Y, Nishimura T, Saito M, et al. (2011) Translocase of outer mitochondrial membrane 70 expression is induced by hepatitis C virus and is related to the apoptotic response. J Med Virol 83: 801-809.
- 431. Chou CH, Lee RS, Yang-Yen HF (2006) An internal EELD domain facilitates mitochondrial targeting of Mcl-1 via a Tom70-dependent pathway. Mol Biol Cell 17: 3952-3963.
- 432. Nomura-Takigawa Y, Nagano-Fujii M, Deng L, Kitazawa S, Ishido S, et al. (2006) Nonstructural protein 4A of Hepatitis C virus accumulates on mitochondria and renders the cells prone to undergoing mitochondria-mediated apoptosis. J Gen Virol 87: 1935-1945.
- 433. Zhao P, Han T, Guo JJ, Zhu SL, Wang J, et al. (2012) HCV NS4B induces apoptosis through the mitochondrial death pathway. Virus Res 169: 1-7.
- 434. Siavoshian S, Abraham JD, Thumann C, Kieny MP, Schuster C (2005) Hepatitis C virus core, NS3, NS5A, NS5B proteins induce apoptosis in mature dendritic cells. J Med Virol 75: 402-411.
- 435. Lan KH, Sheu ML, Hwang SJ, Yen SH, Chen SY, et al. (2002) HCV NS5A interacts with p53 and inhibits p53-mediated apoptosis. Oncogene 21: 4801-4811.
- 436. Street A, Macdonald A, Crowder K, Harris M (2004) The Hepatitis C virus NS5A protein activates a phosphoinositide 3-kinase-dependent survival signaling cascade. J Biol Chem 279: 12232-12241.
- 437. Downward J (2004) PI 3-kinase, Akt and cell survival. Semin Cell Dev Biol 15: 177-182.
- 438. Nanda SK, Herion D, Liang TJ (2006) The SH3 binding motif of HCV [corrected] NS5A protein interacts with Bin1 and is important for apoptosis and infectivity. Gastroenterology 130: 794-809.
- 439. Wang J, Tong W, Zhang X, Chen L, Yi Z, et al. (2006) Hepatitis C virus non-structural protein NS5A interacts with FKBP38 and inhibits apoptosis in Huh7 hepatoma cells. FEBS Lett 580: 4392-4400.
- 440. Shirane M, Nakayama KI (2003) Inherent calcineurin inhibitor FKBP38 targets Bcl-2 to mitochondria and inhibits apoptosis. Nat Cell Biol 5: 28-37.
- 441. Miyasaka Y, Enomoto N, Kurosaki M, Sakamoto N, Kanazawa N, et al. (2003) Hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A inhibits tumor necrosis factor-alpha-mediated apoptosis in Huh7 cells. J Infect Dis 188: 1537-1544.
- 442. Park J, Kang W, Ryu SW, Kim WI, Chang DY, et al. (2012) Hepatitis C virus infection enhances TNFalpha-induced cell death via suppression of NF-kappaB. Hepatology 56: 831-840.
- 443. Lamontagne J, Pinkerton M, Block TM, Lu X (2010) Hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus replication upregulates serine protease inhibitor Kazal, resulting in cellular resistance to serine protease-dependent apoptosis. J Virol 84: 907-917.
- 444. Deng Z, Yan H, Hu J, Zhang S, Peng P, et al. (2012) Hepatitis C virus sensitizes host cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis by up-regulating DR4 and DR5 via a MEK1-dependent pathway. PLoS One 7: e37700.
- 445. Machida K, Tsukiyama-Kohara K, Seike E, Tone S, Shibasaki F, et al. (2001) Inhibition of cytochrome c release in Fas-mediated signaling pathway in transgenic mice induced to express hepatitis C viral proteins. J Biol Chem 276: 12140-12146.
- 446. Disson O, Haouzi D, Desagher S, Loesch K, Hahne M, et al. (2004) Impaired clearance of virus-infected hepatocytes in transgenic mice expressing the hepatitis C virus polyprotein. Gastroenterology 126: 859-872.
- 447. Joyce MA, Walters KA, Lamb SE, Yeh MM, Zhu LF, et al. (2009) HCV induces oxidative and ER stress, and sensitizes infected cells to apoptosis in SCID/Alb-uPA mice. PLoS Pathog 5: e1000291.
- 448. Zhu H, Dong H, Eksioglu E, Hemming A, Cao M, et al. (2007) Hepatitis C virus triggers apoptosis of a newly developed hepatoma cell line through antiviral defense system. Gastroenterology 133: 1649-1659.
- 449. Mateu G, Donis RO, Wakita T, Bukh J, Grakoui A (2008) Intragenotypic JFH1 based recombinant hepatitis C virus produces high levels of infectious particles but causes increased cell death. Virology 376: 397-407.
- 450. Sekine-Osajima Y, Sakamoto N, Mishima K, Nakagawa M, Itsui Y, et al. (2008) Development of plaque assays for hepatitis C virus-JFH1 strain and isolation of mutants with enhanced cytopathogenicity and replication capacity. Virology 371: 71-85.
- 451. Zhong J, Gastaminza P, Cheng G, Kapadia S, Kato T, et al. (2005) Robust hepatitis C virus infection in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 9294-9299.
- 452. Mishima K, Sakamoto N, Sekine-Osajima Y, Nakagawa M, Itsui Y, et al. (2010) Cell culture and in vivo analyses of cytopathic hepatitis C virus mutants. Virology 405: 361-369.
- 453. Deng L, Adachi T, Kitayama K, Bungyoku Y, Kitazawa S, et al. (2008) Hepatitis C virus infection induces apoptosis through a Bax-triggered, mitochondrion-mediated, caspase 3-dependent pathway. J Virol 82: 10375-10385.
- 454. Deng L, Chen M, Tanaka M, Ku Y, Itoh T, et al. (2015) HCV upregulates Bim through the ROS/JNK signalling pathway, leading to Bax-mediated apoptosis. J Gen Virol 96: 2670-2683.

- 455. Walters KA, Syder AJ, Lederer SL, Diamond DL, Paeper B, et al. (2009) Genomic analysis reveals a potential role for cell cycle perturbation in HCV-mediated apoptosis of cultured hepatocytes. PLoS Pathog 5: e1000269.
- 456. Kannan RP, Hensley LL, Evers LE, Lemon SM, McGivern DR (2011) Hepatitis C virus infection causes cell cycle arrest at the level of initiation of mitosis. J Virol 85: 7989-8001.
- 457. Lan L, Gorke S, Rau SJ, Zeisel MB, Hildt E, et al. (2008) Hepatitis C virus infection sensitizes human hepatocytes to TRAIL-induced apoptosis in a caspase 9-dependent manner. J Immunol 181: 4926-4935.
- 458. Liu Z, Tian Y, Machida K, Lai MM, Luo G, et al. (2012) Transient activation of the PI3K-AKT pathway by hepatitis C virus to enhance viral entry. J Biol Chem 287: 41922-41930.
- 459. Kim SJ, Syed GH, Khan M, Chiu WW, Sohail MA, et al. (2014) Hepatitis C virus triggers mitochondrial fission and attenuates apoptosis to promote viral persistence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111: 6413-6418.
- 460. Mattos AA, Marcon Pdos S, Araujo FS, Coral GP, Tovo CV (2015) Hepatocellular Carcinoma in a Non-Cirrhotic Patient with Sustained Virological Response after Hepatitis C Treatment. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo 57: 519-522.
- 461. Llovet JM, Villanueva A (2016) Liver cancer: Effect of HCV clearance with direct-acting antiviral agents on HCC. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 13: 561-562.
- 462. Schuppan D, Afdhal NH (2008) Liver cirrhosis. Lancet 371: 838-851.
- 463. Ramachandran P, Iredale JP (2012) Liver fibrosis: a bidirectional model of fibrogenesis and resolution. QJM 105: 813-817.
- 464. Flores A, Marrero JA (2014) Emerging trends in hepatocellular carcinoma: focus on diagnosis and therapeutics. Clin Med Insights Oncol 8: 71-76.
- 465. Lee YA, Wallace MC, Friedman SL (2015) Pathobiology of liver fibrosis: a translational success story. Gut 64: 830-841.
- 466. Iredale JP (2007) Models of liver fibrosis: exploring the dynamic nature of inflammation and repair in a solid organ. J Clin Invest 117: 539-548.
- 467. Canbay A, Taimr P, Torok N, Higuchi H, Friedman S, et al. (2003) Apoptotic body engulfment by a human stellate cell line is profibrogenic. Lab Invest 83: 655-663.
- 468. Fadok VA, Bratton DL, Konowal A, Freed PW, Westcott JY, et al. (1998) Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J Clin Invest 101: 890-898.
- 469. Szondy Z, Sarang Z, Molnar P, Nemeth T, Piacentini M, et al. (2003) Transglutaminase 2-/mice reveal a phagocytosis-associated crosstalk between macrophages and apoptotic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 7812-7817.
- 470. Qi Z, Atsuchi N, Ooshima A, Takeshita A, Ueno H (1999) Blockade of type beta transforming growth factor signaling prevents liver fibrosis and dysfunction in the rat. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 2345-2349.
- 471. Ling H, Roux E, Hempel D, Tao J, Smith M, et al. (2013) Transforming growth factor beta neutralization ameliorates pre-existing hepatic fibrosis and reduces cholangiocarcinoma in thioacetamide-treated rats. PLoS One 8: e54499.
- 472. Morrison CD, Parvani JG, Schiemann WP (2013) The relevance of the TGF-beta Paradox to EMT-MET programs. Cancer Lett 341: 30-40.
- 473. Kalluri R, Neilson EG (2003) Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and its implications for fibrosis. J Clin Invest 112: 1776-1784.

- 474. Nitta T, Kim JS, Mohuczy D, Behrns KE (2008) Murine cirrhosis induces hepatocyte epithelial mesenchymal transition and alterations in survival signaling pathways. Hepatology 48: 909-919.
- 475. Zeisberg M, Yang C, Martino M, Duncan MB, Rieder F, et al. (2007) Fibroblasts derive from hepatocytes in liver fibrosis via epithelial to mesenchymal transition. J Biol Chem 282: 23337-23347.
- 476. Taura K, Miura K, Iwaisako K, Osterreicher CH, Kodama Y, et al. (2010) Hepatocytes do not undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition in liver fibrosis in mice. Hepatology 51: 1027-1036.
- 477. Shlomai A, de Jong YP, Rice CM (2014) Virus associated malignancies: the role of viral hepatitis in hepatocellular carcinoma. Semin Cancer Biol 26: 78-88.
- 478. El-Serag HB (2011) Hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med 365: 1118-1127.
- 479. Mitchell JK, Lemon SM, McGivern DR (2015) How do persistent infections with hepatitis C virus cause liver cancer? Curr Opin Virol 14: 101-108.
- 480. Malliri A, Yeudall WA, Nikolic M, Crouch DH, Parkinson EK, et al. (1996) Sensitivity to transforming growth factor beta 1-induced growth arrest is common in human squamous cell carcinoma cell lines: c-MYC down-regulation and p21waf1 induction are important early events. Cell Growth Differ 7: 1291-1304.
- 481. Mikula M, Proell V, Fischer AN, Mikulits W (2006) Activated hepatic stellate cells induce tumor progression of neoplastic hepatocytes in a TGF-beta dependent fashion. J Cell Physiol 209: 560-567.
- 482. Kubes P, Mehal WZ (2012) Sterile inflammation in the liver. Gastroenterology 143: 1158-1172.
- 483. Bartsch H, Nair J (2006) Chronic inflammation and oxidative stress in the genesis and perpetuation of cancer: role of lipid peroxidation, DNA damage, and repair. Langenbecks Arch Surg 391: 499-510.
- 484. Luedde T, Schwabe RF (2011) NF-kappaB in the liver--linking injury, fibrosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 8: 108-118.
- 485. Ishiguro S, Inoue M, Tanaka Y, Mizokami M, Iwasaki M, et al. (2009) Serum aminotransferase level and the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma: a population-based cohort study in Japan. Eur J Cancer Prev 18: 26-32.
- 486. Kumada T, Toyoda H, Kiriyama S, Sone Y, Tanikawa M, et al. (2009) Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in hepatitis C carriers with normal alanine aminotransferase levels. J Hepatol 50: 729-735.
- 487. Cohen-Naftaly M, Friedman SL (2011) Current status of novel antifibrotic therapies in patients with chronic liver disease. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 4: 391-417.
- 488. Czaja AJ (2014) Hepatic inflammation and progressive liver fibrosis in chronic liver disease. World J Gastroenterol 20: 2515-2532.
- 489. Garg H, Blumenthal R (2006) HIV gp41-induced apoptosis is mediated by caspase-3dependent mitochondrial depolarization, which is inhibited by HIV protease inhibitor nelfinavir. J Leukoc Biol 79: 351-362.
- 490. Garg H, Blumenthal R (2008) Role of HIV Gp41 mediated fusion/hemifusion in bystander apoptosis. Cell Mol Life Sci 65: 3134-3144.
- 491. Doitsh G, Galloway NL, Geng X, Yang Z, Monroe KM, et al. (2014) Cell death by pyroptosis drives CD4 T-cell depletion in HIV-1 infection. Nature 505: 509-514.

- 492. Tan TY, Chu JJ (2013) Dengue virus-infected human monocytes trigger late activation of caspase-1, which mediates pro-inflammatory IL-1beta secretion and pyroptosis. J Gen Virol 94: 2215-2220.
- 493. Wree A, Eguchi A, McGeough MD, Pena CA, Johnson CD, et al. (2014) NLRP3 inflammasome activation results in hepatocyte pyroptosis, liver inflammation, and fibrosis in mice. Hepatology 59: 898-910.
- 494. Jones DM, Atoom AM, Zhang X, Kottilil S, Russell RS (2011) A genetic interaction between the core and NS3 proteins of hepatitis C virus is essential for production of infectious virus. J Virol 85: 12351-12361.
- 495. Riccardi C, Nicoletti I (2006) Analysis of apoptosis by propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry. Nat Protoc 1: 1458-1461.
- 496. Gong J, Traganos F, Darzynkiewicz Z (1994) A selective procedure for DNA extraction from apoptotic cells applicable for gel electrophoresis and flow cytometry. Anal Biochem 218: 314-319.
- 497. Lyons AB, Parish CR (1994) Determination of lymphocyte division by flow cytometry. J Immunol Methods 171: 131-137.
- 498. Sellins KS, Cohen JJ (1987) Gene induction by gamma-irradiation leads to DNA fragmentation in lymphocytes. J Immunol 139: 3199-3206.
- 499. Bortner CD, Oldenburg NB, Cidlowski JA (1995) The role of DNA fragmentation in apoptosis. Trends Cell Biol 5: 21-26.
- 500. Huerta S, Goulet EJ, Huerta-Yepez S, Livingston EH (2007) Screening and detection of apoptosis. J Surg Res 139: 143-156.
- 501. Bigger JE, Tanigawa M, Zhang M, Atherton SS (2000) Murine cytomegalovirus infection causes apoptosis of uninfected retinal cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 41: 2248-2254.
- 502. Mo J, Marshall B, Covar J, Zhang NY, Smith SB, et al. (2014) Role of Bax in death of uninfected retinal cells during murine cytomegalovirus retinitis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 55: 7137-7146.
- 503. Garg H, Mohl J, Joshi A (2012) HIV-1 induced bystander apoptosis. Viruses 4: 3020-3043.
- 504. Geisbert TW, Hensley LE, Gibb TR, Steele KE, Jaax NK, et al. (2000) Apoptosis induced in vitro and in vivo during infection by Ebola and Marburg viruses. Lab Invest 80: 171-186.
- 505. Geisbert TW, Hensley LE, Larsen T, Young HA, Reed DS, et al. (2003) Pathogenesis of Ebola hemorrhagic fever in cynomolgus macaques: evidence that dendritic cells are early and sustained targets of infection. Am J Pathol 163: 2347-2370.
- 506. Rayamajhi M, Zhang Y, Miao EA (2013) Detection of pyroptosis by measuring released lactate dehydrogenase activity. Methods Mol Biol 1040: 85-90.
- 507. Chan FK, Moriwaki K, De Rosa MJ (2013) Detection of necrosis by release of lactate dehydrogenase activity. Methods Mol Biol 979: 65-70.
- 508. Silva MT (2010) Secondary necrosis: the natural outcome of the complete apoptotic program. FEBS Lett 584: 4491-4499.
- 509. Shrivastava S, Mukherjee A, Ray R, Ray RB (2013) Hepatitis C virus induces interleukin-1beta (IL-1beta)/IL-18 in circulatory and resident liver macrophages. J Virol 87: 12284-12290.
- 510. Negash AA, Ramos HJ, Crochet N, Lau DT, Doehle B, et al. (2013) IL-1beta production through the NLRP3 inflammasome by hepatic macrophages links hepatitis C virus infection with liver inflammation and disease. PLoS Pathog 9: e1003330.

- 511. Coll RC, Robertson AA, Chae JJ, Higgins SC, Munoz-Planillo R, et al. (2015) A small-molecule inhibitor of the NLRP3 inflammasome for the treatment of inflammatory diseases. Nat Med 21: 248-255.
- 512. Zhan SS, Jiang JX, Wu J, Halsted C, Friedman SL, et al. (2006) Phagocytosis of apoptotic bodies by hepatic stellate cells induces NADPH oxidase and is associated with liver fibrosis in vivo. Hepatology 43: 435-443.
- 513. Marshall A, Rushbrook S, Davies SE, Morris LS, Scott IS, et al. (2005) Relation between hepatocyte G1 arrest, impaired hepatic regeneration, and fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Gastroenterology 128: 33-42.
- 514. Sarfraz S, Hamid S, Siddiqui A, Hussain S, Pervez S, et al. (2008) Altered expression of cell cycle and apoptotic proteins in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. BMC Microbiol 8: 133.
- 515. Zhou X, Gordon SA, Kim YM, Hoffman RA, Chen Y, et al. (2000) Nitric oxide induces thymocyte apoptosis via a caspase-1-dependent mechanism. J Immunol 165: 1252-1258.
- 516. Slee EA, Harte MT, Kluck RM, Wolf BB, Casiano CA, et al. (1999) Ordering the cytochrome cinitiated caspase cascade: hierarchical activation of caspases-2, -3, -6, -7, -8, and -10 in a caspase-9-dependent manner. J Cell Biol 144: 281-292.
- 517. Monnier PP, D'Onofrio PM, Magharious M, Hollander AC, Tassew N, et al. (2011) Involvement of caspase-6 and caspase-8 in neuronal apoptosis and the regenerative failure of injured retinal ganglion cells. J Neurosci 31: 10494-10505.
- 518. Liang Y, Shilagard T, Xiao SY, Snyder N, Lau D, et al. (2009) Visualizing hepatitis C virus infections in human liver by two-photon microscopy. Gastroenterology 137: 1448-1458.
- 519. Ruggieri A, Murdolo M, Rapicetta M (2003) Induction of FAS ligand expression in a human hepatoblastoma cell line by HCV core protein. Virus Res 97: 103-110.
- 520. Iken K, Huang L, Bekele H, Schmidt EV, Koziel MJ (2006) Apoptosis of activated CD4+ and CD8+ T cells is enhanced by co-culture with hepatocytes expressing hepatitis C virus (HCV) structural proteins through FasL induction. Virology 346: 363-372.
- 521. Galle PR, Hofmann WJ, Walczak H, Schaller H, Otto G, et al. (1995) Involvement of the CD95 (APO-1/Fas) receptor and ligand in liver damage. J Exp Med 182: 1223-1230.
- 522. Ogawa K, Yasumura S, Atarashi Y, Minemura M, Miyazaki T, et al. (2004) Sodium butyrate enhances Fas-mediated apoptosis of human hepatoma cells. J Hepatol 40: 278-284.
- 523. Mori E, Thomas M, Motoki K, Nakazawa K, Tahara T, et al. (2004) Human normal hepatocytes are susceptible to apoptosis signal mediated by both TRAIL-R1 and TRAIL-R2. Cell Death Differ 11: 203-207.
- 524. Jo M, Kim TH, Seol DW, Esplen JE, Dorko K, et al. (2000) Apoptosis induced in normal human hepatocytes by tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. Nat Med 6: 564-567.
- 525. Winwood PJ, Arthur MJ (1993) Kupffer cells: their activation and role in animal models of liver injury and human liver disease. Semin Liver Dis 13: 50-59.
- 526. Kasprzak A, Zabel M, Biczysko W, Wysocki J, Adamek A, et al. (2004) Expression of cytokines (TNF-alpha, IL-1alpha, and IL-2) in chronic hepatitis C: comparative hybridocytochemical and immunocytochemical study in children and adult patients. J Histochem Cytochem 52: 29-38.
- 527. Hassan M, Selimovic D, Ghozlan H, Abdel-Kader O (2007) Induction of high-molecularweight (HMW) tumor necrosis factor(TNF) alpha by hepatitis C virus (HCV) non-structural protein 3 (NS3) in liver cells is AP-1 and NF-kappaB-dependent activation. Cell Signal 19: 301-311.

- 528. Kresse M, Latta M, Kunstle G, Riehle HM, van Rooijen N, et al. (2005) Kupffer cell-expressed membrane-bound TNF mediates melphalan hepatotoxicity via activation of both TNF receptors. J Immunol 175: 4076-4083.
- 529. Tang W, Wang W, Zhang Y, Liu S, Liu Y, et al. (2009) Tumour necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)-induced chemokine release in both TRAIL-resistant and TRAIL-sensitive cells via nuclear factor kappa B. FEBS J 276: 581-593.
- 530. Ranjan K, Surolia A, Pathak C (2012) Apoptotic potential of Fas-associated death domain on regulation of cell death regulatory protein cFLIP and death receptor mediated apoptosis in HEK 293T cells. J Cell Commun Signal 6: 155-168.
- 531. van de Veerdonk FL, Netea MG, Dinarello CA, Joosten LA (2011) Inflammasome activation and IL-1beta and IL-18 processing during infection. Trends Immunol 32: 110-116.
- 532. Chen W, Xu Y, Li H, Tao W, Xiang Y, et al. (2014) HCV genomic RNA activates the NLRP3 inflammasome in human myeloid cells. PLoS One 9: e84953.
- 533. Burdette D, Haskett A, Presser L, McRae S, Iqbal J, et al. (2012) Hepatitis C virus activates interleukin-1beta via caspase-1-inflammasome complex. J Gen Virol 93: 235-246.
- 534. Lupfer C, Kanneganti TD (2013) The expanding role of NLRs in antiviral immunity. Immunol Rev 255: 13-24.
- 535. Cox AL, Siliciano RF (2014) HIV: Not-so-innocent bystanders. Nature 505: 492-493.
- 536. Chen GY, Nunez G (2010) Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. Nat Rev Immunol 10: 826-837.
- 537. Geng Y, Ma Q, Liu YN, Peng N, Yuan FF, et al. (2015) Heatstroke induces liver injury via IL-1beta and HMGB1-induced pyroptosis. J Hepatol 63: 622-633.
- 538. Monroe KM, Yang Z, Johnson JR, Geng X, Doitsh G, et al. (2014) IFI16 DNA sensor is required for death of lymphoid CD4 T cells abortively infected with HIV. Science 343: 428-432.
- 539. Antonopoulos C, Russo HM, El Sanadi C, Martin BN, Li X, et al. (2015) Caspase-8 as an Effector and Regulator of NLRP3 Inflammasome Signaling. J Biol Chem 290: 20167-20184.
- 540. Sagulenko V, Thygesen SJ, Sester DP, Idris A, Cridland JA, et al. (2013) AIM2 and NLRP3 inflammasomes activate both apoptotic and pyroptotic death pathways via ASC. Cell Death Differ 20: 1149-1160.
- 541. Chung H, Vilaysane A, Lau A, Stahl M, Morampudi V, et al. (2016) NLRP3 regulates a noncanonical platform for caspase-8 activation during epithelial cell apoptosis. Cell Death Differ.
- 542. Vajjhala PR, Lu A, Brown DL, Pang SW, Sagulenko V, et al. (2015) The Inflammasome Adaptor ASC Induces Procaspase-8 Death Effector Domain Filaments. J Biol Chem 290: 29217-29230.
- 543. Chen M, Xing Y, Lu A, Fang W, Sun B, et al. (2015) Internalized Cryptococcus neoformans Activates the Canonical Caspase-1 and the Noncanonical Caspase-8 Inflammasomes. J Immunol 195: 4962-4972.
- 544. Lebeaupin C, Proics E, de Bieville CH, Rousseau D, Bonnafous S, et al. (2015) ER stress induces NLRP3 inflammasome activation and hepatocyte death. Cell Death Dis 6: e1879.
- 545. Upton JW, Chan FK (2014) Staying alive: cell death in antiviral immunity. Mol Cell 54: 273-280.
- 546. Vandewynckel YP, Laukens D, Devisscher L, Paridaens A, Bogaerts E, et al. (2015) Tauroursodeoxycholic acid dampens oncogenic apoptosis induced by endoplasmic reticulum stress during hepatocarcinogen exposure. Oncotarget 6: 28011-28025.

547. Heid ME, Keyel PA, Kamga C, Shiva S, Watkins SC, et al. (2013) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species induces NLRP3-dependent lysosomal damage and inflammasome activation. J Immunol 191: 5230-5238.